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Important  Notice  Regarding  Acceptance  of  Notices 
For  Publication  in  the  Weekly  ,Gazette,

Attention is drawn to the Notification appearing in the 1st week of every month, regarding the latest dates and times of acceptance of Notices 
for publication in the weekly Gazettes, at the end of every weekly Gazette of Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka.

All notices to be published in the weekly Gazettes shall close at 12.00 noon of each Friday, two weeks before the date of publication. 
All Government Departments, corporations, Boards, etc. are hereby advised that Notifications fixing closing dates and times of applications in 
respect of Post-Vacancies, Examinations, Tender Notices and dates and times of Auction Sales, etc. should be prepared by giving adequate time 
both from the date of despatch of notices to Govt. Press and from the date of publication, thereby enabling those interested in the contents of such 
notices to actively and positively participate please note that inquiries and complaints made in respect of corrections pertaining to notification will 
not be entertained after three months from the date of publication.

All Notices to be published in the weekly Gazette should reach Government Press two weeks before the date of publication i.e. Notices 
for publication in the weekly Gazette of 30th December, 2022 should reach Government Press on or before 12.00 noon on 16th December, 2022.

Electronic Transactions Act, No. 19 of  2006 - Section 9
,Where any Act or enactment provides that any proclamation, rule, regulation, order, by-law, notification or other matter shall be 

published in the Gazette, then such requirement shall be deemed to have been satisfied if such rule, regulation, order, by-law, notification or other 
matter is published in an electronic form of the Gazette.,

	 Gangani Liyanage,
	 Government Printer.

Department of Govt. Printing, 
Colombo 08,
01st January, 2022.

  This Gazette can be downloaded from www.documents.gov.lk
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No. 838 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/PRO/MAJ GEN/22 (07-08).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Promotions, Relinquishment of Appointments and 
New Appointments approved by the President

promotions

1. The President has approved the promotion of the 
undermentioned Senior Officers to the rank of Temporary 
Major General with effect from the dates mentioned below:

	 (a)	 With effect from 20th August, 2022:

Brigadier R A D S Shantha Ranaweera, RWP RSP 
USP psc (O/61886);

	 (b)	 With effect from 10th October, 2022:

	 1.	 Brigadier S. Kasturimudali, RSP psc (O/61529);

	 2.	 Brigadier J A R S K Jayasekara, USP psc 
(O/61530);

	 3.	 Brigadier S J Priyadarshana, RWP RSP USP 
(O/61531);

	 4.	 Brigadier J M R N K Jayamanna, RWP (O/61560);

	 5.	 Brigadier R A J N Ranasinghe, RSP USP 
(O/61564);

Relinqusidhment of Appointments and New 
Appointments.

2. The President has approved the relinquishment of 
appointments and new appointments of the undermentioned 
Senior Officers with effect from the dates mentioned below:

	 (a)	 With effect from 20th August, 2022:

Brigadier (Temporary Major General) R A D S Shantha 
Ranaweera, RWP RSP USP psc (O/61886). To relinquish 
the appointment of Commander, 581 Infantry Brigade 
and to be appointed as Quarter Master General, Army 
Headquarters;

	 (b)	 With effect from 10th October, 2022:

(1) Brigadier (Temporary Major General)  
S. Kasturimudali, RSP psc (O/61529). To relinquish the 
appointment of Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre 
Gajaba Ragiment and to be appointed as Commander, 
Forward Maintenance Area (North);

(2) Brigadier (Temporary Major General)  
J A R S K Jayasekara, USP psc (O/61530). To relinquish the 
appointment of Brigadier (Administration & Quartering), 
Security Force Headquarters (Mullaitivu) and to be 
appointed as Quarter Master General, Army Headquarters;

(3) Brigadier (Temporary Major General)  
S J Priyadarshana, RWP  RSP  USP (O/61531). To 
relinquish the appointment of Centre Commandant, 
Regimental Centre Vijayabahu Infantry Regiment and to be 
appointed as Army Training Command;

(4) Brigadier (Temporary Major General)  
J M R N K Jayamanna, RWP (O/61560). To relinquish the 
appointment of Director Veterans Affairs and to be appointed 
as General Officer Commanding, 52 Infantry Division;

(5) Brigadier (Temporary Major General)  
R A J N Ranasinghe, RSP USP (O/61564). To relinquish 
the appointment of Commandant, Language Training 
School and to be appointed as Commander, Security Force 
Headquarters (East).

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

12th September, 2022.

12-239/1

No. 839 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/PRO/BRIG/22 (03).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Promotions, Relinquishment of Appointments and 
New Appointments approved by the President

promotions

1. The President has approved the promotion of the 
undermentioned Senior Officers to the rank of Temporary 
Brigadier with effect from 10th October, 2022:

Appointments & c., by the President
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	 (a)	 Colonel L K I G Lokukatagoda, RWP RSP (O/61999). 
(Battle Casualty Category 3 Supernumerary 
Basis).

	 (b)	 Colonel C Kalutharaarachchi, (O/62519);

	 (c)	 Colonel P Vithanage, (O/62530);

	 (d)	 Colonel B R A Jayarathna, USP ato (O/62708);

	 (e)	 Colonel R D Sallay (O/62229);

	 (f)	 Colonel H A M Premaratne, psc Lsc (O/62227);

	 (g)	 Colonel G C V Fernando, (O/62486);

	 (h)	 Colonel G D S M Alwis, RWP RSP (O/62479);

	 (i)	 Colonel K M C S Kumarasinghe, (O/62680);

	 (j)	 Colonel G J N W Fernando, USP USACGSC IG 
(O/62908);

	 (k)	 Colonel H M G E Herath, RSP USP psc (O/62910);

	 (l)	 Colonel W B M K G K Weerasekara, WWV RWP 
RSP USP psc (O/62912);

	 (m)	 Colonel S P Wickramasekera, RWP RSP USP psc 
(O/62913);

	 (n)	 Colonel P S J D Samarasekara, RSP USP psc 
(O/62576);

	 (o)	 Colonel M R Razick, RSP (O/62579);

	 (p)	 Colonel T T P Siriwardene, RSP psc Isc (O/62582);

	 (q)	 Colonel A G S M Perera, RWP RSP USP (O/62585);

	 (r)	 Colonel T C Harasgama, RSP (O/62587);

	 (s)	 Colonel S A U A Solangaarachchi, RSP psc 
(O/62588);

	 (t)	 Colonel A P C R Prematilaka, RSP USP (O/62594);

	 (u)	 Colonel J M A Jayasekera, RSP USP (O/62595);

	 (v)	 Colonel R P S Prasad, RWP RSP USP (O/62596);

	 (w)	 Colonel A A D P Kulathilaka, USP psc (O/62598);

relinquishment of appointments 
and new appointments

2. The President has approved the relinquishment of 
appointments and new appointments of the undermentioned 
Senior Officers with effect from 10th October, 2022:

	 (a)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) C  Kalutharaarachchi, 
(O/62519) To relinquish the appointment of Colonel 
(Administration & Quartering), Headquarters 24 
Infantry Division and to be appointed as Brigadier 
(Administration & Quartering), Headquarters Sri 
Lanka Army Volunteer Force;

	 (b)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) P Vithanage, 
(O/62530). To relinquish the appointment of Colonel 
(Administration & Quartering), Headquarters 64 
Infantry Division and to be appointed as Brigadier 
(Administration & Quartering), Security Force 
Headquarters (Mullaitivu);

	 (c)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) B R A Jayarathna, 
USP ato (O/62708). To relinquish the appointment of 
Deputy Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre Sri 
Lanka Corps of Military Police and to be appointed 
as Brigadier (Administration & Quartering), Security 
Force Headquarters (Central);

	 (d)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) R D Sallay (O/62229). 
To relinquish the appointment of Commandant, Sri 
Lanka Corps of Military Police (Trade School) and to 
be appointed as Brigadier (Ordnance), Master General 
Ordnance Branch, Army Headquarters;

	 (e)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) H A M Premaratne, 
psc Lsc (O/62227). To relinquish the appointment of 
Commandant, Sri Lanka Army Ordnance Corps (Trade 
School) and to be appointed as Director, Supply and 
Transport, Army Headquarters;

	 (f)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) G C V Fernando, 
(O/62486). To relinquish the appointment of Deputy 
Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre Sri Lanka 
Signal Corps and to be appointed as Director, Human 
Rights and Humanitarian Law, Army Headquarters;

	 (g)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) G D S M Alwis, 
RWP RSP (O/62479). To relinquish the appointment 
of Colonel (General Staff), Headquarters 21 Infantry 
Division and to be appointed as Assistant Military 
Secretary, Military Secretary’s Branch, Army 
Headquarters;

	 (h)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) K M C S 
Kumarasinghe, (O/62680). To relinquish the 
appointment of Colonel (Coordinating), Officer 
of Chief Signals Officer, Army Headquarters and 
to be appointed as Director Staff Duties, Army 
Headquarters;
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	 (i)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) G J N W Fernando, 
USP USACGSC IG (O/62908). To relinquish the 
appointement of Colonel (Coordinating), Officer of 
the Chief of Defence Staff and to be appointed as 
Commander, 522 Infantry Brigade;

	 (j)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) H M G E Herath, RSP 
USP psc (O/62910). To relinquish the appointment 
of Colonel (Communications) (Electronic Warfare), 
Security Force Headquarters (Kilinochchi) and to be 
appointed as Commander, 543 Infantry Brigade;

	 (k)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) W B M K G K 
Weerasekara, WWV RWP RSP USP psc (O/62912). 
To relinquish the appointment of Deputy Centre 
Commandant, Regimental Centre Special Forces and 
to be appointed as Commander, 581 Infantry Brigade;

	 (l)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) S P Wickramasekera, 
RWP RSP USP psc (O/62913). To relinquish the 
appointement of Colonel (Military Secretary), 
Military Secretary’s Branch, Army Headquarters and 
to be appointed as Commander, 682 Infantry Brigade;

	 (m)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) P S J D Samarasekara, 
RSP  USP psc (O/62576). To relinquish the 
appointment of Colonel (Coodinating) Engineer, 
Security Force Headquarter (Mullaittivu) and to be 
appointed as Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre 
Commando Regiment;

	 (n)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) M R Razick, RSP 
(O/62579). To relinquish the appointment of Colonel 
(General Staff), Headquarters 54 Infantry Division 
and to be appointed as Brigadier (General Staff), 
Security Force Headquarter (West);

	 (o)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) T T P Siriwardene, 
RSP psc Isc (O/62582). To relinquish the appointment 
of Deputy Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre 
Military Intelligence Corps and to be appointed as 
Director Veterans Affair, Army Headquarters;

	 (p)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) A G S M Perera, RWP 
RSP USP (O/62585). To relinquish the appointment 
of Colonel (Communications) (Electronic Warfare), 
Security Force Headquarters (West) and to be 
appointed as Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre 
Gajaba Regiment;

	 (q)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) T C Harasgama, RSP 
(O/62587). To relinquish the appointment of Chief 
Coordinator (Technical & Material), Headquarters 
Centre for Research and Development (Sri Lanka 
Signal Corps) and to be appointed as Centre 
Commandant, Regimental Centre Vijayabahu Infantry 
Regiment;

	 (r)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) S A U A 
Solangaarachchi, RSP psc (O/62588). To 
relinquish the appointment of Commandant, Military 
Intelligence Training School and to be appointed as 
Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre Sri Lanka 
Light Infantry;

	 (s)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) A P C R Prematilaka, 
RSP USP (O/62594). To relinquish the appointment 
fo Colonel (Military Secretary), Military Secretary’s 
Branch, Army Headquarters and to be appointed as 
Commandant, Infantry Training Centre;

	 (t)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) J M A Jayasekera, 
RSP USP (O/62595). To relinquish the appointment of 
Commandant, Mechanized Infantry Training School 
and to be appointed as Chief Instructor, Sri Lanka 
Military Academy;

	 (u)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) R P S Prasad, RWP 
RSP USP (O/62596). To relinquish the appointment 
of Colonel (Quarter Master General), Quarter Master 
General’s Branch, Army Headquarters and to be 
appointed as Chief Instructor, Defence Services 
Command and Staff College;

	 (v)	 Colonel (Temporary Brigadier) A A D P Kulathilaka, 
USP psc (O/62598). To relinquish the appointment of 
Deputy Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre Sri 
Lanka Army Medical Corps and to be appointed as 
Commandant, Language Training School.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

06th October, 2022.

12-239/2
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No. 840 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/CONF/COL/22 (01).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Confirmation of rank approved by the President

confirmation of Rank

The President has approved the Confirmation of rank of 
the undermentioned Senior Officers in the rank of Colonel 
with effect from the dates indicated:

	 (a)	 With effect from 03rd April, 2017:

		  Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Udunuwara 
Uruladeni Koralalage Pubudu Crishantha 
Perera (O/69167);

	 (b)	 With effect from 19th April, 2017 - Lieutenant Colonel 
(Temporary Colonel) Perapasage Eral Shenhan 
Vass  (O/69156);

	 (c)	 With effect from 24th July, 2018 - Lieutenant Colonel 
Godellawattage Janaka Nadis Weerasuriya 
Fernando, USP USACGSC IG  (O/62908);

	 (d)	 With effect from 08th November, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kongamuwale Gedara Upul Tissa Jayasinghe,  
(O/62744);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Karunanayaka Pathirannahalage Prasanna 
Karunanayaka,  (O/62735);

	 (e)	 With effect from 12th November, 2018:

		  Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Adikari 
Mudiyanselage Sudath Darmapriya Bandara 
Adikari, RSP (O/63198);

	 (f)	 With effect from 15th November, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Chandana Dharmarathne Wickramanayake,  
WV RSP (O/62688);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Hewa Dewage Jayanandana Premakumara 
Weerathunga,  (O/62538);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Balasooriyage Manoj Anujeewa Balasooriya,  
RWP RSP USP psc (O/62539);

	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kandabadage Don Lenin Chintaka Wijenayake,  
RWP RSP USP (O/62545);

	 (5)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kottachchige Don Upendra Karunaratna,  
RSP USP (O/62546);

	 (6)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Indika 
Prasad Jayasinghe, RWP  (O/62548);

	 (7)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kodithuwakku Arachchige Don Thushan 
Priyantha Wimalasena,  RWP RSP (O/62555);

	 (8)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Lasankara Senanayake Danika Niroshana 
Pathiratna,  RSP USP (O/62559);

	 (9)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Rajapaksa Ratnayake Mudiyanselage Pansilu 
Nagitha Bandara Bambaradeniya, RWP RSP 
USP psc  (O/62561);

	 (10)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Yon 
Hewage Prabath Rangajeewa, USP (O/62564);

	 (11)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Weerasingha Don Kevin Tilak Perera,  RWP 
RSP (O/62568);

	 (12)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Egodawatta Arachchige Don Kalum Suriya 
Kumara, USP  (O/62570);

	 (13)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Hetti 
Kankanange Lakshitha Jayanath Perera,  
WWV RWP RSP (O/62572);

	 (g)	 With effect from 22nd November, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kodippili 
Thanthirige Ranjith Bandula Kodippili,  psc 
(O/62418);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Sachindra Wijesiriwardane,  RWP RSP 
(O/62421);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Wannakka Waduge Lanka Priyanka Fernando,  
IG (O/62423);
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	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Adikariwattage Kasun Darshana Adikari,  
USP (O/62424);

	 (5)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Ratnayake Mudiyanselage Sampath Ratnayake,  
RSP (O/62427);

	 (6)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Budagodage Don Ranjith Budagoda,  USP 
(O/62434);

	 (7)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kristhombu Asitha Pushpakumara,  RWP RSP 
USP psc (O/62440);

	 (8)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Waruna 
Shanthasiri Gamage,  RSP USP psc (O/62443);

	 (9)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Weerakoon Mudiyansela Palle Walawwe 
Nalin Dammika Bandara Weerakoon,  RSP 
USP (O/62446);

	 (10)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Don 
Suresh Sanjaya Radalage,  RWP RSP (O/62451);

	 (11)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Baduge 
Dilantha Fernando,  USP psc (O/62453);

	 (12)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Susantha 
Jagath Kumara Dodampage Jayawardena,  USP 
psc (O/62454);

	 (h)	 With effect from 26th November, 2018:

		  Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Wickramasinghe Wanniarachchi Kankanamge 
Rohan,  RSP USP (O/64571);

	 (i)	 With effect from 27th November, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Dharmawardana Udaya Kumar (O/63386);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Wijethunga Mudiyanselage Janaka Priyantha 
Kumara Mahakumbura, USP (O/63388);

	 (j)	 With effect from 29th November, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Ranhoti 
Gedara Lalith Kumara Weerakoon, RWP RSP 
(O/63097);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Mangala 
Nuwan Gunawardana, psc IG (O/63013);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Madappu 
Mudiyanselage Tusitha Bandara, USP psc 
(O/63014);

	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Milla 
Patabendige Sujith Priyanji Kulasekara, WWV 
RWP RSP (O/63017);

	 (5)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kannangara Arachchige Don Chaminda 
Rukshan Kannangara, RSP (O/63021);

	 (6)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Mapalagama Kumarage Don Pradeep 
Mapalagama, psc (O/63022);

	 (7)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Pathiratne Mawathage Sanjaya Karunaratne, 
psc (O/63025);

	 (8)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Aruna 
Devapriya Rodrigo, RWP RSP psc (O/63026);

	 (9)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Sri 
Narayana Mudiyanselage Anuruddha 
Bandara Arambepola, RWP (O/63030);

	 (10)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kalana 
Piyankara Lankamithra Amunupura, RWP RSP 
USP (O/63036);

	 (11)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Palipana 
Wasala Mudiyanselage Manjula Dilupa 
Wijeratne, RSP USP (O/63038);

	 (12)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Yapa 
Mudiyanselage Sanjeewa Chandana Bandara 
Jayathilaka, RSP USP (O/63042);

	 (13)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Balapitiyge Anura Priyantha Liyanage, RWP 
RSP USP (O/62221);

	 (14)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Ganegoda Appuhamilage Don Kusal Geethan 
Ganegoda, RSP USP psc (O/62607);

	 (15)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Yakdehige Saman Priya Sumanasinghe, RSP 
(O/62609);

	 (16)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Yatamalagala Kaprage Sanjeewa Rangika, psc 
(O/63383);

	 (17)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Aanakarage Koshitha Peiris, RSP (O/62611);

	 (18)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kannangara Arachchillage Don Naminde 
Rosan Kannangara, RSP IG (O/63073);

	 (19)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kolongahapitiya Herath Mudiyanselage 
Udayasiri Bandara Kolongahapitiya, USP 
(O/63080);
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	 (20)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Asuramuni Kamal Chandana Siribandu De 
Silva, RSP (O/63084);

	 (21)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Meregngnage Hemantha Ruwan Fernando, 
RWP RSP USP (O/63086);

	 (22)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kalavila 
Pathirage Don Nandana Chandrasena, RWP 
RSP (O/61422);

	 (23)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Koshal 
Weerasinghe, USP (O/62209);

	 (k)	 With effect from 06th December, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Bulathsinghala Arachchige Don Ronald 
Anton Christoper Wijeyesekera, RSP 
USACGSC (O/63240);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Gamage 
Gaya Rohana Madhugoda, USP (O/63243);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Hettige 
Don Ajith Niroshana Hettige (O/63460);

	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Hewa 
Dewage Titas Jayakody, USP (O/63246);

	 (5)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Ranasinghe Arachchige Susil Mangala 
Ranasinghe, RSP USP psc Isc (O/63241);

	 (6)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Roshan 
Thamaranath Lokuthotahewa, USP psc 
(O/63457);

	 (7)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Molligoda Liyanage Deepthi Shiron 
Molligoda, USP psc (O/63250);

	 (8)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kanil 
Lasantha Munasinghe, USP (O/63462);

	 (9)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Rathnayaka Kirinde Arachchige Roshan 
Pradeep Ratnayake, RSP USP psc (O/63257);

	 (10)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kande 
Vidanalage Priyantha Dhammika, USP ptsc 
(O/63458);

	 (11)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Biyagamage Yohan Chanaka Fernando, RWP 
USP (O/63252);

	 (12)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Don 
Indrajith Sudheera Jayasinghe, psc (O/63264);

	 (13)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Marappulige Boditha Lakshan Perera, RSP 
USP psc (O/63242);

	 (14)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Nanayakkara Warnakula Patabandige 
Sherman Milroy Perera (O/63461);

	 (15)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Sampath 
Ruwan Hewapathirana, Isc (O/63258);

	 (16)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Thambawila Lekamlage Manjula 
Chandrasekara, RWP psc (O/63247);

	 (17)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Malitha 
Jagathnatha Ubeysekera, RSP psc (O/63259);

	 (18)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Rathnayaka Mudiyanselage Chaminda 
Rathnayake, RWP RSP USP (O/63248);

	 (19)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Keembiya 
Pathirage Niroshana Sampath Kumara 
Kariyawasam, AATO Lsc (O/63266);

	 (20)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Manikkuwadura Keerthi Sri Sarathchandra 
De Silva, (O/63253);

	 (21)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Maluge 
Niroshan Jayamal Perera (O/63463);

	 (22)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Wijayamuni Gunawardena Sujeewa De Silva 
Rajakaruna, RSP USP (O/63261);

	 (23)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Ekanayake Mudiyanselage Lakmini Prasanna 
Ekanayake, USP (O/63267);

	 (l)	 With effect from 10th December, 2018:

		  Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Bulathgama Athiralalage Sampath Sri 
Dammaika Bulathgama, (O/61818);

	 (m)	 With effect from 13th December, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kodippili 
Patabandige Upendra Arjuna Kodippili, RSP 
(O/62894);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Dappula 
Sanjeewa Horawalavithana, WWV RWP RSP 
(O/62896);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Rammini 
Roshan De Silva Dharmawickrema, RSP 
(O/62900);
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	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Weerappuli Ajuth Priyantha Ranatunga, 
(O/62901);

	 (n)	 With effect from 20th December, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Bharatha Yahampath Nanayakkara, RSP psc 
(O/62834);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Titthagalla Gamage Iraj Ayeshmantha 
Ariyaratne, RSP IG (O/62835);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Liyanage 
Rajindra Wijeratne, USP (O/62838);

	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Kateepe 
Arachchige Ravindra Kumara Dias, USP 
(O/62847);

	 (5)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Hewa 
Aluthsal Arachchige Nalin Chaminda 
Prabhath, RSP USP (O/62848);

	 (6)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Matara 
Maha Muhandiramge Priyantha Mahesh 
Kumara, (O/62850);

	 (7)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Uduwe 
Ralale Irantha Bandara Ranatunge, RSP  
USP (O/62857);

	 (8)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Palliyaralalage Don Nuwan Indunil Almeida, 
RSP (O/62861);

	 (9)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Kodituwakku Muhandiramge Ashoka 
Wickramarathne Kodituwakku Perera, AATO 
(O/62863);

	 (10)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Gamlath 
Ralalage Sanjaya Dharmarathne, USP 
(O/62864);

	 (11)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Santhana Dewage Nalin Chaminda De Silva, 
(O/62858);

	 (12)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Keerthisinghe Mudiyanselage Janaka Nalinda 
Ruwan Kumara Chandrasekara (O/62998);

	 (13)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Tilantha 
Saluka Liyanagunawardana (O/62999);

	 (14)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Amarasinghe Gamaethige Chaminda Rishantha 
Amarasinghe, USP ato (O/63005);

	 (15)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Jayalath 
Mudiyanselage Wasantha Kumara Jayalath, 
RWP RSP USP (O/63007);

	 (16)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Rupassara Ananda Samaranayake, USP psc 
(O/63010);

	 (17)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Mohamed Shiran Amith, Isc (O/65494);

	 (18)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Paranawithanage Prasanna Priyalal, USP Isc 
(O/64573);

	 (19)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Widyarajage Sampath Ravindra Kumara, USP 
Isc (O/65495);

	 (o)	 With effect from 23rd December, 2018:

		  Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Korale 
Kankanamge Sajith Kavinda Prasanna, RSP 
USP Isc (O/62883);

	 (p)	 With effect from 26th December, 2018:

		  Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Thandeniyage Chandrasiri Senaviratne, USP 
(O/64798);

	 (q)	 With effect from 27th December, 2018:

	 (1)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Niriallage Rasika Lasantha Gunasena, psc 
(O/62972);

	 (2)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Chandith Prasanna Wickramarathne, RSP 
USP (O/62975);

	 (3)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Polwatta 
Gallage Chaminda Srinath Gallage, RWP RSP 
(O/62979);

	 (4)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Erantha 
Nalin Panditha Gunawardana, USP  (O/62981);

	 (5)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Ranamuka Arachchige Prabath Anuruddha 
Bandara Dissanayaka, AATO (O/62982);

	 (6)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Weeratunga Arachchige Jagath 
Hemachandra, RSP psc (O/62993);

	 (7)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Balasuriya Arachchige Mangala Priyantha 
Balasuriya, RSP (O/62605);



I fldgi : (I) fPoh ‑ YS% ,xld m%cd;dka;s%l iudcjd§ ckrcfha .eiÜ m;%h ‑ 2022'12'09

PART  I :  SEC.  (I) – GAZETTE OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA – 09.12.2022 1767

	 (8)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) Preethi 
Pradeep Serasinghe, RSP USP (O/63238);

	 (9)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) 
Baddegama Arachchige Nuwan Badraka 
Abeysekara, RSP Isc (O/62977).

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

23rd September, 2022.

12-239/3

No. 841 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/PRO/COL/22 (03).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Promotions, Relinquishment of Appointments and 
New Appointments approved by the President

promotions

1. The President has approved the promotion of the 
undermentioned Senior Officers to the rank of Temporary 
Colonel with effect from 10th October, 2022:

	 (a)	 Lieutenant Colonel J C S Jayawickrama, SLASC 
(O/62738);

	 (b)	 Lieutenant Colonel I D S Dharmaratne, RSP Isc GR 
(O/63082);

	 (c)	 Lieutenant Colonel R C Jayatunga, SLEME 
(O/61678);

	 (d)	 Lieutenant Colonel D M M C Wijerathna, Lsc 
SLASC (O/63999);

	 (e)	 Lieutenant Colonel I R Hanthanearachchi, SLCMP 
(O/63368);

	 (f)	 Lieutenant Colonel T K D Dharmasena, RWP RSP 
SLLI (O/63373);

	 (g)	 Lieutenant Colonel N C Lokugalappaththi, IG SLA 
(O/63464);

	 (h)	 Lieutenant Colonel S J Samarasinghe, psc SLAC 
(O/63465);

	 (i)	 Lieutenant Colonel M K V Manoharan, USP SLE 
(O/63466);

	 (j)	 Lieutenant Colonel E G C Gunasena, RWP RSP psc 
GR (O/63470);

	 (k)	 Lieutenant Colonel S J M N S Perera, USP GW 
(O/63471);

	 (l)	 Lieutenant Colonel K S P Pothupitiya, USP psc IG 
SLA (O/63477);

	 (m)	 Lieutenant Colonel G T S Silva, USP QLCO Lsc ato 
SLAOC (O/63478);

	 (n)	 Lieutenant Colonel D M D A B Dhanasekera, 
SLEME (O/63479);

	 (o)	 Lieutenant Colonel M K G Perera, RSP USP SLSC 
(O/63482);

	 (p)	 Lieutenant Colonel D K S Knowlton, SLASC 
(O/63484);

	 (q)	 Lieutenant Colonel M T I Gunawardena, RSP psc 
SLLI (O/63485);

	 (r)	 Lieutenant Colonel O N Manage, RSP SLLI 
(O/63487);

	 (s)	 Lieutenant Colonel A V A R K Abeywickrama, RWP 
RSP VIR (O/63490);

	 (t)	 Lieutenant Colonel S P C K Senarath, RWP RSP GR 
(O/63492);

	 (u)	 Lieutenant Colonel J A S P Jayasuriya, RWP RSP 
USP psc SF (O/63493);

	 (v)	 Lieutenant Colonel W H M I U Bandara, USP Lsc 
SLASC (O/63494);

	 (w)	 Lieutenant Colonel M R Hameem, USP SLSC 
(O/63495);

	 (x)	 Lieutenant Colonel M M W Rupasinghe, SLCMP 
(O/63502);

	 (y)	 Lieutenant Colonel T E R Peiris, RWP RSP Isc MI 
(O/64454);

	 (z)	 Lieutenant Colonel H D M P Weerasinghe, USP CES 
(O/64584);

	(aa)	 Lieutenant Colonel R M Subasingha, RSP SLE 
(O/63505);

	(bb)	 Lieutenant Colonel L A Mendis, SLSC (O/64390);
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Relinquishment of Appointments and New 
Appointments

2. The President has approved the relinquishment of 
appointments and new appointments of the undermentioned 
Senior Officers with effect from 10th October, 2022:

	 (a)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) J C S 
Jayawickrama, SLASC (O/62738) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Commanding Officer, 3 Sri Lanka 
Army Service Corps and to be appointed as Colonel 
(Administration & Quartering), Headquarters 24 
Infantry Division;

	 (b)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) I D S 
Dharmaratne, RSP Isc GR (O/63082) - To relinquish 
the appointment of General Staff Officer 1 (Training), 
Directorate of Training, Army Headquarters and to 
be appointed as Colonel (Quarter Master General), 
Quarter Master General’s Branch, Army Headquarters; 

	 (c)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) R C 
Jayatunga, SLEME (O/61678) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Commanding Officer, 1 Sri 
Lanka Electrical & Mechanical Engineers and to be 
appointed as Commanding Officer, Marksmanship 
Training School;

	 (d)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) D M M C 
Wijerathna, Lsc SLASC (O/63999) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Staff Officer 1 (Record), 
Directorate of Pay and Records, Army Headquarters 
and to be appointed as Colonel (Administration & 
Quartering), Headquarters 51 Infantry Division;

	 (e)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) I R 
Hanthanearachchi, SLCMP (O/63368) - To 
relinquish the appointment of Staff Officer 1 
(Administration & Quartering), Headquarters 66 
Infantry Division and to be appointed as Deputy 
Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre Sri Lanka 
Corps of Military Police;

	 (f)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) T K D 
Dharmasena, RWP RSP SLLI (O/63373) - To 
relinquish the appointment of Commanding Officer, 
1 Sri Lanka Light Infantry and to be appointed as 
Colonel (Military Secretary), Military Secretary’s 
Branch, Army Headquarters;

	 (g)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) N C 
Lokugalappaththi, IG SLA (O/63464) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Counter Bombardment Officer, 
Arty Brigade and to be appointed as Colonel (General 
Staff), Security Force Headquarters (Kilinochchi);

	 (h)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) S J 
Samarasinghe, psc SLAC (O/63465) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Commanding Officer, 3 Sri Lanka 

Armoured Corps and to be appointed as Colonel 
(Military Secretary), Military Secretary’s Branch, 
Army Headquarters;

	 (i)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) M K V 
Manoharan, USP SLE (O/63466) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Commanding Officer, 10 Sri 
Lanka Engineer (Reinforcement) and to be appointed 
as Colonel (Coordinatng) Engineer, Security Force 
Headquarters (Mullaittivu);

	 (j)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) E G C 
Gunasena, RWP RSP psc GR (O/63470) - To 
relinquish the appointment of Commanding Officer, 
3 Mechanized Infantry Regimentt and to be appointed 
as Colonel (General Staff), Headquarters 54 Infantry 
Division;

	 (k)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) S J M N 
S Perera, USP GW (O/63471) - To relinquish the 
appointment of Commanding Officer, 18 Gemunu 
Watch and to be appointed as Colonel (General Staff), 
Headquarters 21 Infantry Division;

	 (l)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) K S P 
Pothupitiya, USP psc IG SLA (O/63477) - To 
relinquish the appointment of General Staff Officer 1 
(Operations), Security Force Headquarters (West) and 
to be appointed as Colonel (Coordinating), Office of 
Chief of Defence Staff;

	 (m)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) G T S Silva, 
USP QLCO Lsc ato SLAOC (O/63478) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Staff Officer 1 (Administration 
& Quartering), Headquarters Overall Operation 
Command (Anuradhapura) and to be appointed as 
Commandant, Sri Lanka Army Ordnance Corps 
(Trade School);

	 (n)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) D M D A 
B Dhanasekera, SLEME (O/63479) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Commanding Officer, 1 Sri Lanka 
Army Ordnance Corps and to be appointed as Colonel 
(Administration & Quartering), Headquarters 66 
Infantry Division;

	 (o)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) M K G 
Perera, RSP USP SLSC (O/63482) - To relinquish 
the appointment of General Staff Officer 1 (Air 
Defence), Security Force Headquarters (Jaffna) and 
to be appointed as Colonel (Coordinating), Officer of 
Chief Signals Officer, Army Headquarters;

	 (p)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) D K S 
Knowlton, SLASC (O/63484) - To relinquish the 
appointment of Staff Officer 1 (Administration), 
Regimental Centre Sri Lanka Army General Service 
Corps and to be appointed as Colonel (Administration 
& Quartering), Headquarters 61 Infantry Division;
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	 (q)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) M T I 
Gunawardena, RSP psc SLLI (O/63485) - To 
relinquish the appointment of Commanding Officer, 
Headquarter Battalion Sri Lanka Light Infantry 
and to be appointed as Colonel (Communications) 
(Electronic Warfare), Security Force Headquarters 
(Wanni);

	 (r)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) O N 
Manage, RSP SLLI (O/63487) - To relinquish the 
appointment of Commanding Officer, 1 Mechanized 
Infantry Regiment and to be appointed as Colonel 
(Communications) (Electronic Warfare), Security 
Force Headquarters (Kilinochchi);

	 (s)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) A V A R 
K Abeywickrama, RWP RSP VIR (O/63490) - To 
relinquish the appointment of Sector Commander 
Appointments, Headquarters 14 Infantry Division 
and to be appointed as Colonel (Communications) 
(Electronic Warfare), Security Force Headquarters 
(Mullaittivu);

	 (t)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) S P C K 
Senarath, RWP RSP GR (O/63492) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Sector Commander Appointments, 
Headquarters 14 Infantry Division and to be appointed 
as Colonel (Communications) (Electronic Warfare), 
Security Force Headquarters (West);

	 (u)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) J A S P 
Jayasuriya, RWP RSP USP psc SF (O/63493) - To 
relinquish the appointment of Commanding Officer, 4 
Special Forces and to be appointed as Deputy Centre 
Commandant, Regimental Centre Special Forces.;

	 (v)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) W H M I U 
Bandara, USP Lsc SLASC (O/63494) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Staff Officer 1 (Administration 
& Quartering), Headquarters 65 Infantry Division 
and to be appointed as Colonel (Administration and 
Quartering) Headquarters 64 Infantry Division;

	 (w)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) M R 
Hameem, USP SLSC (O/63495) - To relinquish the 
appointment of Staff Officer, 1, Chief of Staff Office, 
Army Headquarters and to be appointed as Deputy 
Centre Commandant, Regimental Centre Sri Lanka 
Signal Corps;

	 (x)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) M M W 
Rupasinghe, SLCMP (O/63502) - To relinquish the 
appointment of Commanding Officer, 2 Sri Lanka 
Corps of Military Police and to be appointed as 
Commandant, Sri Lanka Corps of Military Police 
Trade School;

	 (y)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) T E R 
Peiris, RWP RSP Isc MI (O/64454) - To relinquish the 
appointment of General Staff Officer 1 (Coordinating), 
Headquarters 58 Infantry Division and to be appointed 
as Commandant, Military Intelligence Training 
School;

	 (z)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) H D M P 
Weerasinghe, USP CES (O/64584) - To relinquish 
the appointment of Staff Officer 1 (Administration 
and Quartering), Headquarters 68 Infantry Division 
and to be appointed as Deputy Centre Commandant, 
Regimental Centre Sri Lanka Army Medical Corps;

	(aa)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) R M 
Subasingha, RSP SLE (O/63505) - To relinquish the 
appointment of General Staff Officer 1 (Additional), 
United Nation Cell, Directorate of Operations, Army 
Headquarters and to be appointed as Commandant, 
Mechanized Infantry Training School;

	(ab)	 Lieutenant Colonel (Temporary Colonel) L A Mendis, 
SLSC (O/64390) - To relinquish the appointment of  
General Staff Officer 1 (Operations), Headquarter 21 
Division and to be appointed as Chief Coordinator 
(Technical & Material), Headquarters Centre for 
Research and Development (Sri Lanka Signal Corps).

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

06th October, 2022.

12-239/4

No. 842 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/CONF/LT COL/22 (01).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Confirmation of rank approved by the President

The President has approved the Confirmation of 
undermentioned Senior Officers in the rank of Lieutenant 
Colonel with effect from the dates shown against their 
names:
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	 1.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Arampath 
Mudiyanselage Thushara Anura Bandara 
Arampath, SLAGSC (O/64796) - 02.02.2016;

	 2.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Jayalath 
Pathiranage Asitha Pradeep Dharmadasa, CR 
(O/64596) - 02.02.2016;

	 3.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Wasala 
Adikaramge Anurudda Priyadarshi Gunathilaka, 
RSP psc IG Lsc SLA (O/64597) - 02.02.2016;

	 4.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Kankanamalage Rukshan Perera, RSP SLSR 
(O/64602) - 02.02.2016;

	 5.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mallawa 
Arachchige Anton Nilakshan Ruwantha Perera, 
RWP RSP CR (O/64607) - 02.02.2016;

	 6.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Jayasinha 
Santha Jayathilake, USP SLCMP (O/64608) - 
02.02.2016;

	 7.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Athuraliyage 
Chaminda Rohana Thilakaratne, MIR (O/64609) - 
02.02.2016;

	 8.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dissanayaka 
Mudiyanselage Rohitha Kumudu Bandara 
Nawarathna, RWP RSP IG SLA (O/64610) - 
02.02.2016;

	 9.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mohammed 
Farsan Abdeen, RSP USP SLA (O/64614) - 
02.02.2016;

	 10.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Horathal 
Pedigedara Prageeth Kumarasinghe, RSP GR 
(O/64615) - 02.02.2016;

	 11.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kithsen 
Sudeera Thalagala, SLACAL (O/66103) - 
13.02.2016;

	 12.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Anurudda 
Kumara Weerasinghe, USP CES (O/65344) - 
17.02.2016;

	 13.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Meegaha 
Gedara Sisira Dayanath Wijesooriya, RSP SLAC 
(O/64582) - 04.07.2016;

	 14.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Jayasuriya 
Patabendige Prageeth Priyamal Muthumala, Lsc 
SLEME (O/65188) - 04.07.2016;

	 15.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mahinda 
Weragamage, SLASC (O/65386) - 04.07.2016;

	 16.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Wattudurayalage Mohan Thushara Wijekoon, 
RSP USP psc CR (O/64718) - 04.07.2016;

	 17.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Gaspe 
Ralalage Hemantha Warnajith, RSP USP SLA 
(O/64719) - 04.07.2016;

	 18.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Karuna 
Pedige Thushara Chaminda Wijewardana, RWP 
USP psc SF (O/64720) - 04.07.2016;

	 19.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Gunamuni 
Janaka Prasantha De Silva, SLE (O/64721) - 
04.07.2016;

	 20.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Hiripitiyage 
Chaminda Prabhath Karunarathna, RSP psc VIR 
(O/64722) - 04.07.2016;

	 21.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Namadowa 
Vithanage Amila Manoj Vithanage, RSP psc 
SLAC (O/64724) - 04.07.2016;

	 22.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Atapattu 
Mudiyanselage Chaminda Kumara Athapattu, 
USP SLSC (O/64723) - 04.07.2016;

	 23.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Maddumage 
Tissa Maduranga Dissanayake, RWP RSP USP GR 
(O/64725) - 04.07.2016;

	 24.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Wijayalath 
Arachchilage Subasha Manil Wijayalath, RSP 
psc IG SLA (O/64730) - 04.07.2016;

	 25.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Samantha 
Kumara Warahena, USP SLE (O/64731) - 
04.07.2016;

	 26.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Pilimatalawwe Wijeratne Narendrasinghe 
Padiattha Wasala Bandaralage Suranga Udaya 
Bandara Pilimatalawwe, psc SLAC (O/64732) - 
04.07.2016;

	 27.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Solanga 
Arachchige Lalith Indika Jayasena, psc SLSC 
(O/64733) - 04.07.2016;

	 28.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Sanjeewa 
Kumara Mahakumburage, USP psc Isc MI 
(O/64734) - 04.07.2016;

	 29.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Muhamdiramlage Thushara Priyadarshana 
Muhamdiramge, RSP USP psc MIR (O/64735) - 
04.07.2016;
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	 30.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Yalawayalage 
Rajitha Iroshan Dissanayake, RWP RSP USP Lsc 
GW (O/64736) - 04.07.2016;

	 31.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Athukoralalage Buddhika Samansiri 
Athukorala, RWP VIR (O/64737) - 04.07.2016;

	 32.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Gardi 
Hewagamage Amitha, RWP RSP psc SF (O/64738) 
- 04.07.2016;

	 33.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Wijesundara 
Herath Mudiyanselage Cyril Dharmawansha, 
RSP USP psc MIR (O/64739) - 04.07.2016;

	 34.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Harispaththuwe Herath Mudiyanselage Palitha 
Jayarathne Banda Herath, RSP psc SLA (O/64742) 
- 04.07.2016;

	 35.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dissanayake 
Mudiyanselage Chaminda Janaka Bandara 
Dissanayake, USP SLAC (O/64745) - 04.07.2016;

	 36.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Galhenage 
Asanka Dananjaya Alwis, RSP psc SLE (O/64749) - 
04.07.2016;

	 37.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Asantha 
Kelum Gamage, psc SLAC (O/64753) - 04.07.2016;

	 38.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Meragal 
Pedige Sanath Kumara Nilmalgoda, RWP USP 
SLSR (O/64758) - 04.07.2016;

	 39.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Abeynayakage 
Jayamal Sudeera Abeynayake, RSP GR (O/64759) - 
04.07.2016;

	 40.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Welapura 
Kannangarage Sumudu Thiwanka Kannangara, 
psc SLE (O/64761) - 04.07.2016;

	 41.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Ranaweera Arachchilage Upali Kusumsiri 
Ranaweeraarachchi, RSP USP SLA (O/64762) - 
04.07.2016;

	 42.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ekanayake 
Mudiyanselage Mahinda Saman Kumara 
Ekanayake, RSP psc VIR (O/64766) - 04.07.2016;

	 43.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Heenkenda 
Mudiyanselage Athula Anupama Bandara 
Heenkenda, RWP RSP GR (O/64767) - 04.07.2016;

	 44.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kankanamge 
Krishantha Pushpamal Pussewala, RSP SLE 
(O/64769) - 04.07.2016;

	 45.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kandewatta 
Ralalage Janaka Mihira Bandara Kandewatta, 
RWP USP CR (O/64770) - 04.07.2016;

	 46.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Herath 
Mudiyanselage Udagedara Lasantha Bandara 
Udagedara, SLAC (O/64772) - 04.07.2016;

	 47.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Rajaguru 
Mudiyanselage Ravindra Kumara Rajaguru, RWP 
RSP SLLI (O/64778) - 04.07.2016;

	 48.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Weerasooriya 
Mahavidanage Wijaya Dharmasiri Weerasooriya, 
RWP RSP GR (O/64780) - 04.07.2016;

	 49.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Don Kalyana 
Darshana Vithanage, RSP VIR (O/64757) - 
04.07.2016;

	 50.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Udaya 
Pushpakumara Mallawaarachchi, RWP USP GR 
(O/64789) - 04.07.2016;

	 51.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Alagiyawanna Mohotti Appuhamilage Upul 
Samantha Alagiyawanna, SLCMP (O/63229) - 
11.10.2016;

	 52.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Thalagala 
Vithanage Manel Rathnajeewa, USP SLSC 
(O/63230) - 11.10.2016;

	 53.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Weerapurage 
Dhanuka Dashantha Rathnasiri Weerapura, 
RWP RSP USP SLLI (O/64896) - 11.10.2016;

	 54.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Herath 
Mudiyanselage Wijesiri Rajapaksha Herath, 
SLASC (O/65374) - 11.10.2016;

	 55.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dissanayake 
Mudiyanselage Miran Bandara Dissanayake, 
RWP RSP USP CR (O/64562) - 11.10.2016;

	 56.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Ranmandalage Justin Wimal Weerasinghe, RWP 
RSP USP SLSR (O/64181) - 11.10.2016;

	 57.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ravindranath 
Kamal Kumara Paragahathanthree, psc SLAC 
(O/64918) - 11.10.2016;



I fldgi : (I) fPoh ‑ YS% ,xld m%cd;dka;s%l iudcjd§ ckrcfha .eiÜ m;%h ‑ 2022'12'09

PART  I :  SEC.  (I) – GAZETTE OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA – 09.12.2022
1772

	 58.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Yathramulla 
Muhandiramge Tharanga Wasantha 
Muhandiramge, RSP GW (O/64922) - 11.10.2016;

	 59.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kodituwakku 
Arachchige Neel Priyantha Kumara 
Kodituwakku, psc SLE (O/64915) - 11.10.2016;

	 60.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Thalahagama 
Liyanage Sameera Rohan Meewathura, USP psc 
Isc MI (O/64921) - 11.10.2016;

	 61.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Gabadage 
Indu Kumara Jayavikkrama, psc Lsc SLEME 
(O/64911) - 11.10.2016;

	 62.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Ramanayakage Nishshanka Chaminda Yapa 
Ramanayake, psc IG SLA (O/64935) - 11.10.2016;

	 63.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Jayasidu Palihawadana Wipula Gunarathna 
Maharajawasala Paliharalalage Kolitha De 
Almedha, Lsc SLEME (O/64904) - 11.10.2016;

	 64.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Sameera 
Kanchana Ambagahaduwa, RSP USP psc GR 
(O/64903) - 11.10.2016;

	 65.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Amila Saman 
Bandara Hapuwinna, USP psc SLAC (O/64909) - 
11.10.2016;

	 66.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Owitiya 
Wattegedara Deegayu Nimalanath Bandara 
Owitiyawatte, RWP USP GR (O/64923) - 11.10.2016;

	 67.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Lokugam 
Hewage Waruna Bandula Indika Silva, RWP RSP 
GR (O/64930) - 11.10.2016;

	 68.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dinusha 
Madushanka Jayasinghe, Lsc SLASC (O/64912) - 
11.10.2016;

	 69.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Padukkage 
Don Suranjana De Alwis, RSP USP psc GW 
(O/64905) - 11.10.2016;

	 70.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dushantha 
Kumara Kaluwadewa, RSP SLLI (O/64919) - 
11.10.2016;

	 71.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dissanayake 
Mudiyanselage Shiran Bandara Dissanayake, 
RWP USP CR (O/64907) - 11.10.2016;

	 72.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Pituwala 
Kankanamge Thusitha Dewapriya, RWP RSP USP 
psc SLLI (O/64906) - 11.10.2016;

	 73.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Weerathantrige Pradeep Kumara Samaranayake, 
psc SLA (O/64926) - 11.10.2016;

	 74.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Wedaralalage Chaminda Samarasinghe, RSP 
USP psc CR (O/64927) - 11.10.2016;

	 75.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Susew 
Hewage Sumedha Kumarasinghe, USP psc VIR 
(O/64920) - 11.10.2016;

	 76.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Uruwitiya 
Gamage Wasantha Udayaratne, VIR (O/64932) - 
11.10.2016;

	 77.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Hiyare 
Palliya Guruge Harshanath Kulasinghe, USP 
VIR (O/64916) - 11.10.2016;

	 78.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kariyawasam 
Pathirage Chandana Kumara Kariyawasam, RSP 
SLLI (O/64914) - 11.10.2016;

	 79.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Jayasinghe 
Arachchige Menaka Prasanjith Gunaratne, RWP 
RSP USP GW (O/64908) - 11.10.2016;

	 80.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Deenamulla 
Kankanamge Chandana Sampath Kumara 
Dinamulla, SLSR (O/64928) - 11.10.2016;

	 81.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Weerasinghe 
Pathirage Dumindu Nadeera Abeyrathne, SLSC 
(O/66173) - 15.11.2016;

	 82.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Aththanayake 
Mudiyanselage Chandra Kumara Gunathilake, 
SLSC (O/66174) - 15.11.2016;

	 83.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Bulathsinhala Arachchige Sudesh Priyashantha 
Bulathsinhala, RWP RSP GW (O/64341) - 
01.12.2016;

	 84.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Adappa 
Godage Keneth Ganganath, RWP RSP SLA 
(O/63599) - 01.12.2016;

	 85.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Atapattuge 
Pradeep Samantha Atapattu, USP CR (O/64613) - 
01.12.2016;
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	 86.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Wickramasinghelage Don Shirantha 
Pushpakumara Wickramasinghe, RSP USP SLAC 
(O/64765) - 01.12.2016;

	 87.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Sinhalage 
Sahan Anuruddha Wijerathna, RSP USP psc GR 
(O/65199) - 03.01.2017;

	 88.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Munasinghe 
Arachchilage Wasantha Munasinghe, SLSR 
(O/65200) - 03.01.2017;

	 89.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ranaraja 
Mudiyanselage Janaka Bandara Ranaraja, USP 
psc GR (O/64863) - 16.06.2017;

	 90.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Aluthapola 
Ralalage Lalith Harindrakumara, SLASC 
(O/63826) - 06.07.2017;

	 91.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Herath 
Parana Vithanage Jagath Deepthi Kumara 
Dissanayake, SLASC (O/64601) - 06.07.2017;

	 92.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Meepage 
Ramesh Vidyaratne, CES (O/65342) - 06.07.2017;

	 93.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Udupihille 
Kahanda Kulatunge Wasala Mudiyanse 
Ralahamilage Adhikaram Walawwe Indika 
Ashoka Bandara Kulatunge, psc SLAC (O/65492) 
- 06.07.2017;

	 94.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Kariyawasam Withanalage Saman Kumara 
Thilaka Kariyawasam, USP psc SLAC (O/64952) - 
06.07.2017;

	 95.	 Major  (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Bamunusinghe 
Mudiyanselage Terishan Anuruddha Baddewala, 
RSP psc IG SLA (O/64953) - 06.07.2017;

	 96.	 Major  (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ranpati 
Dewage Roshan Manjula Fernando, RSP USP psc 
SLSC (O/64954) - 06.07.2017;

	 97.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Subasinghe 
Arachchige Jineth Kamila Subasinghe, psc Isc MI 
(O/64955) - 06.07.2017;

	 98.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Sooriyabandara Mudiyanselage Sachintha 
Sooriyabandara, psc SLSR (O/64957) - 06.07.2017;

	 99.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Nissanka 
Ralalage Manoj Thushar Nissanka, RSP USP VIR 
(O/64958) - 06.07.2017;

	100.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Nirosh 
Indika Priya Kelum Gamage, RSP USP psc SLLI 
(O/64960) - 06.07.2017;

	101.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Dikkumburage Jayantha Priyalal Dikkumbura, 
RSP USP GW (O/64961) - 06.07.2017;

	102.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Wijesundara 
Ekanayake Mudalige Chaminda Ekanayake, psc 
SLAC (O/64966) - 06.07.2017;

	103.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Asanka 
Wijesekara Pathirana, RWP RSP USP psc SF 
(O/64969) - 06.07.2017;

	104.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Matharage 
Don Chathura Deshapriya Matharage, Isc MI 
(O/64970) - 06.07.2017;

	105.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dewapurage 
Malinda Prabhath Amarakoon, RWP RSP USP psc 
GR (O/64971) - 06.07.2017;

	106.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Makawita 
Arachchige Charm Ravinda Makawita, RWP psc 
GR (O/64974) - 06.07.2017;

	107.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Paskuwell 
Handi Sanjeewa Niroshana Kumara Paskuwell, 
USP Lsc ato SLAOC (O/64975) - 06.07.2017;

	108.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Liyanagedara 
Bandarage Sampath Udaya Kumara Liyanagedara, 
psc SLAC (O/64976) - 06.07.2017;

	109.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Beligahawaththage Mahesh Pushpakumara 
Beligahawaththa, RSP USP SLE (O/64977) - 
06.07.2017;

	110.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Meemanage 
Indika Sriyamal Chandrakumara, USP psc IG SLA 
(O/64978) - 06.07.2017;

	111.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Subasinghe 
Jayawardhana Gamage Aruna Mangala 
Subasinghe, RSP USP VIR (O/64979) - 06.07.2017;

	112.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Marasinghe 
Mudiyanselage Asela Indika Marasinghe, USP 
Lsc SLASC (O/64980) - 06.07.2017;

	113.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Jayawardena 
Hewayalage Amila Prabath Jayawardena, RSP 
USP Isc MI (O/64981) - 06.07.2017;
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	114.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Uswaththa 
Liyanage Dinesh Krishan Perera, RWP RSP USP 
SLLI (O/64983) - 06.07.2017;

	115.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Rathnayake 
Mudiyanselage Lalith Kumara Rathnayake, USP 
Lsc SLE (O/64985) - 06.07.2017;

	116.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Adikari 
Appuhamillage Nishantha Adikari, RWP USP psc 
CR (O/64989) - 06.07.2017;

	117.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Meegahapitiyage Koshala Lal Dissanayake, USP 
SLAC (O/64991) - 06.07.2017;

	118.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kanaththage 
Aruna Shantha Gunawardena, RWP RSP USP GR 
(O/64993) - 06.07.2017;

	119.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mathgamuwe 
Ranhotige Sanath Harischandra Rathnayake, 
USP IG SLA (O/64994) - 06.07.2017;

	120.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Athugala 
Lekamge Indika Wasantha Kumara Athugala, 
RSP USP psc SLE (O/64996) - 06.07.2017;

	121.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Palliya 
Guruge Indika Lasantha Perera, RSP SLAC 
(O/64999) - 06.07.2017;

	122.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Uru Liyanage 
Don Suminda Gunasinghe, RWP RSP USP VIR 
(O/65000) - 06.07.2017;

	123.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Menik 
Achchige Janaka Menik Achchi, RWP RSP USP 
Lsc SF (O/65001) - 06.07.2017;

	124.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Denipitiya 
Manikkage Upul Ranjana Nayanananda, RSP 
USP SLE (O/65005) - 06.07.2017;

	125.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Bohingamu 
Mudiyanselage Malalasekara Bandara Herath, 
RSP USP SLSC (O/65006) - 06.07.2017;

	126.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Diulapitiya 
Kankanamage Ochintha Kalumjith Gunathilaka, 
USP psc SLA (O/65007) - 06.07.2017;

	127.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Palipana 
Hewawitharana Ge Prabath Gunawardhana, 
SLSR (O/65009) - 06.07.2017;

	128.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ilankoon 
Mudiyanselage Sampath Sri Kumara Ilankoon, 
RWP RSP USP psc GW (O/65013) - 06.07.2017;

	129.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Sabaragamu 
Ralalage Kapila Dharshana Sirisena, RSP USP 
VIR (O/65015) - 06.07.2017;

	130.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Duminda 
Sujeewa Sooriyarachchi, SLLI (O/65016) - 
06.07.2017;

	131.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Liyanage 
Namal Priyankara Liyanage, SLSC (O/65020) - 
06.07.2017;

	132.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mallawa 
Arachchige Prasantha Sanjeewa Perera, USP psc 
SLE (O/65022) - 06.07.2017;

	133.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Suduwa 
Dewage Duminda Rasika Kumara, psc SLAC 
(O/65023) - 06.07.2017;

	134.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Balasooriya 
Arachchilage Lakshman Balasooriya, RSP USP 
MIR (O/65025) - 06.07.2017;

	135.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Marasinghe 
Mudiyanselage Dhammika Sisira Kumara 
Bandara, psc SLAC (O/65028) - 06.07.2017;

	136.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Galapita 
Ralalage Ravindra Kumara Sampath Jayarathne, 
RSP psc IG SLA (O/65029) - 06.07.2017;

	137.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Gabbalage 
Sarath Keerthiratne, USP psc VIR (O/65030) - 
06.07.2017;

	138.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Udaha 
Gedara Sanath Wijenayake, USP psc SLE 
(O/65031) - 06.07.2017;

	139.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Pathiraja 
Mudiyanselage Mahesh Thushara Pathiraja, RWP 
RSP GW (O/65033) - 06.07.2017;

	140.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Uswaththa 
Liyanage Chinthaka Dharmapriya Perera, psc 
SLSC (O/65034) - 06.07.2017;

	141.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kudachchige 
Asanka, RWP RSP SLLI (O/65035) - 06.07.2017;

	142.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dasanayake 
Mudiyanselage Damitha Priyankara Meerihella, 
RWP RSP psc GR (O/65044) - 06.07.2017;

	143.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Hetti 
Arachchilage Upul Saman Ruwan Hettiarachchi, 
RWP RSP USP SF (O/65045) - 06.07.2017;
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	144.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ranjith 
Dasanayakege Ravindra Kumar Dasanayake, RSP 
SLA (O/65046) - 06.07.2017;

	145.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Eranda 
Dhanushka Jayawarna, USP SLAC (O/65048) - 
06.07.2017;

	146.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Lekam 
Mudiyanselage Kamal Srilal Gnanaratne, RWP 
RSP USP SLSR (O/65050) - 06.07.2017;

	147.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Purna 
Hadunge Sanjeewa Nawaratne, RSP psc CR 
(O/65051) - 06.07.2017;

	148.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Ileperuma 
Arachchige Lasantha Illeperuma, RWP RSP USP 
SLLI (O/65053) - 06.07.2017;

	149.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Rajanayake 
Mudiyanselage Korale Gadara Chaminda Janaka 
Kumara Rajanayake, RSP SLAC (O/65054) - 
06.07.2017;

	150.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Alankara 
Rachitha Srinith De Silva, RSP USP psc IG SLA 
(O/65055) - 06.07.2017;

	151.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Rathnayakage 
Sujith Kumara Rathnayaka, RSP SLLI (O/65058) - 
06.07.2017;

	152.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Samarakoon 
Mudiyanselage Bandaranayake, RWP RSP GW 
(O/65061) - 06.07.2017;

	153.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Tuan Samoon 
Marso, USP VIR (O/65062) - 06.07.2017;

	154.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Herath 
Mudiyanselage Jayasiri Senarath Bandara, RSP 
VIR (O/65037) - 06.07.2017;

	155.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Edirimunige 
Ranjith Kumarasiri Edirimuni, RWP MIR 
(O/65069) - 06.07.2017;

	156.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Dissanayake 
Mudiyanselage Chamila Laksiri Dissanayake, 
RWP RSP GW (O/65070) - 06.07.2017;

	157.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Bandarage 
Lalin Ravindra Jayasundara, RSP USP VIR 
(O/65071) - 06.07.2017;

	158.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Sisira 
Senadeera Abeysekara Narayanage, SLLI 
(O/65072) - 06.07.2017;

	159.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Weligama 
Hettiarachchilage Suminda Hettiarachchi, RSP 
USP SLLI (O/65073) - 06.07.2017;

	160.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Sri 
Ratnayake Alahakoon Mudiyanselage Susantha 
Gamini Ratnayake, RSP USP psc IG SLA (O/65080) 
- 06.07.2017;

	161.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Hewa 
Gallage Shelton Gallage, psc VIR (O/65081) - 
06.07.2017;

	162.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Urakaduwage Ajith Thilakasiri, WWV RWP USP 
SLSR (O/65082) - 06.07.2017;

	163.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Gammana 
Arachchige Wimalasiri, RSP GR (O/65085) - 
06.07.2017;

	164.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mahesh 
Vidhana Pathirana Samarawickrema, USP GR 
(O/65086) - 06.07.2017;

	165.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Suwendra 
Kumara Jeewandara, USP SLAGSC (O/65687) - 
14.07.2017;

	166.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Karunadasage Lional Gunathilaka, USP 
SLAGSC (O/65689) - 14.07.2017;

	167.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) 
Wickramasinghe Dasanayakalage Navindra 
Geethakumara, SLAGSC (O/65690) - 14.07.2017;

	168.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Kulatunga 
Wasala Mudiyanselage Indika Kulathunga, 
SLAMC (O/67094) - 02.03.2019;

	169.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mangala 
Sithumini Samarawickrama, USP SLAMC 
(O/65685) - 05.05.2019;

	170.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Mohammadu 
Sareebu Niyas, USP SLAMC (O/65530) - 05.05.2019;

	171.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Rajapaksha 
Mudiyanselage Dhammika Bandara Rajapaksha, 
USP SLAMC (O/65527) - 05.05.2019;
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	172.	 Major (Temporary Lieutenant Colonel) Thennakoon 
Mudiyanselage Gayathri Nilanga Kumari 
Thennakoon, USP SLAMC (O/65755) - 05.05.2019;

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

11th October, 2022.

12-239/5

No. 843 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/PRO/LT COL/22 (04).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Promotions and New Appointments approved by 
the President

promotions

1. The President has approved the promotion of 
undermentioned Senior Officers to the rank of Lieutenant 
Colonel with effect from the dates shown against their 
names:

	 (a)	 Major Daulagala Muruthane Gedara Nalin 
Mihira Niroshana Daulagala, SLSR (O/65036) 
06.07.2017;

	 (b)	 Major Samarasinghe Mudiyanselage Padma 
Sri Samarasinghe, RSP USP SLSR (O/65087) 
06.07.2017;

	 (c)	 Major Ihala Korale Gedara Sujeewa Nilantha 
Abeyrathna Bandara, RWP RSP USP VIR 
(O/65089) 06.07.2017;

	 (d)	 Major Urupelewwe Gamaladdalage Samantha 
Kumara, RWP RSP USP GW (O/65092) 06.07.2017;

	 (e)	 Major Indika Nushantha Liyanage, RWP RSP USP 
SF (O/65097) 06.07.2017;

	 (f)	 Major Pathiraja Mudiyanselage Indika Mahesh 
Pathiraja, RWP RSP VIR (O/65091) 06.07.2017;

	 (g)	 Major Udagedara Buddika Kumara Subasinghe, 
RWP RSP SLSR (O/65100) 06.07.2017;

	 (h)	 Major Alugolla Mudiyanselage Anuranga 
Shanaka Alugolla, CES (O/66318) 06.08.2017;

	 (i)	 Major Gammanpila Imiyage Don Dilan 
Dharmaratne, RSP USP USACGSC SLAC 
(O/65132) 08.08.2017;

	 (j)	 Major Paindakara Gedara Tissa Udaya Bandara 
Jayaratne, RSP USP psc IG SLA (O/65129) 
08.08.2017;

	 (k)	 Major Wickrama Dissanayakage Senadeera 
Sampath Fernando, USP SLE (O/65143) 08.08.2017;

	 (l)	 Major Amarasinghe Mudiyanselage Pushpasiri 
Amarasinghe, RWP RSP USP psc VIR (O/65108) 
08.08.2017;

	 (m)	 Major Karuna Pathirannehelage Gamini 
Pushpakumara, SLEME (O/65147) 08.08.2017;

	 (n)	 Major Chamila Roshan Lahadasinghe, USP psc 
SLE (O/65165) 08.08.2017;

	 (o)	 Major Maharage Sampath Srilal Wickramaratne, 
USP psc CR (O/65171) 08.08.2017;

	 (p)	 Major Wanigasooriya Mudiyanselage Madhawa 
Prasanna Wanigasooriya, USP psc SLE (O/65169) 
08.08.2017;

	 (q)	 Major Abeysinghe Mudiyanselage Rasitha Harsha 
Bandara Abeysinghe, USP Lsc AATO SLAOC 
(O/65107) 08.08.2017;

	 (r)	 Major Dhammanthota Gedara Ekanayake 
Mudiyanselage Ruparathna Bandara 
Dhammanthota, psc SLE (O/65131) 08.08.2017;

	 (s)	 Major Yommerengnga Seamon Hewage Nilantha 
Prasad Silva, USP psc GR (O/65178) 08.08.2017;

	 (t)	 Major Senavirathna Mudiyanselage Nandana 
Kumara Bauddhasara Senavirathna, RWP RSP 
psc SF (O/65156) 08.08.2017;

	 (u)	 Major Herath Mudiyanselage Lalith Chandrasiri, 
RSP USP psc CR (O/65128) 08.08.2017;

	 (v)	 Major Manamendra Patabandige Chandimalaka 
Niroshan Gunasena, Lsc CES (O/65125) 
08.08.2017;

	 (w)	 Major Ranga Sameera Kadigamuwa, psc SLAC 
(O/65119) 08.08.2017;
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	 (x)	 Major Dembatagahawaththe Gedara Jagath 
Bandula Premalal Dembatagahawaththa, USP 
psc MIR (O/65148) 08.08.2017;

	 (y)	 Major Herath Mudiyanselage Daminda Rangana 
Herath, RSP USP psc CR (O/65182) 08.08.2017;

	 (z)	 Major Rankothge Viraj Dissanayake, RWP USP 
psc SLSR (O/65136) 08.08.2017;

	(aa)	 Major Eramudu Made Gedara Nalin 
Samaranayake, psc IG SLA (O/65174) 08.08.2017;

	(ab)	 Major Sanjaya Prasad Athuldora Arachchi, RSP 
USP psc IG SLA (O/65112) 08.08.2017;

	(ac)	 Major Idangodage Kumara Lanka Idangodage, 
USP Lsc SLEME (O/65114) 08.08.2017;

	(ad)	 Major Hetti Arachchige Nilantha Hettiarachchi, 
RSP USP psc GW (O/65184) 08.08.2017;

New Appointments

2. The President has approved the new appointments 
of undermentioned Senior Officers with effect from 27th 
September, 2022:

	 (a)	 Lieutenant Colonel Daulagala Muruthane Gedara 
Nalin Mihira Niroshana Daulagala, SLSR 
(O/65036) - To be appointed as General Staff Officer 1 
(Coordinating), Security Forces Headquarters (West);

	 (b)	 Lieutenant Colonel Samarasinghe Mudiyanselage 
Padma Sri Samarasinghe, RSP USP SLSR 
(O/65087) - To be appointed as General Staff Officer 
1 (Operations), Security Force Headquarters (Jaffna); 

	 (c)	 Lieutenant Colonel Ihala Korale Gedara Sujeewa 
Nilantha Abeyrathna Bandara, RWP RSP USP 
VIR (O/65089) - To be appointed as Commanding 
Officer 1 Sri Lanka Light Infantry;

	 (d)	 Lieutenant Colonel Urupelewwe Gamaladdalage 
Samantha Kumara, RWP RSP USP GW (O/65092) 
- Supernumerary Promotion of Officers Wounded in 
Action;

	 (e)	 Lieutenant Colonel Indika Nushantha Liyanage, 
RWP RSP USP SF (O/65097) - To be appointed as 
Commanding Officer, 4 Special Forces;

	 (f)	 Lieutenant Colonel Pathiraja Mudiyanselage 
Indika Mahesh Pathiraja, RWP RSP VIR (O/65091) 
- To be appointed as Commanding Officer, Regimental 
Headquarters Battalion Sri Lanka Light Infantry;

	 (g)	 Lieutenant Colonel Udagedara Buddika Kumara 
Subasinghe, RWP RSP SLSR (O/65100) - To be 
appointed as Commanding Officer, 18 Gemunu 
Watch;

	 (h)	 Lieutenant Colonel Alugolla Mudiyanselage 
Anuranga Shanaka Alugolla, CES (O/66318) - 
To be appointed as Staff Officer 1 (Administration and 
Quartering), Headquarters 53 Infantry Division;

	 (i)	 Lieutenant Colonel Gammanpila Imiyage Don 
Dilan Dharmaratne, RSP USP USACGSC SLAC 
(O/65132) - To be appointed as Commanding Officer, 
3 Sri Lanka Armoured Corps;

	 (j)	 Lieutenant Colonel Paindakara Gedara Tissa 
Udaya Bandara Jayaratne, RSP USP psc IG SLA 
(O/65129) - To be appointed as General Staff Officer 
1 (Operations), Security Forces Headquarters (West);

	 (k)	 Lieutenant Colonel Wickrama Dissanayakage 
Senadeera Sampath Fernando, USP SLE (O/65143) 
- To be appointed as Commanding Officer, 10 Sri 
Lanka Engineers (Reingforcement);

	 (l)	 Lieutenant Colonel Amarasinghe Mudiyanselage 
Pushpasiri Amarasinghe, RWP RSP USP psc VIR 
(O/65108) - To be appointed as General Staff Officer 1 
(Air Defence), Security Force Headquarters (Jaffna);

	 (m)	 Lieutenant Colonel Karuna Pathirannehelage 
Gamini Pushpakumara, SLEME (O/65147) - To be 
appointed as Commanding Officer, 1 Sri Lanka Army 
Womens Corps;

	 (n)	 Lieutenant Colonel Chamila Roshan Lahadasinghe, 
USP psc SLE (O/65165) - To be appointed as 
Commanding Officer, 3 Mechanized Infantry 
Regiment;

	 (o)	 Lieutenant Colonel Maharage Sampath Srilal 
Wickramaratne, USP psc CR (O/65171) - To be 
appointed as General Staff Officer 1 (Operations), 
Headquarters 21 Infantry Division;

	 (p)	 Lieutenant Colonel Wanigasooriya Mudiyanselage 
Madhawa Prasanna Wanigasooriya, USP psc 
SLE (O/65169) - To be appointed as Staff Officer 1 
(Administration and Quartering), Headquarters 65 
Infantry Division;

	 (q)	 Lieutenant Colonel Abeysinghe Mudiyanselage 
Rasitha Harsha Bandara Abeysinghe, USP Lsc 
AATO SLAOC (O/65107) - To be appointed as 
Commanding Officer, 1 Sri Lanka Army Ordnance 
Corps;
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	 (r)	 Lieutenant Colonel Dhammanthota Gedara 
Ekanayake Mudiyanselage Ruparathna Bandara 
Dhammanthota, psc SLE (O/65131) - To be 
appointed as General Staff Officer 1 (Coordinating), 
Headquarters 58 Infantry Division;

	 (s)	 Lieutenant Colonel Yommerengnga Seamon Hewage 
Nilantha Prasad Silva, USP psc GR (O/65178) - To 
be appointed as General Staff Officer 1 (Training), 
Directorate of Training, Army Headquarters;

	 (t)	 Lieutenant Colonel Senavirathna Mudiyanselage 
Nandana Kumara Bauddhasara Senavirathna, 
RWP RSP psc SF (O/65156) - To be appointed as 
General Staff Officer 1 (Additional), United Nations 
Cell, Directorate of Operations, Army Headquarters;

	 (u)	 Lieutenant Colonel Herath Mudiyanselage Lalith 
Chandrasiri, RSP USP psc CR (O/65128) - To be 
appointed as Staff Officer 1, Chief of Staff Office, 
Army Headquarters;

	 (v)	 Lieutenant Colonel Manamendra Patabandige 
Chandimalaka Niroshan Gunasena, Lsc CES 
(O/65125) - To be appointed as Commanding Officer, 
3 Sri Lanka Army Service Corps;

	 (w)	 Lieutenant Colonel Ranga Sameera Kadigamuwa, 
psc SLAC (O/65119) - To be appointed as Staff Officer 
1 (Administration and Quartering), Headquarters 66 
Infantry Division;

	 (x)	 Lieutenant Colonel Dembatagahawaththe Gedara 
Jagath Bandula Premalal Dembatagahawaththa, 
USP psc MIR (O/65148) - To be appointed as 
Commanding Officer, 1 Mechanized Infantry 
Regiment;

	 (y)	 Lieutenant Colonel Herath Mudiyanselage 
Daminda Rangana Herath, RSP USP psc CR 
(O/65182) - To be appointed as Sector Commander, 
Headquarters 14 Infantry Division;

	 (z)	 Lieutenant Colonel Rankothge Viraj Dissanayake, 
RWP USP psc SLSR (O/65136) - To be appointed as 
Staff Officer 1 (Administration), Regimental Centre 
Sri Lanka Army General Service Corps;

	(aa)	 Lieutenant Colonel Eramudu Made Gedara Nalin 
Samaranayake, psc IG SLA (O/65174) - To be 
appointed as Counter Bombardment Officer, Artillery 
Brigade;

	(ab)	 Lieutenant Colonel Sanjaya Prasad Athuldora 
Arachchi, RSP USP psc IG SLA (O/65112) - To 
be appointed as Staff Officer 1 (Administration and 
Quartering), Headquarters 68 Infantry Division;

	(ac)	 Lieutenant Colonel Idangodage Kumara Lanka 
Idangodage, USP Lsc SLEME (O/65114) - To be 
appointed as Commanding Officer, 2 Sri Lanka Corps 
of Military Police;

	(ad)	 Lieutenant Colonel Hetti Arachchige Nilantha 
Hettiarachchi, RSP USP psc GW (O/65184) - 
To be appointed as Staff Officer 1 (Administration 
and Quartering), Headquarters Overall Operation 
Command (Anuradhapura).

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

06th October, 2022.

12-239/6

No. 844 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/CONF/MAJ/22 (03).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Confirmation of rank approved by the President

The President has approved the Confirmation of the 
undermentioned Officers in the rank of Major with effect 
from dates shown against their names:

	 (1)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Alpitiye Vidana 
Ralalage Kumara Priyadarshana Rajawardhana, 
RWP RSP GW (O/66089) - 10.07.2018;

	 (2)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rathnayaka 
Mudiyanselage Dilruk Indika Rathnayake, 
SLAMC (O/68460) - 10.12.2018;

	 (3)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Migel Peduru Rahal 
Yasassri Fernando, SLAMC (O/67101) - 02.12.2019;
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	 (4)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Singha Vidurage 
Ruchira Somaweera, SLAMC (O/67912) - 
02.12.2019;

	 (5)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Eranda Senevirathne, 
SLAMC (O/68981) - 27.11.2020;

	 (6)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Sumudu Sandamalika 
Rathnaweera, SLAMC (O/68966) - 27.11.2020;

	 (7)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Weerathun Arachchige 
Dumindu Prabha Karunarathne, SLAMC 
(O/69644) - 27.11.2020;

	 (8)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Halloluwe Gedara 
Anjula Damith Warnakulasuriya, SLE (O/67891) 
- 24.03.2021;

	 (9)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Atuwagawa Gedara 
Prabash Karunarathne, SLSC (O/68679) - 
01.02.2021;

	(10)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Galwala Gamage 
Roshan Priyantha Wimalasena, SLAMC (O/68978) 
- 13.06.2021;

	(11)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Kosgoda Arachchillage 
Gihan Dhanushka Soomawickrama, SLAMC 
(O/68984) - 13.06.2021;

	(12)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Wiliyam Abeynandage 
Lahiru Sampath Abeynanda, SLAMC (O/69245) - 
13.06.2021;

	(13)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Walpita Kamkanamge 
Amali Shanika Perera, CES (O/68635) - 30.09.2021;

	(14)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Diunugalage Sangeeth 
Tharanga Diunugalage, Lsc SLEME (O/68640) - 
30.09.2021;

	(15)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Saparagamu Ralalage 
Rajitha Peiris, SLSC (O/68685) - 30.09.2021;

	(16)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Pathiraja 
Mudiyanselage Suneth Gihan, Lsc SLAGSC 
(O/68660) - 30.09.2021;

	(17)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Lekam Ralalage 
Mahesh Dhanushka Bandara Rathnayake, 
SLAGSC (O/68663) - 30.09.2021;

	(18)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Nandasenage Ranjith 
Sriyananda, SLAGSC (O/68664) - 30.09.2021;

	(19)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Deegala Mudiyanselage 
Nishantha Deepthi Bandara Deegala, SLAGSC 
(O/68665) - 30.09.2021;

	(20)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Seekku Hewage Udaya 
Chaminda Silva, SLAGSC (O/68666) - 15.10.2021;

	(21)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Sooriyapperuma 
Arachchige Prasad Chathuranga 
Sooriyapperuma, SLAGSC (O/68667) - 15.10.2021;

	(22)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Agalakada Dirappili 
Hewage Dilan Darshana Bandusena, RWP SF 
(O/66867) - 02.01.2022;

	(23)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Thotawatta Batage 
Amila Tharanga Thotawatta, psc SLAC (O/66868) 
- 02.01.2022;

	(24)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Bammanna Ralalage 
Lucky Kumara Ranasinghe, MIR (O/66869) - 
02.01.2022;

	(25)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rodrigolage Roshan 
Indika, psc SLE (O/66870) - 02.01.2022;

	(26)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rathnayake 
Arachchilage Asanka Kumara Rathnayake, psc 
SLA (O/66871) - 02.01.2022;

	(27)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Udagedara Chanaka 
Madushanka Premakumara, RWP SLLI (O/66877) 
- 02.01.2022;

	(28)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Visal Malinga 
Rupasinghe, psc CR (O/66878) - 02.01.2022;

	(29)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ranathunga 
Arachchilage Tharindu Sampath Ranathunga, 
SF (O/66879) - 02.01.2022;

	(30)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Katukurunda 
Kanaththage Rishi Kavinga Katukurunda, VIR 
(O/66875) - 02.01.2022;

	(31)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Kahandawa 
Mudiyanselage Sameera Saman Kumara 
Kahandawa, RSP psc CR (O/66881) - 02.01.2022;

	(32)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ranasinghe 
Arachchige Darshana Amila Ranasinghe, RWP 
psc SF (O/66882) - 02.01.2022;

	(33)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ekanayaka 
Mudiyanselage Udaha Walawwe Ravindra 
Bandara Boyagoda, VIR (O/67338) - 02.01.2022;

	(34)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rathnayaka 
Mudiyanselage Gayan Lasantha Rathnayaka, RSP 
SLA (O/66885) - 02.01.2022;

	(35)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Kuda Vidanalage 
Suranjan Somarathne, RSP psc SF (O/66888) - 
02.01.2022;
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	(36)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Wanninayake 
Mudiyanselage Aruna Santha Wanninayake, CR 
(O/66890) - 02.01.2022;

	(37)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rupassarage Palitha 
Mahanama Senaviratne, MIR (O/66892) - 
02.01.2022;

	(38)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Isuru Chathuranga 
Wijedoru, RSP GW (O/66893) - 02.01.2022;

	(39)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Manangoda Gedara 
Janitha Sri Manangoda, RWP psc SF (O/66895) - 
02.01.2022;

	(40)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ambalanpitiyage Viyath 
Maduranga Ambalanpitiya, psc SLA (O/66897) - 
02.01.2022;

	(41)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Sri Chandrasekara 
Mudiyanselage Athula Bandara Chandrasekara, 
RSP GR (O/66898) - 02.01.2022;

	(42)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rajapakshage Manoj 
Eranda Rajapaksha, RSP VIR (O/66900) - 
02.01.2022;

	(43)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ekanayake Kamkanamge 
Dilan Rumesh Ekanayaka, RSP SLSR (O/66901) - 
02.01.2022;

	(44)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Karunage Mahesh 
Iroshan Ariyarathna, RSP SLSR (O/66907) - 
02.01.2022;

	(45)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Prasanga Sameera 
Menaka Welagedara, CR (O/66915) - 02.01.2022;

	(46)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Uduwaka Lekamlage 
Hasitha Indunil Bandara, psc GR (O/66920) - 
02.01.2022;

	(47)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Kasun Dinusha 
Athukorala  Dahanayake, SLSR (O/67854) - 
02.01.2022;

	(48)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Garihinge Dasun 
Priyadarshana Garusinghe, psc SLAC (O/67965) - 
30.01.2022;

	(49)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Manikkuge Nuwan 
Randika Chandrathilaka Silva, psc SLAC 
(O/67966) - 30.01.2022;

	(50)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Thennakoon 
Mudiyanselage Asanka Sampath Senevirathne, 
SLE (O/67967) - 30.01.2022;

	(51)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Liyana Lekamge 
Pradeep Kumara, psc SLA (O/67968) - 30.01.2022;

	(52)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Damith Tharanga 
Liyanage, psc GW (O/67799) - 30.01.2022;

	(53)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Dissanayake 
Mudiyanselage Sudeera Hayasineth Dissanayake, 
psc MIR (O/67800) - 30.01.2022;

	(54)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Dhanasekara 
Mudiyanselage Udayanga Rukmal Bandara, psc 
SF (O/67801) - 30.01.2022;

	(55)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Herath Mudiyanselage 
Ajith Gunathilaka Herath, psc GW (O/67802) - 
30.01.2022;

	(56)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Siddha Rupage Milindu 
Priyankara Kularathne, psc SLAC (O/67803) - 
30.01.2022;

	(57)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Asurappulige Dilusha 
Madushan Aththanayake, psc SLLI (O/67806) - 
30.01.2022;

	(58)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Yapa Appuhamilage 
Asela Madusanka Yapa, psc MIR (O/67807) - 
30.01.2022;

	(59)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Abeysinghe 
Mudiyanselage Neranjan Wijebandara, psc GR 
(O/67808) - 30.01.2022;

	(60)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ashan Dhananjaya 
Edirisuriya, psc VIR (O/67809) - 30.01.2022;

	(61)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Jayathungage 
Wasantha Kumara Jayathunga, psc SLE (O/67810) 
- 30.01.2022;

	(62)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rathnayake 
Mudiyanselage Sulakshan Gihan Kumara, SLLI 
(O/67811) - 30.01.2022;

	(63)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Ran Mudalige Anushka 
Prathiba Paluwila, VIR (O/67812) - 30.01.2022;

	(64)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Weerasinghe 
Pathirannehelage Sameera Sampath Weerasinghe, 
VIR (O/67813) - 30.01.2022;

	(65)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Rajapaksha 
Karunanayake Suriya Bandara Arachchilage 
Anura Bandara, psc GR (O/67815) - 30.01.2022;

	(66)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Wadu Mestrige Suneth 
Rukshantha Somapala, psc CR (O/67816) - 
30.01.2022;
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	(67)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Balasooriya 
Arachchige Dileep Kumara, GW (O/67819) - 
30.01.2022;

	(68)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Gardihewa Telan 
Padmendra Fonseka, SLSR (O/67820) - 30.01.2022;

	(69)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Fransiskudura Tilan 
Madura Silva, psc SLLI (O/67821) - 30.01.2022;

	(70)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Manannalage Pushpika 
Madusanka Samarathunga, psc SLAC (O/67824) - 
30.01.2022;

	(71)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Hewa Pathiranage 
Sameera Munasinghe, psc SLSC (O/67825) - 
30.01.2022;

	(72)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Vithana Appuhamilage 
Don Jude Dhanushka Vithana, RWP psc SLLI 
(O/66889) - 30.01.2022;

	(73)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Eliyala Mudiyanselage 
Sudeera Senanjaya Narampanawa, MIR (O/67826) 
- 30.01.2022;

	(74)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Imbulana Liyanage 
Buddhi Devinda Rathnasiri, SLSR (O/67828) - 
30.01.2022;

	(75)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Roopaningal Prabath 
Rathna Kumara de Silva, GW (O/67829) - 
30.01.2022;

	(76)	 Captain (Temporary Major) Mahawedikkara 
Muhamdiram Ralalage Krishan Chaminda 
Jayathilaka, psc MIR (O/67831) - 30.01.2022;

	(77)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster)  
Ranasinghe Mudiyanselage Lakshman Ranasinghe 
Bandara, SLAMC (O/66389) - 29.10.2019;

	(78)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Kedangamuwe Gedara Sisira Kumara Nandasiri, 
USP SLE (O/67037) - 09.09.2020;

	(79)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster)  
Karawgahange Gedara Piyaralalage Prasad 
Ilangarathna Bandara, USP SLAMC (O/67550) - 
22.06.2021;

	(80)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) Kuruppu 
Achchillage Sarathchandra, SLAMC (O/67533) 
- 22.06.2021;

	(81)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Chaminda Lal Jayasinghe, SLAMC (O/67556) - 
22.06.2021;

	(82)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) Kutti 
Vidanaarachchige Rajitha Hiran Amaraweera, 
USP SLAMC (O/67557) - 22.06.2021;

	(83)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Uyangoda Ganhewa Kankanamge Senarathne, 
RSP GW (O/67560) - 22.06.2021;

	(84)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Kodithuwakku Kankanamge Dammika Prasad 
Kumara, SLAMC (O/67564) - 22.06.2021;

	(85)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) Henaka 
Rallage Darshana Saman Premachandra, USP 
SLSR (O/67576) - 22.06.2021;

	(86)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) Samara 
Manannalage Sarath Ananda Samaranayake, 
RWP RSP GW (O/67584) - 22.06.2021;

	(87)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Kumbukge Udaya Wijewardena, SLA (O/67585) - 
22.06.2021;

	(88)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Kankanam Arachchilage Ajith Sriyalal, GR 
(O/67590) - 22.06.2021;

	(89)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Srinarayana Dharmakeerthi Abeykoon Wasala 
Mudiyanselage Monte Senevirathne, SLSC 
(O/67592) - 22.06.2021;

	(90)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Rupasinghege Nishantha Namal Anuruddha, 
SLLI (O/67598) - 22.06.2021;

	(91)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) 
Jaburutugoda Gamachchige Pradeepkumara, 
SLAMC (O/67606) - 22.06.2021;

	(92)	 Captain (Temporary Major) (Quartermaster) Sunanda 
Srilal Ariyadasa  Udaratage, SLA (O/67618) - 
22.06.2021.

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

07th October, 2022.

12-239/7
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No. 845 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/PRO/MAJ/22 (14).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Promotion approved by the President

The Honourable President has approved the Promotion of 
undermentioned Officers’ to the rank of Temporary Major 
with effect from the dates stated against their names:

	 (1)	 Captain Weerathanthirige Lasantha Sampath 
Dias, SLAMC (O/67477) - 09th March, 2014;

	 (2)	 Captain Kasthuri Arachchige Amila Viraj 
Gunarathne, SLEME (O/68286) - 02nd January, 
2018;

	 (3)	 Captain Balasuriya Mohotti Appuhamilage Nikila 
Vibhavi Gunathilake, GR (O/66886) - 23rd March, 
2018;

	 (4)	 Captain Akmeemana Obada Mudalige Udayapala, 
RSP GW (O/67287) - 14th January, 2019;

	 (5)	 Captain Wickramasekara Arachchige Don Kasun 
Gihan Wickramasekara, SLLI (O/68580) - 14th 
January, 2019;

	 (6)	 Captain Nishantha Nanayakkara, CES (O/68778) - 
01st June, 2019;

	 (7)	 Captain Kadumadina Gedara Chandana Priyantha 
Kumara, VIR (O/67698) - 07th January, 2020;

	 (8)	 Captain Meda Gedara Roshan Lahiru Sampath, 
SLLI (O/67756) - 07th January, 2020;

	 (9)	 Captain Herath Mudiyanselage Nilupa Nadeesha 
Premajayantha, SLAGSC (O/70252) - 08th March, 
2020;

	(10)	 Captain Hewa Meeallage Chanaka Rumesh 
Prageeth Kumara Meeallage, CES (O/69546) - 
01st June, 2020;

	(11)	 Captain Ambalanduwa Kankanamge Gayan Isuru 
Hemantha Ambalanduwa, MIR (O/69192) - 09th 
January, 2021;

	(12)	 Captain Tharindu Madawala Liyanage, SLE 
(O/69198) - 23rd March, 2021;

	(13)	 Captain Dassanayake Mudiyanselage Dinusha 
Buddika Sampath Dassanayake, SLLI (O/67307) - 
01st June, 2021;

	(14)	 Captain Malaweera Arachchige Nayanath 
Jayathilake, SLE (O/66726) - 01st June, 2021;

	(15)	 Captain Dilan Randika Henda Vitharana, MIR 
(O/68135) - 01st June, 2021;

	(16)	 Captain Mallawa Arachchige Dinesh Jayalal, 
SLAC (O/67163) - 01st June, 2021;

	(17)	 Captain Nawarathnalage Saman Ranjith, MIR 
(O/67446) - 01st June, 2021;

	(18)	 Captain Bodudura Chithra Manoj Krishantha De 
Silva, RSP SLLI (O/67526) - 01st June, 2021;

	(19)	 Captain Thilanka Tharaka Ubeysinghe 
Jayawardane, SLLI (O/67950) - 01st June, 2021;

	(20)	 Captain Muhamdiramlage Indika Prasad 
Gunarathne, RWP GR (O/67766) - 01st June, 2021;

	(21)	 Captain Loku Gamage Nishantha, SLLI (O/67688) 
- 01st June, 2021;

	(22)	 Captain Ilangasinghe Mudiyanselage Janaka 
Illangasinghe, VIR (O/68402) - 01st June, 2021;

	(23)	 Captain Weerasingha Mudiyanselage Amal 
Sanjeth Karunarathne, RWP RSP GR (O/68410) - 
01st June, 2021;

	(24)	 Captain Tharaka Dulaj Wijerathne, SLLI 
(O/68259) - 01st June, 2021;

	(25)	 Captain Sahabandu Muhamdiramge Don 
Kadupulmal Vijayaba Weerabahu, GW (O/69534) 
- 01st June, 2021;

	(26)	 Captain Urapola Mudalige Udith Kalpana 
Jayawardhana, SLCMP (O/69458) - 06th January, 
2022;

	(27)	 Captain Sidath Sampath Samaranayake, VIR 
(O/69451) - 12th March, 2022;

	(28)	 Captain Rubasin Siriwardhene Miyuru Gayan 
Siriwardhene, SLAGSC (O/69892) - 12th March, 
2022;

	(29)	 Captain Kamalaweerage Dilan Salinda, CES 
(O/69582) - 12th March, 2022;

	(30)	 Captain Senanayake Haputhanthrige Kasun 
Danushka Senanayake, SLAC (O/69955) - 12th 
March, 2022;

	(31)	 Captain Wanigasekara Mudiyanselage Jayampathi 
Udayasiri Bandara, RWP RSP SF (O/66430) - 01st 
June, 2022;
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	(32)	 Captain Jayaweerage Chaminda, USP SLAC 
(O/66579) - 01st June, 2022;

	(33)	 Captain Dissanayaka Mudiyanselage Vijitha 
Ruwan Kumara, USP SLA (O/66754) - 01st June, 
2022;

	(34)	 Captain Batadola Gamage Thushara Premalal, 
RWP RSP USP SF (O/67154) - 01st June, 2022;

	(35)	 Captain Willagamage Kalinga Sameera Perera, 
SLSR (O/68592) - 01st June, 2022;

	(36)	 Captain Arjun Indika Vithanage, SLLI (O/68600) - 
01st June, 2022;

	(37)	 Captain Pattiyage Imalsha Nadeeshan Gomas, SLA 
(O/68277) - 01st June, 2022;

	(38)	 Captain Meegahakumbura Waththe Danushka 
Rumesh Ranasinghe, MIR (O/67935) - 01st June, 
2022;

	(39)	 Captain Amandoru Galappaththige Gayan Rukmal 
Galappaththi, MI (O/69835) - 01st June, 2022;

	(40)	 Captain Abeysinghe Mudiyanselage Upashantha 
Priyalal Weerasoma, USP SLA (O/67124) - 01st 
June, 2022;

	(41)	 Captain Senevirathna Mudiyanselage Ruwan 
Thilaka Senevirathne, SLSR (O/67633) - 01st June, 
2022;

	(42)	 Captain Banjana Yaddessalage Jagath 
Premakumara, SLSR (O/67727) - 01st June, 2022;

	(43)	 Captain Konara Mudiyanselage Duminda 
Subhashana Somarathne, CR (O/69024) - 01st 
June, 2022;

	(44)	 Captain Arambelage Amila Kaushalya Perera, 
SLSC (O/69093) - 01st June, 2022;

	(45)	 Captain Kandage Malaka Isurupriya Perera, GW 
(O/69614) - 01st June, 2022;

	(46)	 Captain Amila Sisitha Welathanthri, SLSC 
(O/66350) - 01st June, 2022;

	(47)	 Captain Don Nadeera Shanaka Dissanayake, SLSC 
(O/70561) - 01st June, 2022;

	(48)	 Captain Meedeniyage Chathura Udayanga 
Dassanayake, SLAMC (O/69887) - 01st June, 2022;

	(49)	 Captain Podapelage Chameera Lakmal 
Subharathna, GR (O/69927) - 07th July, 2022;

	(50)	 Captain Marasinghe Mudiyanselage Manori 
Kaushalya Marasinghe, SLAWC (O/69418) - 07th 
July, 2022;

	(51)	 Captain Kumarage Tharindu Malaka Kumarage, 
CR (O/69670) - 12th July, 2022;

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

06th October, 2022.

12-239/8

No. 846 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/PRO/MAJ/22 (13).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Promotion approved by the President

The President has approved the promotion of 
undermentioned Officer’s to the rank of Temporary Major 
with effect from the dates stated against their names:

	 1.	 Captain Wedin Pullige Tasith Harinda Pathirana, 
SLSC (O/69737) - 01st September, 2022;

	 2.	 Captain Sandun Harsha Kumara Weerasinghe, 
CES (O/69950) - 12th September, 2022;

	 3.	 Captain Lachintha Wijenayaka, CES (O/71212) - 
27th September, 2022.

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

06th October, 2022.

12-239/9
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No. 847 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/COM/CDT/22 (13).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Commissions approved by the President

The President has pleased to approve the Commissioning 
of the undermentioned Officer Cadets as Second Lieutenants 
in the Regular Force of the Sri Lanka Army with effect from 
23.09.2018 in their posting to the Corps stated below their 
names with effect from the same date.

C/85529 Officer Cadet Pinindu Induwara Narangoda, 
Sri Lanka Engineers;

C/85530 Officer Cadet Sameera Madhushanka Amith, 
Corps of Engineer Services.

By order of the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

31st October, 2022.

12-239/10

No. 848 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/R/COM/CDT/22 (14).

sri  lanka  army—regular  force

Commissions approved by the President

The President has pleased to approve the Commissioning 
of the undermentioned Officer Cadets as Second Lieutenants 
in the Regular Force of the Sri Lanka Army with effect from 
23.09.2018 in their posting to the Regiment/Corp stated 
under their names with effect from the same date.

C/85617 Officer Cadet Kande Gedara Hasitha Dilshan 
Ranathunga, Sri Lanka Electrical & Mechanical Engineers 
Corps;

C/85748 Officer Cadet Sella Hewa Wijethunge 
Patabandige Praveen Sudharaka De Silva, Sri Lanka Sinha 
Regiment.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

26th October, 2022.

12-239/11

No. 849 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/V/PRO/LT COL/22 (04).

sri  lanka  army—volunteer  force

Promotion of Temporary Rank approved by the 
President

The President has approved the Promotion of 
undermentioned Senior Officers to the rank of Temporary 
Lieutenant Colonel of the Sri Lanka Army Volunteer Force 
with effect from 10th October, 2022:

(a) Major Rathnayaka Mudiyanselage Anura 
Bandara Herath, SLNG (O/4801);

(b) Major Ariyasingha Ujitha Priyantha, RSP SLAC 
(O/5055);

(c) Major Marakkalage Nandana Krisan Kumara, 
RSP GR (O/5649);

(d) Major Liyangahamade Gedara Rohana Pushpa 
Kumara Wimalasena, MI (O/5655);

(e) Major Galagedara Srinath Susantha Galagedara, 
SLNG (O/5657).

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
06th October, 2022.

12-239/12
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No. 850 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/V/PRO/MAJ/22 (03).

sri  lanka  army—volunteer  force

Promotion approved by the President

The President has approved the promotion of 
undermentioned Officers to the rank of Temporary Major 
with effect from the dates shown against their names:

	 (a)	 Captain Punchihewage Thushara Niroshana, 
SLNG (O/6764) 28.02.2018;

	 (b)	 Captain Susew Hewage Sankalpa Kumarasinghe, 
SLNG (O/6184) 20.12.2018;

	 (c)	 Captain Buddhika Chathuranga Rajapaksha, SLLI 
(O/8560) 02.01.2020;

	 (d)	 Captain Rajapaksha Mudiyanselage Suranga 
Indika Dasanayaka, VIR (O/8693) 01.06.2020;

	 (e)	 Captain Shihara Hendri Sahabandu, SLAWC 
(O/8355) 01.06.2020;

	 (f)	 Captain Chamila Hemantha Mathagaweera, SLLI 
(O/8608) 15.09.2020;

	 (g)	 Captain Dissanayaka Mudiyanselage Mangala 
Prasad Wickrama Dissanayaka, SLACAL (O/9221) 
21.12.2020;

	 (h)	 Captain Disanayaka Mudiyanselage Janaka Nuwan 
Abeykoon, SLNG (O/8933) 21.12.2020;

	 (i)	 Captain Malala Aloka Bandaralage Thilini 
Nirmala Kumari Aloka Bandara, SLAWC 
(O/8358) 21.12.2020;

	 (j)	 Captain Weerasekara Mudiyanselage Madura 
Priyantha Ekanayake Bandara, CES (O/7313) 
01.06.2021;

	 (k)	 Captain Weerakoon Arachchige Aroshana 
Weerakoon, SLNG (O/6934) 01.06.2021;

	 (l)	 Captain Udawela Gedara Sunil Kumara 
Rajapaksha, SLNG (O/7450) 01.06.2021;

	 (m)	 Captain Anguluwe Gedara Upali Mahinda Tikiri 
Bandara, SLNG (O/7502) 01.06.2021;

	 (n)	 Captain Indika Wasantha Kumara Egodage, GW 
(O/7582) 01.06.2021;

	 (o)	 Captain Jayathilakage Rathnasiri, SLNG (O/7633) 
01.06.2021;

	 (p)	 Captain Santhage Karunarathne, SLNG (O/6941) 
01.06.2021;

	 (q)	 Captain Weerasinghe Mudiyanselage Priyankara 
Weerasinghe, GR (O/8729) 25.06.2021;

	 (r)	 Captain Kadinappuli Hewage Duminda 
Pushpakumara, SLAGSC (O/8732) 25.06.2021;

	 (s)	 Captain Kodippilige Nuwan Priyankara, SLSR 
(O/9797) 25.06.2021;

	 (t)	 Captain Sajith Manawasinghe Punchihewa, GW 
(O/9823) 25.06.2021;

	 (u)	 Captain Warnasuriya Ilangasinghe Mudiyanselage 
Kosala Sampath Ilangasingha, SLNG (O/9844) 
25.06.2021;

	 (v)	 Captain Kandage Prasad Lakmal, GW (O/9855) 
25.06.2021;

	 (w)	 Captain Samaradiwakarage Don Dinesh 
Sandaruwan Bandaranayaka, CES (O/8314) 
25.06.2021;

	 (x)	 Captain Chanduka Chiranthana Mudannayake, 
SLRC (O/9795) 05.07.2021;

	 (y)	 Captain Rathnayaka Mudiyanselage Tharanga 
Deshapriya Bandara, CES (O/9816) 27.12.2021;

	 (z)	 Captain Jayamanna Wedage Sunanda Sampath 
Jayamanna, SLAPC (O/9829) 27.12.2021;

	(aa)	 Captain Sunil Shanthage Manoj Maduranga 
Herath, SLLI (O/9877) 27.12.2021;

	(ab)	 Captain Hitihami Mudiyanselage Nalin 
Chathuranga Bandara, SLNG (O/9848) 
07.03.2022;

	(ac)	 Captain Diddeni Gamage Udeni Diddeniya, 
SLAGSC (O/10198) 07.03.2022;

	(ad)	 Captain Patuwatha Withanage Jeewani Madhusha 
Kariyawasam, SLAGSC (O/10208) 07.03.2022;

	(ae)	 Captain Agarage Chaminda Nanayakkara, CES 
(O/6736) 01.06.2022;

	 (af)	 Captain Gaspe Mudiyanselage Karunarathne, 
SLE (O/7000) 01.06.2022;

	(ag)	 Captain Singappuli Arachchige Don Thilak 
Wasantha Wimalasiri, SLLI (O/6922) 01.06.2022;

	(ah)	 Captain Mohamad Subair Usham, SLAGSC 
(O/10536) 01.06.2022;

	 (ai)	 Captain Suduweli Kondage Lahiru Dinesh, 
SLEME (O/9186) 01.06.2022;

	 (aj)	 Captain Fransiscu Hettige Rajith Suranga Silva, 
SLA (O/8672) 01.06.2022;
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	(ak)	 Captain Idan Gedara Nuwan Kumara Idangedara, 
VIR (O/8738) 01.06.2022;

	 (al)	 Captain Warnasooriya Mudiyanselage Udaya 
Kumarasiri, GR (O/8968) 01.06.2022;

	(am)	 Captain Painda Karayalage Tharaka Priyankara 
Jayasinghe, SLAGSC (O/9805) 01.06.2022;

	(an)	 Captain Paththiye Gedara Janaka Chethiya 
Thilaka Karunarathna, GR (O/9840) 01.06.2022;

	(ao)	 Captain Kosgahagoda Durage Damith Perera, 
GW (O/9841) 01.06.2022;

	(ap)	 Captain Hewa Palihakkara Mathara Gamage 
Bhathiya Malinda Palihakkara, SLNG (O/9881) 
01.06.2022;

	(aq)	 Captain Koku Hennadige Dushan Nilanga, 
SLAGSC (O/10514) 12.06.2022;

	(ar)	 Captain Arjuna Shaminda Lakshitha Rajapakshe, 
SLAGSC (O/10516) 12.06.2022;

	(as)	 Captain Handunge Janith Asanka Perera, CES 
(O/10192) 02.07.2022;

	 (at)	 Captain Kurupanawala Makulande Wijekoon 
Mudiyanselage Thilina Dushantha Wijekoon, 
SLRC (O/9875) 02.07.2022;

	(au)	 Captain Thewaraj Moorthy Stanley Shashidaran, 
SLNG (O/9876) 02.07.2022;

	(av)	 Captain Waidyarathna Arachchige Susil Roshana 
Abeyrathna, GW (O/9886) 02.07.2022;

	(aw)	 Captain Dasanayaka Mudiyanselage Rangana 
Thusitha Kumara Dasanayaka, VIR (O/8682) 
02.07.2022;

	(ax)	 Captain Liyana Athukoralalage Saman Kokila 
Rajakaruna, SLNG (O/8730) 02.07.2022;

	(ay)	 Captain Admabarage Kumudu Kumar de Alwis, 
GW (O/9852) 02.07.2022;

	(az)	 Captain Gihan Madhusanka Kolambage, MI 
(O/10217) 02.07.2022;

	(ba)	 Captain Attanayaka Mudiyanselage Sumudu 
Rohan Attanayake, SLSR (O/10561) 02.07.2022;

	(bb)	 Captain Suduweli Kandage Chamith Lasantha 
Dharmapriya, SLRC (O/10223) 02.07.2022;

	(bc)	 Captain Guruge Nilanga Chamara, SLE (O/10224) 
02.07.2022;

	(bd)	 Captain Weerasinghe Arachchilage Janaka 
Sampath Weerasinghe, MIR (O/10226) 02.07.2022;

	(be)	 Captain Godawaththa Liyanage Lahiru 
Thakshana, SLAC (O/10562) 02.07.2022;

	 (bf)	 Captain Happitiya Kariyakarage Anura Wasantha, 
SLEME (O/10228) 02.07.2022;

	(bg)	 Captain Herath Mudiyanselage Rajitha Lakmal 
Herath, VIR (O/10230) 02.07.2022;

	(bh)	 Captain Weliarawa Mudiyanselage Lalith 
Bandara Weliarawa, SLNG (O/10231) 02.07.2022;

	 (bi)	 Captain Haputhanthirige Don Nadeesha Eranga, 
SLAPC (O/10233) 02.07.2022;

	 (bj)	 Captain Samarakoon Mudiyanselage Rumesh 
Priyajanaka Dissanayake, SLAGSC (O/10235) 
02.07.2022;

	(bk)	 Captain Dissanayaka Mudiyanselage Chathuranga 
Manjula Rathnayaka, VIR (O/10238) 02.07.2022;

	 (bl)	 Captain Nanayakkara Wellalage Udara Hithesha, 
VIR (O/10239) 02.07.2022;

	(bm)	 Captain Wickrama Arachchige Amila Chanaka 
Wickramaarachchi, CES (O/10242) 02.07.2022;

	(bn)	 Captain Kahatapitiye Kankanamalage 
Kumarasinghe Perera, SLAPC (O/10244) 
02.07.2022;

	(bo)	 Captain Seshan Dilina Horawala Withana, CES 
(O/10246) 02.07.2022;

	(bp)	 Captain Liyanage Amila Eranda Peiris, SLNG 
(O/10249) 02.07.2022;

	(bq)	 Captain Kumud Ramitha Athukorala, CES 
(O/10254) 02.07.2022;

	(br)	 Captain Dissanayake Mudiyanselage Gayani Ishara 
Herath, SLAGSC (O/10513) 02.07.2022;

	(bs)	 Captain Ajith Sandanayaka Ruwanpura, GR 
(O/7046) 12.07.2022;

By order of the President,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
06th October, 2022.

12-239/13
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No. 851 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/01/V/COM/WO/22 (04).

sri  lanka  army—volunteer  force

Commissioning and Posting of Warrant Officers 
approved by the President

Commissioning and Posting

The President has approved the commissioning of the 
undermentioned Warrant Officers in the rank of Lieutenant 
(Quartermaster - General Duties/Technical) in the Volunteer 
Force of the Sri Lanka Army in the Order of Seniority and 
their posting to the Regiments/Corps as stated against their 
names with effect from 14th December, 2021:

(a) Warrant Officer I Liyanage Jeewan Prasad 
Deshapriya - Sri Lanka Signals Corps (General Duties);

(b) Warrant Officer I Suchandaka Harindu Wijekoon 
- Military Intelligence Corps (General Duties);

(c) Warrant Officer I Susantha Kumara Thilakarathna 
- The Gajaba Regiment (General Duties);

(d) Warrant Officer I Jayakodi Arachchilage 
Rishantha Manjula - Sri Lanka Army Ordnance Corps 
(General Duties);

(e) Warrant Officer I Egoda Gedara Jagath 
Arunashantha Karunarathna - Sri Lanka Light Infantry 
(General Duties);

(f) Warrant Officer I Kalukumara Mudiyanselage 
Dhammika Sisira Kumara - The Vijayabahu Infantry 
Regiment (General Duties);

(g) Warrant Officer I Munasinghe Dewage Samarasiri 
Munasinghe - Sri Lanka Signals Corps (General Duties);

(h) Warrant Officer I Waththe Gedara Wijekoon 
Banda - Military Intelligence Corps (General Duties);

(i) Warrant Officer I Megoda Gedara Samantha 
Kumara Ilukkumbura - Sri Lanka Army Medical Corps 
(General Duties);

(j) Warrant Officer I Ihala Aguru Baddage Chaminada 
Jayalath Buddika - Corps of Engineer Services (General 
Duties);

(k) Warrant Officer I Siriwardhana Gunathilakalage 
Sanka Udayanga - Military Intelligence Corps (General 
Duties);

(l) Warrant Officer I Punchibandage Hemantha 
Kumara - Sri Lanka National Guard (General Duties);

(m) Warrant Officer I Muthukuda Walauwe 
Ariyasekara Dissanayaka, KSP - Sri  Lanka Army Medical 
Corps (General Duties);

(n) Warrant Officer I Yapa Mudiyanselage Ajith 
Kumara Yapa - Sri Lanka National Guard (General Duties);

(o) Warrant Officer I Rathnayaka Mudiyanselage 
Gayan Asela Rathnayaka - Sri Lanka National Guard 
(General Duties);

(p) Warrant Officer I Herath Mudiyanselage Damith 
Senarathna Bandara - Sri Lanka National Guard (General 
Duties);

(q) Warrant Officer I Dahanaka Rallage Indika Saman 
Weerasinghe - Sri Lanka National Guard (General Duties);

(r) Warrant Officer I Dissanayaka Mudiyanselage 
Gunasena - Sri Lanka Army Service Corps (General 
Duties);

(s) Warrant Officer I Rathnayake Mudiyanselage 
Appuhami Arachchilage Janaka Rathnayake - Sri Lanka 
Light Infantry (General Duties);

(t) Warrant Officer I Rajapaksha Mudiyanselage Saman 
Dhammika Rajapaksha - Corps of Engineer Services 
(Technical);

(u) Warrant Officer I Salpadoru Mudiyanselage 
Gunapala, KSP - Sri Lanka Light Infantry (General Duties);

(v) Warrant Officer I Thepuwanasinghe Mudiyanselage 
Chaminda Jeewantha Kumara - Sri Lanka Electrical & 
Mechanical Engineers (Technical);

(w) Warrant Officer I Weerasinghe Gedara Nihal 
Weerasinghe - Sri Lanka National Guard (General Duties);

(x) Warrant Officer I Abharana Dewayalage 
Dharmapala - Sri Lanka Army Service Corps (General 
Duties)

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
01st September, 2022.

12-239/14
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No. 852 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/3/22 (04).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 23rd December, 
2022 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Rear Admiral (S) Ambey Pitiyage Nishantha De Silva, 
USP SLN NRS 0355.

By President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
10th November, 2022.

12-238/1

No. 853 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/3/2022 (10-11).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Rear Admiral with effect from 
12th October, 2022:

Commodore Nissanka Mudiyanselage Janaka 
Duminda Nissanka, RWP, RSP, USP, ndu, nswc SLN NRX 
0565;

To the Rank of Temporary Rear Admiral with effect from 
21st October, 2022:

Commodore Konara Mudiyanselage Gamagedara 
Nalin Chaminda Navarathne, RSP, USP, ndu, psc SLN 
NRX 0641.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/2

No. 854 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/04/2022 (04).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 11th November, 
2022 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commodore Kasiwatta Kankanamge Isira Uditha 
Kasiwatta, RSP SLN NRX 0652.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
13th October, 2022.

12-238/3
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No. 855 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/03/22 (03).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 03rd December, 
2022 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commodore (E) Konara Mudiyanselage Damsiri 
Seneviratne, USP SLN NRE 1011.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
11th October, 2022.

12-238/4

No. 856 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/4/2022 (15).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commodore (L) with effect from 
10th August, 2022:

Captain (L) Ruwan Kumara Wettasinghe, RSP USP 
SLN NRL 0784.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
17th October, 2022.

12-238/5

No. 857 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/4/2022/(14).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commodore with effect from 
02nd September, 2022:

Captain (TAS) Mullila Ralalage Jayantha Kithsiri 
Bandara, RWP, RSP*** USP, SLN NRX 0906.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
19th October, 2022.

12-238/6

No. 858 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/4/2022 (15-16).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commodore with effect from 
12th October, 2022:

Captain (ASW) Athbandanage Indika Priyantha De 
Silva, RWP, RSP*, psc SLN NRX 0914;

To the Rank of Temporary Commodore with effect from 
21st October, 2022:

Captain (N) Nimal Ranasinghe, RSP, USP, psc SLN 
NRX 0910.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
26th October, 2022.

12-238/7
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No. 859 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/5/2022/(5).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 08th November, 
2022 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Captain (C) Pattiya Gamaralalage Janaka 
Chandralal Samaranayake, RWP, RSP**, psc SLN NRX 
0911.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
11th October, 2022.

12-238/8

No. 860 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/06/2022/(17).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 24th November, 
2022 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commander (S) Karunakalage Kapila Nayanajith 
Pushpakumara, USP, psn, psc SLN NRS 1254.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
02nd November, 2022.

12-238/9

No. 861 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/06/2022/(18-19).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 01st December, 
2022 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commander (L) Kushan Venook Bogahawatte, SLN 
NRL 1757.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/10

No. 862 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/06/2022 (20-22).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 01st February, 
2023 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commander (INF) Ratnayake Mudiyanselage 
Thusitha Kumara, RSP, USP SLN NRI 1267.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
10th November, 2022.

12-238/11
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No. 863 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/06/2022 (20-22).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 01st February, 
2023 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commander (E) Udugama Koralalage Buddhi 
Danushka Wijesinghe, SLN NRE 2238.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
10th November, 2022.

12-238/12

No. 864 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/06/2022 (18-19).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 28th February, 
2023 and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same 
date:

Commander (S) Ranasinghe Morapitiya, SLN NRS 
1452.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/13

No. 865 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/06/2022 (20-22).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Regular Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 22nd March, 2023 
and transfer to the Regular Naval Reserve on the same date:

Commander (INF) Rathu Waduge Ranjee Nimalsiri, 
USP, SLN NRI 0998.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
10th November, 2022.

12-238/14

No. 866 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/6/2022 (76).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commander (Marine) with effect 
from 01st October, 2022:

Lieutenant Commander (Marine) Siribaddana 
Kankanam Gamage Wasantha, SLN NRY 1287.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
03rd November, 2022.

12-238/15



I fldgi : (I) fPoh ‑ YS% ,xld m%cd;dka;s%l iudcjd§ ckrcfha .eiÜ m;%h ‑ 2022'12'09

PART  I :  SEC.  (I) – GAZETTE OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA – 09.12.2022
1792

No. 867 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/6/2022 (69).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commander (SBS) with effect 
from 01st October, 2022:

Lieutenant Commander (SBS) Pavithra Chamara 
Prasangana Ahangama Liyanage, RSP***** SLN NRZ 
1694.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
03rd November, 2022.

12-238/16

No. 868 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/6/2022 (71-72).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotions approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commander (S) with effect from 
01st October, 2022:

Lieutenant Commander (S) Wickramaarachchilage 
Nalin Tharanga Lakmali Wickramaarachchi, SLN 
NRS 1698;

Lieutenant Commander (S) Sevana Handige Manjula 
Maduranga De Silva, SLN NRS 1496. 

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
10th November, 2022.

12-238/17

No. 869 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/6/2022 (73).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Commander (L) with effect from 
01st October, 2022:

Lieutenant Commander (L) Hewawasam 
Wickramarachchige Shantha Niroshan, SLN NRL 
2324.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
03rd November, 2022.

12-238/18

No. 870 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/CON/7/2022 (61-62).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Confirmations approved by the President

Lieutenant Commander (E) with effect from 22nd 
February, 2021:

Lieutenant (E) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander 
(E)]  Unupange Gamaralalage Sameera Ranganath 
Wijethunga, NRE 2577, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (C) with effect from 06th March, 
2022:

Lieutenant (C) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (C)]  
Neluwe Mudiyanselage Udaya Chenaka Bandara, NRX 
2966, SLN.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
11th October, 2022.

12-238/19
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No. 871 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/CON/7/2022 (63-64).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Confirmations approved by the President

Lieutenant Commander (S) with effect from 07th 
March, 2021:

Lieutenant (S) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (S)]  
Kasun Chanaka Gunawardana, NRS 2814, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (S) with effect from 01st July, 
2022:

Lieutenant (S) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (S)]  
Geethika Manu Prasad Thilakarathna, NRS 2848, SLN.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/20

No. 872 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/CON/7/2022 (65-71).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Confirmations approved by the President

Lieutenant Commander (L) with effect from 28th 
November, 2021:

Lieutenant (L) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (L)]  
Narasinghage Don Gihan Dilmika Senarath, NRL 2949, 
SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (PWO) with effect from 05th 
December, 2021:

Lieutenant (PWO) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander 
(PWO)]  Bothalage Pathum Madushanka Fernando, 
NRX 2941, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander with effect from 11th September, 
2022:

Lieutenant (Temporary Lieutenant Commander)   
Kulathungage Nuraj Dhanushka Perera, NRX 2907, 
SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (L) with effect from 28th 
September, 2022:

Lieutenant (L) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (L)]  
Kalutharawedage Canish Nawka Shalendra Fonseka, 
NRL 2873, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (S) with effect from 13th October, 
2022:

Lieutenant (S) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (S)]  
Dodangoda Arachchige Sudeepa Sandaruwan, NRS 
3173, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (E) with effect from 16th October, 
2022:

Lieutenant (E) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander 
(E)]  Samarawickrama Liyanage Thanura Randula 
Jayawardena, NRE 2870, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (C) with effect from 16th October, 
2022:

Lieutenant (C) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (C)]  
Lahiru Ramesh Ihalagamage, NRX 2877, SLN.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

At Colombo,
31st October, 2022.

12-238/21

No. 873 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/CON/7/2022 (72-76).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Confirmations approved by the President

Lieutenant Commander (S) with effect from 20th 
October, 2022:

Lieutenant (S) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (S)]  
Wedumpuli Koralage Prasanga Abeyrathna, NRS 
3163, SLN;
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Lieutenant Commander (E) with effect from 23rd 
October, 2022:

Lieutenant (E) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (E)]  
Herath Mudiyanselage Asela Bandara Herath, NRE 
2888, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (C) with effect from 23rd 
October, 2022:

Lieutenant (C) [(Temporary Lieutenant Commander 
(C)]   Amila Lakmal Siriwardana, NRX 2895, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander with effect from 23rd October, 
2022:

Lieutenant (Temporary Lieutenant Commander)   
Thilina Shashiprabhath Peiris Deraniyagala, NRX 
2896, SLN;

Lieutenant Commander (S) with effect from 23rd 
October, 2022:

Lieutenant (S) [Temporary Lieutenant Commander (S)]  
Dharshana Kumara Patabendige Rathnaweera, NRS 
2930, SLN.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

At Colombo,
31st October, 2022.

12-238/22

No. 874 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/07/2022 (27).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Officer from the Sri Lanka Regular Naval 
Force with effect from 10th December, 2022 and transfer 
to the Sri Lanka Regular Naval Reserve on the same date:

Lieutenant Commander (AOH) Kulathungage 
Jayalath Saminda Kulathunga, NRW 2707, SLN.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/23

No. 875 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/07/2022 (29).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Regular Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Officer from the Sri Lanka Regular Naval 
Force with effect from 05th January, 2023 and transfer to 
the Sri Lanka Regular Naval Reserve on the same date:

Lieutenant Commander (SH) Udaya Priyanga 
Bandara Galagoda, NRH 2562, SLN.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
31st October, 2022.

12-238/24

No. 876 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/07/2022 (79-82).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotions approved by the President

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander (S) with 
effect from 29th July, 2022:
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Lieutenant (S) Rathnayake Mudiyanselage Eranda 
Sandaruwan Rathnayake, NRS 3333, SLN;

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 03rd October, 2022:

Lieutenant Madushan Lakshitha Illagolla, NRX 
3215, SLN;

Lieutenant Nirosh Nilanka Wickramasooriya, NRX 
3225, SLN;

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 11th October, 2022:

Lieutenant Heendeni Pathirannahalage Don 
Saveendra Heshan Pathirana, NRX 3305, SLN.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
26th October, 2022.

12-238/25

No. 877 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/T/2022 (72).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the Rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 29th August, 2022:

Lieutenant Kavindu Jayasuriya, NRX 3200, SLN.

By the President’s Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

At Colombo,
08th September, 2022.

12-238/26

No. 878 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/T/2022 (76-78).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotions approved by the President

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 19th September, 2022:

Lieutenant Raigam Koralage Kasun Deeptha, NRX 
3244, SLN;

Lieutenant Kuruppu Jayawardanalage Sajith 
Chanaka, NRX 3256, SLN;

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 03rd October, 2022:

Lieutenant Hattuwan Mudiyanselage Sasitha 
Chathuranga Bandara Rajapaksha, NRX 3298, SLN.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/27

No. 879 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/7/2022 (104-107).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotions approved by the President

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 26th September, 2022:

Lieutenant Kaluhetti Randeniyage Harshana 
Chamal, NRX 3299, SLN;

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander (PRO) 
with effect from 03rd October, 2022:

Lieutenant (PRO) Narayana Mudiyanselage Suresh 
Aravinda Dissanayaka, NRR 3243, SLN;
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To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 21st October, 2022:

Lieutenant Muruthen Panditha Gedara Ishara 
Shaminda Premarathne, NRX 3537, SLN;

To the rank of Temporary Lieutenant Commander with 
effect from 24th October, 2022:

Lieutenant Geegana Arachchige Mayura Madusanka, 
NRX 3268, SLN.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
31st October, 2022.

12-238/28

No. 880 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/7/2022 (109).

sri  lanka  navy—regular naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the rank of Surgeon Lieutenant Commander with effect 
from 10th June, 2022:

Surgeon Lieutenant Don Udayanga Shalika 
Abeywickrama Dissanayake, NRM 3086, SLN.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
10th November, 2022.

12-238/29

No. 881 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/04/2022/(03).

sri  lanka  navy—volunteer naval  
force

Retirement and Transfer to the Volunteer Naval 
Reserve approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Senior Officer from the Volunteer Naval 
Force of Sri Lanka Navy with effect from 17th November, 
2022 and transfer to the Volunteer Naval Reserve on the 
same date:

Commodore (VNF) Jayantha Kumarasiri Keeriwela 
Gamage, PSV SLVNF NVX 5157.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
11th October, 2022.

12-238/30

No. 882 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/6/2022/(74-75).

sri  lanka  navy—volunteer naval  
force

Promotions approved by the President

To the rank of Temporary Commander (VNF) with effect 
from 01st October, 2022:

Lieutenant Commander (VNF) Delancage 
Chandrasena, SLVNF NVX 5312;

Lieutenant Commander (VNF) Welgamage Chandana 
Premakumara Welgama, SLVNF NVX 5329.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
03rd November, 2022.

12-238/31
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No. 883 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/7/2022/(83-103).

sri  lanka  navy—volunteer naval  
force

Promotions approved by the President

To the rank of Lieutenant Commander (VNF) with effect 
from 02nd August, 2022:

Lieutenant (VNF) Jayawardena Rathnayaka 
Thilakawardana, NVX 5716, SLVNF;

To the rank of Lieutenant Commander (VNF) with effect 
from 20th September, 2022:

Lieutenant (VNF) Nugagahamula Gedara Mohamadu 
Sarabdeen Mohamed Imran, NVX 5729, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Jayaweera Mudiyanselage Anjana 
Saman Jayaweera, NVX 5730, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Rathnayaka Mudiyansele Nihal 
Rathnayaka, NVX 5732, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Madduma Hallinna Liyanage 
Shanaka Rukmal, NVX 5733, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Brahmanage Don Asanka Indrajith 
Brahmana, NVX 5734, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Urupitiya Senarath Yapage Amila 
Mahesh Senarath Yapa, NVX 5735, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Jayasinghe Mudiyanselage Duminda 
Jayasinghe, NVX 5736, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Balasooriya Arachchige Mahesh 
Chathuranga Balasooriya, NVX 5737, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Udahene Gedara Sampath Kokila 
Jayathilaka, NVX 5739, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Chandradasa Bandula Lalith 
Chandradasa, NVX 5741, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Hewa Methrige Pubudu Asanka, 
NVX 5748, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Amarathunga Arachchilage 
Tharanga Pradeep Amarathunga, NVX 5750, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Thennakoon Mudiyanselage 
Darmadasa, NVX 5751, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Liyana Henayalage Asitha 
Raveendra Chamara, NVX 5753, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Warnakulasooriya Mudiyanselage 
Buddhi Rukshan Padiwita, NVX 5754, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Jayawardana Mudiyanselage Kasun 
Buddika Jayawardana, NVX 5756, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Holombuwalage Jalith Janapriya 
Gunawardana, NVX 5758, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Jayasuriya Arachchige Priyantha 
Kumara, NVX 5760, SLVNF;

Lieutenant (VNF) Ganh Hewage Yeshika Mahesh, 
NVX 5761, SLVNF;

To the rank of Lieutenant Commander (VNF) with effect 
from 27th September, 2022:

Lieutenant (VNF) Kalatuwawage alias Senadeera 
Achchige Gimhan Madusanka, NVX 5759, SLVNF.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
26th October, 2022.

12-238/32

No. 884 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/PRO/7/2022 (108).

sri  lanka  navy—Volunteer naval  
force

Promotion approved by the President

To the rank of Lieutenant Commander (VNF) with effect 
from 18th October, 2022:

Lieutenant (VNF) Rathnayaka Mudiyanselage Roshan 
Pradeep Rathnayaka, NVX 5744, SLVNF.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
31st October, 2022.

12-238/33
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No. 885 of 2022

MOD/DEF/HRM/03/SLN/RET/7/2022 (28).

sri  lanka  navy—Volunteer naval  
force

Retirement approved by the President

The President has approved the retirement of 
undermentioned Officer from the Sri Lanka Volunteer Naval 
Force with effect from 25th October, 2022:

Lieutenant Commander (VNF) Pannila Vithanage 
Gamini Priyantha, NVQ 5198, SLVNF.

By the Presidents’ Command,

	 General Kamal Gunaratne, (Retd),
	 WWV RWP RSP USP ndc psc MPhil,
	 Secretary,
	 Ministry of Defence.

Colombo,
20th October, 2022.

12-238/34

Government Notifications
Announcement  on the appoinment of Managers to Government 

approved Private Schools (Aided/Unaided)

By virtue of the powers vested in me by the Acts and laws in relation to Assisted schools hereby I announce for information 
of the public, the list of names of persons who have been appointed as General Managers/Managers of government approved 
private schools (Aided/Unaided) on the basis of the nominations made by the proprietor/Board of Managment of the repective 
schools. This list will be valid until an amended list is announced.

Name of the School Address Name of the General Manager/
Manager

1. Loyola College Daluwakotuwa, Kochchikade, Negombo Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
2. Holy Cross College Galle Road, Kalutara Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
3. St. Lawrence’s Convent No. 213, Galle Road, Colombo 06 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
4. Good Shepherd Convent Galle Road, Panadura Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
5. St. Joseph’s Boys College 7th Mile Post, Subhadrrama Road, Nugegoda Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
6. Christ King College Arawwala Road, Pannipitiya Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
7. Ave Maria Convent Chilaw Road, Negombo Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
8. Maris Stella College Negombo Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

9. Holy Cross College Colombo Road, Gampaha Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
10. De Mazenod College Kandana Rev. Fr. Gemnu Dias
11. Good Shepherd Convent Kotahena, Colombo 13 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
12. St. Benedict’s College Kotahena, Colombo 13 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
13. St. Joseph’s College No. 212, T. B. Jayah Mawatha, Colombo 10 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
14. St. Peter’s College Galle Road, Colombo 04 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
15. Holy Family Convent Bambalapitiya, Colombo 04 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
16. Convent of Our Lady of 

Victories
Uswatta Circular Road, Moratuwa Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

17. St. Sebastian’s College Uyana Road, Moratuwa Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
18. St. Bridget’s Convent No. 85, C. W. W. Kannangara Mawatha, 

Colombo 07
Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

19. St. Aloysius’ Seminary No. 35, Kynsey Road, Borella, Colombo 08 Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
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Name of the School Address Name of the General Manager/
Manager

20. Bolawalana Ave Maria 
Convent

Akkara Panaha, Negombo Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

21. Holy Angel’s Girls School No. 207, Galle Road, Payagala North Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
22. St. Joseph’s Juniorate No. 26, Greenpath, Kohuwala, Nugegoda Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
23. Holy Family Convent Hill Street, Kalutara South Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
24. St. Patrick’s College Thalawakale Very Rev. Fr. Milroy

Fonseka
25. Our Lady’s School Wedderburn Road, Nuwara Eliya Very Rev. Fr. Milroy

 Fonseka
26. Good Shepherd Convent Peradeniya Road, Kandy Very Rev. Fr. Milroy 

Fonseka
27. St. Thomas’s Girls School Matale Very Rev. Fr. Milroy

Fonseka
28. Sujatha Vidyalaya No. 364/A/1, Highlevel Road, Nugegoda Mr. L. M. Kuruppu
29. Highlands College No. 711, Mahameghawatta Road, Maharagama Mr. L. M. Kuruppu
30. Methodist College No. 250, Galle Road, Colombo 03 Rev. P. W. Ebenezer Joseph
31. Wesley Collge No. 163, Dr. Danister de Silva Mawatha, 

Colombo 09
Rev. P. W. Ebenezer Joseph

32. Buddhist Ladies College No. 229, Dharmapala Mawatha, Colombo 07 Mr. Mohanlal H. de Mel
33. Vidyaniketha Vidyalaya Sapugoda, Kamburupitiya Ven. Omare Kassapa

 Anunayaka Thero
34. Anura Vidyalaya Siri Ratnapala Mawatha, Matara Ven. Thissamaharamage Indananda

 Thero
35. Dewapala Vidyalaya Polgolla, Gokarella Ven. Galdola Nandarama 

Thero
36. Saiva Mangaiyar 

Vidyalayam
No. 23, Rudra Road, Colombo 06 Miss. Mala Sabharathnam

37. Zahira College P. O. Box 861, Colombo 10 Mr. Mohamed Mukthar 
Mohamed Alavi

38. Nilwala Ananda 
Vidyalaya

Hathagala, Hungama Ven. Pallegama Jinarathana
 Thero

39. KSF College Moragoda, Rantotuwila Mrs. I. Frauenfeld
40. Anura Vidyalaya Bopagoda, Akuressa Ven. Kadihingala Samitha 

Thero
41. N-CEF Buddhist College National Children’s Educational Foundation,

Mulleriyawa New Town
Ven. Dr. Bandagiriye 
Somawansa Maha Thero

42. Alethea School 13, 15, 17, Sri Maha Bodhi Road, Dehiwala Mrs. Anitha Perera
43. Musaeus College No. 58, Rosmead Place, Colombo 07 Mr. Ajithra  Soysa
44. Indrasiri Junior School No. 21/25, Ananda Balika Mawatha, Pagoda 

Road, 
Pitakotte

Ven. Dr. Hunupolagama
 Vajira Sri Nayaka Thero

45. Clayton College Henpitagedara, Marandagahamula Mrs. S. A. K. Subasinghe
46. Rathnaloka College No. 116/1, Agalawatta Road, Matugama Mr. P. A. L. Ariyarathne
47. Alexandra College No. 718/1, 2nd Stage, Maradana, Colombo 10 Mr. A. C. Malan Fernando



I fldgi : (I) fPoh ‑ YS% ,xld m%cd;dka;s%l iudcjd§ ckrcfha .eiÜ m;%h ‑ 2022'12'09

PART  I :  SEC.  (I) – GAZETTE OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA – 09.12.2022
1800

Name of the School Address Name of the General Manager/
Manager

48. Ladies’ College Sir Ernest de Silva Mawatha, Colombo 07 Mrs. Leonie Senevirathne
49. Hillwood College No. 40, Sangaraja Mawatha, Kandy Mr. Rohan Dharmadasa
50. Vidyani College No. 138, Bopitiya, Pamunugama Mr. K. D. A. P. Samannath
51. St. Patrick’s College Jaffna Rt. Rev. Dr. J. B. Ganapragasam
52. Sri Chandananda

Buddhist College
Asgiri Vihara Road, Kandy Ven. Dr. Godagama Mangala

Thero
53. Nalanda Buddhist College Thurunusavigama Road, Pallekele Ven. Narampanawe Ananda 

Thero
54. Sinhala Buddhist College No. 09. Irrigation Mawatha, MC Road, Matale Ven. Galkulame Uparathana 

Thero
55. St. Mary’s Convent Beach Road, Matara Rev. Fr. Charles Hewawasam
56. Bishop’s College No. 15, Boyd Place, Colombo 03 Mr. R. N. Asirwatham
57. St. Thomas’ College Guruthalawa Mr. Iyan Senaka Anil de Fonseka
58. Asoka Vidyalaya No. 318, D. S. Senanayake Street, Kandy Mr. B. D. R. Rajan
59. Sumedha College Vishaka Road, Gampaha Dr. W. A. Q. Wilfred Wijesinghe
60. Siri Sumana Buddhist

College
Mawara Mandiya, Heyyanthuduwa Ven. Pothanegama Sumanarathana 

Thero
61. Ashoka Vidyalaya Padukka Road, Horana Ven. Labugama Narada Thero
62. St. Thomas’ College Bandarawela Mr. H. K. Dias Abeysinghe
63. Sri Rahula College No. 623/22, Preeman Mawatha, Anuradhapura Mrs. S. A. Jayawardena
64. Uduvil Girls’ College Uduvil, Chunnakkam Dr. Mrs. Thayalini Thyagaraja
65. Jaffna College Vadukkoddai Mr. Rajan Asservatham
66. Carey College No. 28, Kynsey Road, Colombo 08 Rev. E. K. Yasarathne
67. St. Thomas’ Preporatory 

School
No. 98, Stuart Place, Galle Road, Colombo 03 Mrs. Nirmali Wickramasinghe

68. Ashoka Vidyalaya Wawurukannala, Dikwella Ven. Chief Karathota Pagnasheela
Thero

69. Minarwa Buddhist
College

Kithulewela Road, Gabada Veediya, Matara Ven. Watagedara Rewatha Thero

70. Trinity College No. 262, D. S. Senanayaka Street, Kandy Mr. A. E. M. Perera
71. Mahamevnawa Buddhist 

College
No. 358/A, Keragala Road, Ahugammana, 
Demalagama

Rev. Aludeniye Subodhi Thero

72. St. John’s Girls  School Cyril Jansz Road, Panadura Mr. Neil Perera
73. Lakpahana Vidyalaya Mailapitiya, Kandy Mr. Majintha Gunathilake
74. Bodhiraja Vidyalaya Hingura Ara, Embilipitiya Rev. Dr. Omalpe Sobhitha Thero
75. Mowbray College No. 40, Rajapihilla Mawatha, Kandy Rev. Fr. M. A. P. Iyadurai
76. St. Thomas’ College Mount Lavinia Mr. R. Renganathan
77. Siddartha Vidyalaya No. 10, Holly Cross Road, Gampaha Mrs. Damitha Nilanthi Ranasinghe
78. St. John’s College Main Street, Chundikuli, Jaffna Dr. Dhananjayan Senadhiraja
79. Chundikuli Girl’s College Colombogam Road, Chundikkuli, Jaffna Mrs. Rushira Kulasingham
80.  St. Clement’s College Galthenna Road, Ampitiya, Kandy Rev. Fr. Shamindra Jayawardena
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(A person in charge of one Private School holds the position of ‘‘Manager’’ which a person in charge of two or more 
Private Schools is given in position of ‘‘General Manager’’)

15 branch Schools of Government approved Private Schools are currently functioning and each branch School Manager 
will be the Manager of the respective main School. Below mentioned is the list of names of General Managers/Managers of 
the Branch Schools of Government Approved Private Schools.

Name of the School Address Name of the General Manager/
Manager

1. Christ King College Weliveriya Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias
2. St. Joseph’s College - 

Colombo 10 (Wattala
Branch)

Enderamulla, Wattala Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

3. St. Joseph’s College - 
Colombo 10 (Negombo 
Branch)

No. 55, Kadoluyana, Negombo Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

4. St. Peter’s College -
Colombo 04 
(Gampaha Branch)

Minuwangoda Road, Udugampola Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

5. St. Peter’s College -
Colombo 04 
(Negombo Branch)

No. 512/21, 02nd Kurana, Colombo Road, 
Negombo

Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

6. Loyola College -
Negombo 
(Bopitiya Branch)

Bopitiya, Pamunugama Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

7. Maris Stella College -
Negombo
(Thimbirigaskatuwa 
Branch)

Thimbirigaskatuwa Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

8. Holy Cross College -
Kaluthara (Payagala
Branch)

Yatadola Road, Payagala Rev. Fr. Gemunu Dias

9. Wesley College -
Colombo 09 
(Katunayaike Branch)

Methodist Church Premises, Thampala, 
Raddolugama

Rev. PW. Ebenezer Joseph

10. Sri Chandananda
Buddhist College -
Asgiriya (Katugasthota
Branch - Girls)

428/1, 428/2, Katugasthota Road, Kandy Ven. Dr. Godagama Mangala Thero

11. Mahamevnawa Buddhist
College - Gampaha
(Welimada Branch)

No. 103, Badulla Road, Welimada Rev. Aludeniye Subodhi Thero

12. Mahamevnawa Buddhist
College - Gampaha
(Sandalankawa Branch)

No. 110, Sandalankawa, Sandalankawa Rev. Aludeniye Subodhi Thero

13. Sumedha College - 
Gampaha (Gelioya
Branch)

Sri Weluwanaramaya, Karamada, Gelioya, 
Udunuwara

Dr. W. A. Q. Wilfred Wijesinghe
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Name of the School Address Name of the General Manager/
Manager

14. Anura Vidyalaya - Matara
(Maligathanna Branch)

Maligathanna, Hatthaka, Pitigala Ven. Thissamaharamaye Indananda
 Thero

15. Lakpahana Vidyalaya -
Mailapitiya (Kandana
Branch)

Rilawulla, Kandana Mr. Majintha Gunathilake

	 M. N. Ranasinghe,
	 Secretary to the Ministry of Education.

Ministry of Education,
,Isurupaya,,
Battaramulla,
30th November, 2022.

12-300

Revenue & Expenditure Returns
S W R D  Bandaranaike  National  Memorial  Foundation

Financial Statements for the Year ended 31st December, 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT OF S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of S W R D Bandaranaike National Memorial Foundation (“the 
Foundation”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31st December 2021, and the statement of income 
and expenditure, statement of changes in funds, statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Foundation as at 31st December, 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (SLFRS for SMEs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Foundation in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by CA Sri Lanka (Code of 
Ethics) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Management is responsible for the other information. These financial statements do not comprise 
other information.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with SLFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as Board of Management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Board of Management is responsible for assessing the Foundation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless Board of Management either intends to liquidate the Foundation or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Foundation’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SLAuSs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at Sri Lanka 
Accounting and Auditing Standards website at: http://slaasc.com/auditing/auditorsresponsibility.php. This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Colombo, Sri Lanka,
27th June, 2022.

S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31st December,	 2021	 2020

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (CHOGM)
Work in progress
Work in progress intangible assets
Intangible assets
Non-current financial assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Short term investments
Deposits, prepayment and advances
Cash and cash equivalents

3.1 1,471,681,722 989,026,292
3.2 - 9,610,796

690,862 4,326,144
16,426,523 -

4 2,915,632 734,090
5 54,443,758 55,319,709

1,546,158,497 1,059,017,031

6 17,523,792 14,878,671
7 198,583,305 100,908,727
8 2,656,791,573 2,496,520,805
9 27,966,093 39,638,827

10 104,156,196 113,992,998
3,005,020,959 2,765,940,028

 	 4,551,179,456 	 3,824,957,059 
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Total assets

Funds and liabilities
Funds
Capital reserve
Capital aid fund
CHOGM fund
S.W.R.D. Bandaranaike fund (Accumulated fund)
Revaluation reserve

Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefits obligation

 
  Current Liabilities
 T rade and other payables
  Accrued expenses
  Bank overdraft

  Total liabilities
  Total funds and liabilities

S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December,	 2021	 2020

925,522 925,522
353,409,055 332,888,982

9,385,543 9,610,796
3,455,938,870 3,208,203,231

486,581,630 -
4,306,240,620 3,551,628,531

      54,136,863	 63,989,826

      54,136,863	 63,989,826

133,168,969 111,578,425
57,633,004 82,956,912

- 14,803,365
190,801,973 209,338,702
244,938,836 273,328,528

4,551,179,456 3,824,957,059

11
11

12

13
14
10

The financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of these financial 
statements of the Foundation.

I certify that these financial statements are prepared in accordance with SLFRS for SMEs.

…………………………….............., ……………………................
Head of Finance. Chief Executive / Director.

The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
SLFRS for SMEs.

Approved and signed for and on behalf of the Board:

	 …………………………………,	 …………………………………,
	 Board Member.	 Board Member.

Colombo,

27th June, 2022.
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S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF Income and Expenditure
For the year ended 31st December	 2021	 2020

Note Rs. Rs.
Income 15 694,693,038 743,004,076

Direct operating expenses -(321,658,271) -(391,275,429)

Gross surplus 373,034,767 351,728,647

Other Income 16 48,464,559 32,448,900

Administrative expenses -(161,162,991) -(155,739,475)

Marketing expenses -(10,916,497) -(7,599,966)

Finance expenses 17 -(215,534) -(289,948)

Other expenses 18 -(1,468,665) -(1,837,261)

Surplus before tax expense 19 247,735,639 218,710,897

Income tax expense - -

Surplus after tax expense 247,735,639 218,710,897

The financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of these financial 
statements of the Foundation.

S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF changes in funds
For the year ended 31st December	 	

 Capital
reserve

S. W. R. D.
Bandaranaike 

fund
(Accumulated 

Fund)

Capital Aid
fund

CHOGM 
fund

Revaluation
Reserves

Total

 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
Balance as at 
31st December, 2019 

925,522 2,989,492,334 343,466,778 9,836,050 - 3,343,720,684

Surplus for the year - 218,710,897 - - - (218,710,897)

Utilised during the year - - -(10,577,796) -(225,254) - -(10,803,050)

Balance as at 
31st December, 2020

925,522 3,208,203,231 332,888,982 9,610,796 - 3,551,628,531

Surplus for the year - 247,735,639 43,432,816 - 486,581,630 777,750,085

Utilised during the year - - (22,912,743) -(225,253) - -(23,137,996)

Balance as at 
31st December, 2021

925,522 3,455,938,870 353,409,055 9,385,543 486,581,630 4,306,240,620

The financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of these financial 
statements of the Foundation.
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S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF Cash flows
For the year ended 31st December	 2021	 2020

Cash flows from operating activities Note   

Surplus before tax expense  247,735,639 218,710,897

Adjustments for non - cash income and expenses :    

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  63,104,517 65,780,463

Amortisation of intangible assets  398,458 327,787

Interest income  (160,713,044) (219,939,325)

Provision for retiring gratuity  854,741 4,810,077

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (7,775,000) (6,790,934)

Amortisation of restricted funds                     -   (10,803,050)

Operating profit before working capital changes  143,605,311 52,095,915

Changes in:    

Inventories  (2,645,121) 8,816,660

Trade and other receivables  (97,674,578) 44,841,390

Deposits, prepayments, advance and other  11,672,734 29,710,098

Trade payables, other payables and accruals  (3,733,364) (80,435,170)

Net cash flow from operations  51,224,982 55,028,893

Gratuity paid  (10,707,704) (4,856,272)

Net cash generated from operating activities  40,517,278 50,172,621

Cash flows from investing activities    

Interest income received  246,196,815 207,226,496

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (49,931,913) (51,915,283)

Purchase of intangible assets  (2,580,000) (162,207)

Net investments in fixed deposits  (223,721,618) (256,548,105

Investment in WIP  (12,791,241) (3,635,283)

Proceed from disposal of fixed assets and consumables  8,153,192 7,584,094

(Increase)/decrease in staff loan  (875,951) (6,491,854)

Net cash used in investing activities  (35,550,716) (103,942,142)

Cash flows from financing activities    

Lease rental paid during the year  -                -   

Net cash used in financing activities  -                -   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  4,966,563 (53,769,521)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  99,189,633 152,959,154

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10 104,156,196 99,189,633

The financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of these financial 
statements of the Foundation.
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S W R D BANDARANAIKE NATIONAL MEMORIAL FOUNDATION
NOTES TO THE  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year ended 31 December, 2021	

	 1.	 Accounting policies

	 1.1	 Reporting entity

		  S W R D Bandaranaike National Memorial Foundation (“the Foundation”) is established under S W R D 
Bandaranaike Foundation Law No. 2 of 1975 of the National State Assembly. The registered office and principal 
place of operation is situated at Bauddhaloka Mawatha, Colombo 07.

		  Principle activities and nature of operations

		  S W R D Bandaranaike National Memorial Foundation 

		  Principle activities of the Foundation are to promote international peace, understanding and co-operation and to 
promote the study and discussion of international problems in the economic, political, educational, cultural and 
social fields and the dissemination of knowledge on international affairs and renting out premises for offices and 
hiring of the halls for public use.

		  Bandaranaike Center for International Studies

		  Principle activities of the Centre are to encourage and promote the studies of research into all aspect of international 
relations, international peace law and diplomacy.

	 1.2	B asis of preparation

	 (a)	 Statement of compliance

		T  he financial statement of the Foundation comprise the statement of financial position as at 31st December, 
2021, statement of income and expenditure, statement of changes in funds, statement of cash flows and notes 
to the financial statements. 

		  Basis of measurement

		T  he financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. No adjustments have been made for 
inflationary factors in the financial statements.

	 (b)	F unctional and presentation currency
	
		T  hese financial statements are presented in Sri Lankan Rupees (LKR), which is the Foundation’s functional 

currency.

	 (c)	U se of estimates and judgements

		  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SLFRS for SMEs requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of 
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which form the basis of making the judgment about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

		T  he estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only the 
financial year or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
financial years.

	 1.3 	Significant accounting policies 

		T  he accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

	 (a)	 Foreign currency transactions

		T  ransactions in foreign currencies are translated to rupees at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated 
to rupees at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognized in the statement of income and expenditure.

	 (b)	 Property, plant and equipment

	 (i)	 Recognition and measurement

		I  tems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

		  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and bringing the assets to its 
working condition.

		  Gains/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other 
income” in the statement of income and expenditure.

	 (ii)	 Depreciation

		  Depreciation is recognized in the statement of income and expenditure on a straight - line method for  
S W R D Bandaranaike National Memorial Foundation and CHOGM fund over the estimated useful lives 
of the asset.

		T  he depreciation rate of assets for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

S W R D Bandaranaike National Memorial Foundation

Depreciation rate
Building 2%
Library books 20%
Plant and machinery 10%
Motor vehicle 25%
Furniture and fitting 20%
Conference system 12.5%
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Other equipment 20%
Carpet and curtain 33.3%
Crockery and cutlery 20%
Electrical equipment 20%
Linen 12.5%
Container 10%
Roads 10%
Stalls 10%

CHOGM 2013 Fund Assets

Depreciation rate
Hybrid building 
SBMEC hall building

3%
2%

PVC covers 50%
Motor vehicle 25%

Furniture and fitting 20%

	 (c)	 Intangible asset

		  Computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use specific 
software. These costs are amortized over their estimated useful life of eight years on reducing balance method.

	 (d)	 Leased assets

		  Property, plant and equipment on finance leases, (which effectively transfer to the Foundation substantially 
the entire risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased items) are capitalized at their cash price and 
depreciated/amortized over the period the Foundation is expected to benefit from the use of the leased assets. 
The corresponding principal amount payable to the lessor is shown as a liability.

		T  he interest element of the rental obligation applicable to each financial year is charged to the statement of 
income and expenditure over the period of the lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

	 (e)	 Inventories

		I  nventories are valued at the cost. The cost of inventories is based on the first in first out principle, and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing 
location and condition.

	 (f)	 Investments

		  Short term investments in treasury bills and fixed deposits are valued at amortized cost.

	 (g)	 Trade and other receivables

		  Other receivables are carried at anticipated realizable value. An estimate is made for bad and doubtful 
receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end.

	 (h)	 Cash and cash equivalents

		  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with bank.
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		  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held 
at call with bank, and net of bank overdrafts. In the statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are included 
in current liabilities.

		  Statement of cash flows

		  Statement of cash flows has been prepared using the indirect method.

	 (i)	 Impairment

		T  he carrying amounts of the Foundation’s non - financial assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated.

		  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in statement of income and expenditure.

	 (j)	 Liabilities and provisions

		  Liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position when there is a present obligation as a result 
of past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits. Obligations payable at the demand of the creditors or within one year of the reporting date are treated 
as current liabilities in the statement of financial position. Liabilities payable after one year from the reporting 
date are treated as non - current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

		  A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Foundation has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation.

	 (k)	 Specifics funds

		  Where funds are received for use in an identified activity, such funds are held in a specific fund account and 
transferred to the Statement of income and expenditure to match with expenses incurred in respect of that 
identified activity. Unutilized funds are held in their respective fund accounts and included in the Statement of 
financial position until such time as they are required.

	              (l)  Taxation
		  Income taxation

		T  he Foundation is exempt from income tax under the Inland Revenue act, No. 24 of 2017.

	 (m)	 Employee benefits

	 i.	 Defined benefit plan

		T  he Foundation’s obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is measured annually using 
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future benefit that employee have earned in return for their services in the current 
and prior period.

		  Gains and losses arising from changes in the assumptions, current service cost and interest are recognized in 
the statement of income and expenditure in the period in which they arise.

		  Provision is made for retirement gratuity for all employees in respect of gratuity payable under the Payment 
of Gratuity Act No.12 of 1983. The provision is not invested in a fund outside the Foundation. The provision 
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is not externally funded, nor has it been valued by an actuary. This item is grouped under noncurrent 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

	 ii.	 Defined contribution plan.

		  Obligations to defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense in the income statement as incurred. 
The Foundation contributes 12% and 3% of gross emoluments of employees as Provident Fund and Trust 
Fund contribution respectively.

	 (n)	 Revenue

		  Revenue recognition

		  Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Foundation 
and the revenue and associated cost incurred or to be incurred can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and turnover taxes.

	 (o)	 Expenses

		  All expenditure incurred in the operations of the Foundation and in maintaining the capital assets in a state of 
efficiency have been charged in arriving at the Foundation’s surplus for the year.

	 (p)	F inance expense

		F  inance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, bank charges and debit tax. All borrowing cost are 
recognised in statement of income and expenditure.

	 (q)	 Comparative information

		  Where necessary, comparative figures have been rearranged to confirm with the current year’s presentation.

	 (r)	 Events occurring after the reporting date

		  All material post reporting events have been considered and where appropriate adjustments or disclosures 
have been made in respective notes to the financial statements.

	
	 (s)	 Commitments and contingencies

		  Contingencies are possible assets or obligations that arise from a past event and would be confirmed only on 
the occurrence or non - occurrence of uncertain future events, which are beyond the Foundation’s control.

		  Commitments and contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.

2  Operating segments

	 2.1	B asis for operating segments

		T  he Foundation has the following two divisions which are its reportable segments. These divisions offer different 
services and are managed seperately because they require different strategies in operation and marketing.

		  - BMICH Conference and exhibition Centre (BMICH)

		  - Bandaranaike Centre for International Studies (BCIS)
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	 2.2	 Information about reportable segments

	 2021	 Reportable segments	 Total
		

BMICH BCIS BNMF

Segment statement of income and expenditure Rs. Rs. Rs.
Revenue 646,559,728 48,133,310 694,693,038

Direct operating expenses (314,308,379) (7,349,892) (321,658,271)

Gross surplus 332,251,349 40,783,418 373,034,767

Other income 46,669,753 1,794,806 48,464,559

Gross surplus after other income 378,921,102 42,578,224 421,499,326

Administrative expenses (119,242,240 (41,920,751 (161,162,991)

Marketing expenses (9,427,926) (1,488,571) (10,916,497)

Finance costs (193,551) (21,983) (215,534)

Other expenses (27,913) (1,440,752) (1,468,665)

Tax expense - - -

Net surplus/(deficit) 250,029,472 (2,293,833 247,735,639

		  Reportable segments	 Total

 BMICH BCIS BNMF

Segment statment of financial position Rs. Rs. Rs.
Total non current assets 1,546,158,497 - 1,546,158,497

Total current assets 3,071,635,740 276,538,843 3,348,174,583

(-) Elimination of inter-segment receivable (343,153,624) - (343,153,624)

Total assets 4,274,640,613 276,538,843 4,551,179,456

Total funds 4,389,301,527 (83,060,907) 4,306,240,620

Total non current liabilities 49,822,449 4,314,414 54,136,863

Total current liabilities 178,670,262 355,285,335 533,955,597

(-) Elimination of inter-segment payable - (343,153,624) (343,153,624)

Total funds and liabilities 4,617,794,238 (66,614,782) 4,551,179,456

2020 Reportable segments Total

 BMICH BCIS BNMF

Segment statement of income and expenditure Rs. Rs. Rs.
Revenue 706,597,961 36,406,115 743,004,076

Direct operating expenses (383,525,685) (7,749,744) (391,275,429)

Gross surplus 323,072,276 28,656,371 351,728,647

Other income 32,289,989 158,911 32,448,900

	 2.2	I nformation about reportable segments (Continued)
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2020 Reportable segments Total

 BMICH BCIS BNMF

Segment statement of income and expenditure Rs. Rs. Rs.
Gross surplus after other income 355,362,265 28,815,282 384,177,547

Administrative expenses (120,714,151) (35,025,324) (155,739,475)

Marketing expenses (7,007,348) (592,618) (7,599,966)

Finance costs (272,523) (17,425) (289,948)

Other expenses (1,546,439) (290,822) (1,837,261)

Tax expense  -    -    -   

Net surplus/(deficit) 225,821,804 (7,110,907) 218,710,897

Reportable segments Total

 BMICH BCIS BNMF

Segment statement of financial position Rs. Rs. Rs.
Total non current assets 1,058,939,559 77,472 1,059,017,031

Total current assets 2,830,323,024 253,896,351 3,084,219,375

(-) Elimination of inter-segment receivable (318,279,347)             -   (318,279,347)

Total assets 3,570,983,236 253,973,823 3,824,957,059

Total funds 3,632,233,938 (80,605,407) 3,551,628,531

Total non current liabilities 59,475,612 4,514,213 63,989,825

Total current liabilities 197,553,033 330,065,017 527,618,050

(-) Elimination of inter-segment payable  -   (318,279,347) (318,279,347)

Total funds and liabilities 3,889,262,583 (64,305,524) 3,824,957,059

Cost Balance as at 
01 January, 

2021

Transfer from
CHOGM

Additions Disposals Revaluation Balance as at 
31st 

December, 
2021

 Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
Building 980,598,283 11,262,691 14,233,926 - - 1,006,094,900

Plant and machinery 93,015,109 - 22,538,561 - 85,662,391 201,216,061
Motor vehicles 66,006,807 7,826,002 - (267,450) 10,639,641 84,205,000
Other equipment 30,869,170 2,899,800 1,015,776 (4,500) 5,938,655 40,718,901
Furniture and fittings 58,848,077 22,758,252 399,792 (846,649) 33,493,213 114,652,685
Carpets and curtains 36,326,082 14,734,497 3,198,179 (878,440) 2,030,930 55,411,248
Crockery and cutlery 226,553 - - - (226,553) -
Electrical equipment 95,178,729 7,079,464 8,457,179 (2,343,414) 15,729,883 124,101,841
Container 960,862 - - - (960,862) -
Road 33,532,639 - 88,500 - - 33,621,139
Stalls 4,962,395 - - - (4,962,395) -
 1,400,524,706 66,560,706 49,931,913 4,340,453 147,344,903 1,660,021,775

	 3.1	 Property, plant and equipment - Freehold assets
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Accumulated 
depreciation

Balance as at 
01 January, 

2021

Transfer 
from 

CHOGM 

Depreciation 
for the year

Depreciation 
on disposals

Revaluation Balance as at 
31 December, 

2021
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Building 134,753,635 1,651,896 21,729,943 - - 158,135,474
Plant and machinery 17,405,882 - 11,361,889 - (28,658,713) 109,058
Motor vehicles 66,006,807 7,826,002 - (267,450) (73,565,359) -
Other equipment 23,383,287 2,899,800 3,733,928 (4,500) (29,904,090) 108,425
Furniture and fittings 51,601,887 22,758,252 2,396,011 (773,588) (75,953,475) 29,087
Carpets and curtains 13,919,775 9,810,129 12,020,891 (878,440 (34,132,434) 739,921
Crockery and cutlery 240,350 - - - (240,350) -
Electrical equipment 72,692,518 12,003,832 8,504,620 (2,038,283) (90,872,850) 289,837
Container 960,862 - - - (960,862) -
Road 25,571,016 - 3,357,235 - - 28,928,251
Stalls 4,962,395 - - - (4,962,395) -

411,498,414 56,949,911 63,104,517 (3,962,261) (339,250,528) 188,340,053
Net book value 989,026,292 1,471,681,722

3.2	  Property, plant and equipment - CHOGM assets

Cost Balance as 
at 01 

January, 
2021

Transfer to 
freehold 
assets

Additions Disposals Balance as 
at 31 

December, 
2021

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
PVC covers 4,924,368 (4,924,368) - - -

Block xi/x2/x3/x4 Hybrid buildings 7,053,000 (7,053,000) - - -

Carpets 9,810,129 (9,810,129) - - -

Electrical equipment 7,079,464 (7,079,464) - - -

Furniture and fittings 22,758,252 (22,758,252) - - -

Other equipment 2,899,800 (2,899,800) - - -

SBMEC - F hall building 4,209,691 (4,209,691) - - -

Motor vehicles 7,826,002 (7,826,002) - - -

66,560,706 (66,560,706) - - -

Accumulated depreciation Balance as 
at 01 

January, 
2020

Transfer to 
freehold assets

Depreciation
for the year

Depreciation 
on disposals

Balance as at 
31 December, 

2020

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

PVC covers 4,924,368 (4,924,368) - - -

Block xi/x2/x3/x4 Hybrid buildings 1,065,908 (1,065,908) - - -

Carpets 9,810,129 (9,810,129) - - -
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Accumulated depreciation Balance as 
at 01 

January, 
2020

Transfer to 
freehold assets

Depreciation
for the year

Depreciation 
on disposals

Balance as at 
31 December, 

2020

Electrical equipment 7,079,464 (7,079,464) - - -

Furniture and fittings 22,758,252 22,758,252 - - -

Other equipment 2,899,800 (2,899,800) - -

SBMEC - F hall building 585,988 (585,988) - - -

Motor vehicles 7,826,002 (7,826,002) - - -

56,949,911 56,949,911 - - -

Net book value 9,610,796 -
		

as at 31st December 2021 2020
  Rs. Rs.
4 Intangible assets   
 Cost   
 Balance at the begining of the year 2,706,892 2,544,685
 Additions during the year 2,580,000 162,207
 Balance at the end of the year 5,286,892 2,706,892
 Amortisation   
 Balance at the begining of the year 1,972,802 1,645,015
 Amortisation during the year 398,458 327,787
 Balance at the end of the year 2,371,260 1,972,802
 Carrying value 2,915,632 734,090
5 Non current financial assets   
 Staff loan   
 Balance as at the beginning of the year 55,319,709 48,827,855
 Loan granted during the year 23,272,724 23,755,277
 Loan repayment during the year (22,230,235) (17,263,423)
 Net change in prepaid staff cost during the year (1,918,440)                    -   
 Balance as at the end of the year 54,443,758 55,319,709
6 Inventory   
 Inventory 19,259,490 16,614,369
 (-) Provision for inventory (1,735,698) (1,735,698)
  17,523,792 14,878,671
7 Trade and other receivables   
 Trade receivables (Note 7.1) 183,160,848 90,047,845
 Other receivables - reimbursement (Note 7.2) 7,126,538 9,115,038
 Sundry debtors (Note 7.3) 241,210 6,200
 Other receivables  (Note 7.4) 8,054,709 1,739,644
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as at 31st December 2021 2020
  Rs. Rs.
  198,583,305 100,908,727

7.1 Trade receivables   
 Trade receivables 240,455,275 147,342,272
 (-) Provision for doubtful debtors (57,294,427) (57,294,427)
  183,160,848 90,047,845

7.2 Other receivables - reimbursement   
 Other receivables - reimbursement 38,743,264 40,731,764
 (-) Provision for rental receivables (31,616,726) (31,616,726)
  7,126,538 9,115,038

7.3 Sundry debtors   
 Sundry debtors 241,210 6,200
 (-) Provision for sundry debtors -               -   
 Obtained all the fixed deposit which were active throughout the year 241,210 6,200

7.4 Cross checked the interest rate in FD certificates to the schedule given by client   
 Checked for renewal certificates for renewed FD’s 8,054,709 241,210
 Recalculate the interest income from fixed deposit through a logic test                    -   1,498,433
 Checked for any differences from client interest calculation to our calculate                     -   
  8,054,709 1,739,643

2021 2020
  Rs. Rs.
8 Short term investments   

 Fixed deposits 2,656,791,573 2,496,520,805

  2,656,791,573 2,496,520,805

9 Deposits, prepayment and advances   

 Advances to staff 4,153,005 4,485,560

 Refundable deposit (Note 9.1) 3,246,854 556,354

 Prepayments 357,544 3,904,117

 Advance payments (Note 9.2) 9,880,523 19,876,410

 WHT receivables 10,328,167 10,816,386

  27,966,093 39,638,827

9.1 Refundable deposit   

 Refundable deposit 3,246,854 656,504

 (-) Provision for refundable deposit - -100,150
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2021 2020
  Rs. Rs.
  3,246,854 556,354

9.2 Advance payments   

 Advance payments 11,761,082 21,839,869

 (-) Provision for advance payments (1,963,459) (1,963,459)

 Cash advance 82,900 -

  9,880,523 19,876,410

10 Cash and cash equivalents   

 Cash at bank 63,658,692 113,882,403

 Cash in hand 120,100 110,595

 Call deposits 40,377,404 -

  104,156,196 113,992,998

 (-) Bank overdraft - (14,803,365)

 Net cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purpose 104,156,196 99,189,633

11 Specific funds   

 Capital Aid fund 353,409,055 332,888,982

 CHOGM 2013 Year fund 9,385,543 9,610,796

  362,794,598 342,499,778

12 Retirement benefits obligation   

 Balance at the beginning of the year 63,989,826 64,036,021

 Provision made during the year 854,741 4,810,077

 Payments made during the year (10,707,704) (4,856,272)

 Balance at the end of the year 54,136,863 63,989,826

    

13 Trade and other payables   

 Trade creditors 28,456,623 28,690,410

 Other payables 12,778,873 25,429,828

 Refundable deposits 49,047 2,639,897

 Advance reservation 86,093,585 54,818,290

 Tax payable 5,790,841             -   

  133,168,969 111,578,425

14 Accrued expenses   

 Statutory payables 876,299 671,342
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 Incentive payable 18,106,140 45,415,381

 Sundry accrued expenses 29,311,207 26,879,333

 Unpaid wages 4,836,574 5,356,492

 Audit and other services 4,502,784 4,634,364

57,633,004 82,956,912

 	  	
For the year ended 31st December	 2021 2020

Rs. Rs.
15 Income   

Hiring income 170,044,634 175,896,762

Rent income 242,001,218 283,003,061

Interest income 160,713,044 219,939,325

Commission income 88,000,000 44,837,745

Language course fee 8,919,200 5,936,250

International relation course fee 25,014,942 13,390,933

 694,693,038 743,004,076

16 Other income   

Amortisation of restricted funds 23,137,997 10,803,050

 Sundry receipt income 2,064,436 2,424,165

 Telephone income 12,421,104 11,988,075

 Gain on disposal of assets 7,775,000 6,662,219

 Miscellaneous income 1,392,756 404,147

 Seminar and related income 1,673,266 30,196

 Disposal of scrap items income - 128,715

 Sale of publications “Sirimavo” - income - 8,333

 48,464,559 32,448,900

17 Finance expenses

 Bank charges 215,534 284,698

 Stamp duty expense              -   5,250

  215,534 289,948

18 Other expenses   

2021 2020
  Rs. Rs.
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 Compensation payment             -   1,190,169

 Subscription - Library             -   206,269

 Foreign travel expenses              -   84,553

 Other expenses 1,468,665 356,270

  1,468,665 1,837,261

19 Surplus before tax   

 The following items have been recognized as expenses in determining surplus before tax:

 Staff costs 219,914,551 262,049,756

 Defined contribution plan cost - EPF and ETF 18,902,595 18,764,449

 Defined benefit plan cost - gratuity 854,741 4,810,077

 Depreciation and amortization 63,502,975 63,432,304

 Auditor’s remuneration 1,700,000 1,500,000

	 20.	 Related party transactions

	 20.1	T ransactions with key management personnel
		
		T  he Foundation considers its member of the Board of Management as key management personnel of the                         

Foundation. Compensation paid to key management personnel of the Foundation is as follows:
	
		  2021	 2022			 
		  Rs.	 Rs.	  
	
	 Short term benefits  	 -	 -
		
		   		   		
	 21.	 Commitments and Contingencies
			 
		T  here were no material capital commitments or contingencies as at the end of the reporting date which need to be 

adjusted or disclosed in the financial statements.
	
	 22.	 Litigations and claims	
			 
		T  he following cases were pending against the Foundation as at the reporting date:

		  23.1    CC/C/G/2/85/2021 - U. P. Yasaratne Vs. S. W. R. D. Bandaranaike National Memorial Foundation.

	 23.	 Events occurring after the reporting date

		T  here were no material events that occurred after the reporting date which require adjustments to or disclosures in 
the financial statements.

	 24.	 Other matters: Impact of COVID 19 pandemic	
		T  he outbreak of the COVID - 19 pandemic and the measures adopted by Government to mitigate the pandemic’s 

spread and economic stability have moderately impacted the Foundation.						    
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		  Foundation has evaluated the resilience of its businesses considering factors such as profitability, cash reserves, 

effective working capital management, strong net asset position and potential sources of financing facilities and 
negotiated financial liabilities with better terms and has adopted a control over the expenditure. Therefore the 
Foundation is confident that there are no material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on its ability to continue 
as going concern which arise due to the liquidity risk.

		F  urther, the Foundation has evaluated all guidelines issued by the Government as well as international best practices 
and the Foundation has developed health and safety guidelines to ensure suitable working arrangements and safe 
conditions for employees, customers and other stakeholders.

	25.	T he Board of Management’s responsibility on financial statements

		T  he Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with SLFRS for SMEs.

12-80

Miscellaneous Departmental Notices

National  Development  Bank  PLC

Notice of Nominating a New Auctioneer

At a Meeting of the Board of Directors of National 
Development Bank PLC (NDB) held on 25th October, 
2022, it was resolved that:

Whereas by a resolution dated 14th December, 
2021 Mr. I. W. Jayasuriya, Licensed Auctioneer was 
authorized by the Board of Directors of NDB to conduct 
the public auction in respect of property mortgaged 
as security by Nalaka Anura Kulathunga carrying on 
business in sole proprietorship under the name, style of 
Ishadi Motor Traders and Service Center under Recovery 
of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 
1990. (Recoveries Act).

Whereas after adopting the resolution by the Board 
of Directors of NDB on 14th December, 2021 the said  
Mr. I. W. Jaysuriya has expired on 16th September, 2022. As 
such, it became necessary to authorize another auctioneer  
to be appointed to conduct the auction under the Recoveries 
Act.

Whereas the Board of Directors of NDB appointed 
Mr. Nishantha Upul Jayasuriya, Licensed Auctioneer to 
conduct the auctions and to take necessary steps on the said 
Resolution dated 14th December, 2021 under Recoveries 
Act.

Save and except the above appointment, the contents 
of the resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
NDB dated 14th December, 2021 and published in the 

Government Gazette dated 29th April, 2022 and in the 
Newspapers dated 11th April, 2022 shall remain unchanged 
and in force, in fact and in law.

By order of the Board,

	 Secretary to the Board,
	 National Development Bank PLC.
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National  Development  Bank  PLC

Resolution Adopted by the Board of Directors 
of the National Development Bank PLC under 
Section 04 of the Recovery of Loans by Banks 

(Special Provisions)  
Act, No. 04 of 1990 as amended

At a meeting of the Board of Directors of the National 
Development Bank PLC held on 21st September, 2021 
the following Resolution was Specially and unanimously 
adopted :-

“Whereas Subasinghage Lalith Dinesh Kumara and 
Subasingha Pathiranage Nandawathi both of Nawadagala 
(Borrowers) have made default in the payment on the 
Loans/Facilities granted against the security of the property 
and premises morefully described in Part I, Part II and Part 
III in the schedule hereto mortgaged and hypothecated by 
Mortgage Bond No. 495 dated 28.02.2019 attested by (Ms.) 
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M. A. Madhubashinie of Galle Notary Public, Mortgage 
Bond No. 852 dated 22.10.2015 attested by (Ms.) K. A. 
A. M. R. Nathrarani Kulasekara of Galle Notary Public, 
Mortgage Bond No. 160 dated 11.03.2016 attested by (Ms) 
H. K. A. Maduwanthi Kumarai of Galle Notary Public, 
Mortgage Bond No. 317 dated 30.06.2017 attested by (Ms.) 
Anuradha Nallaperuma of Galle Notary Public in favour of 
National Development Bank PLC (Bank)

And Whereas Subasinghage Lalith Dinesh Kumara has 
mortgaged his freehold right title and interest to the Property 
and Premises described in Part I and Part II in the schedule 
below under the said Mortgage Bond Nos. 495 and 852 and 
Subasingha Pathiranage Nandawathi has mortgaged her 
freehold right title and interest to the Property and Premises 
described in Part III in the schedule below under the said 
Mortgage Bond Nos. 495, 160 and 317.

And whereas a sum of Fifteen Million Four Hundred and 
Forty Thousand Five Hundred and Fifty One Rupees and 
Thirty Seven Cents (Rs.15,440,551.37) has become due and 
owing on the said Bonds to the Bank as at 31st July 2021.

The Board of Directors of the Bank acting under the 
powers vested in them under the Recovery of Loans by 
Banks (Special Provisions) Act No. 04 of 1990 (Principal 
Act) as amended do hereby Resolve that the property and 
premises including the Freehold and other right title and 
interest to the Property and premises described in Part I, 
Part II and Part III in the schedule below mortgaged to the 
Bank as security for the said Loans/Facilities by the said 
Bonds be sold by Public auction by Mr. P. K. E. Senapathi 
Licensed Auctioneer for the recovery of the said sum of 
Fifteen Million Four Hundred and Forty Thousand Five 
Hundred and Fifty One Rupees and Thirty Seven Cents 
(Rs.15,440,551.37) or any portion thereof remaining unpaid 
at the time of sale and interest on the following amounts 
aggregating to Thirteen Million Seven Hundred and Eighty 
Six thousand Five Hundred and Ninety Three Rupees and 
Ninety Two Cents (Rs.13,786,593.92)

	 (i) 	On the amount of Eight Million Sixty Seven 
Thousand Three Hundred and Forty One Rupees and 
Ninety Five Cents (Rs.8,067,341.95) secured by the 
said Bond No. 495 due in the case of said Bond at the 
rate of Sixteen Decimal One Zero Percent (16.10%) 
per annum.

	 (ii)	 On the amount of Five Million Seven Hundred and 
Nineteen Thousand Two Hundred and Fifty One 
Rupees and Ninety Seven Cents (Rs.5,719,251.97) 
secured by the said Bond Nos. 160,317 and 852 due 
in the case of said Bonds at the rate of Thirty Percent 
(30%) per annum.

and all from 01st August 2021 to date of sale together 
with costs of advertising selling and other charges incurred 
in terms of Section 13 of the Principal Act less payments (if 
any) since received”.

The schedule 

Part I

All that divided and defined allotment of Land marked 
Lot 27A depicted in Plan No. 234D/2013 dated 10.12.2013 
made by G. G. L. Pathmasiri Licensed Surveyor of Lot 27 
of the land called Dickhena together with the soil, trees, 
plantations, everything else standing thereon situated in 
Diyapitagallana within the Grama Niladhari Division No. 
41F Diyapitagallana within the Divisional Secretariat 
Limits of Karandeniya and Pradeshiya Sabha Limits of 
Karandeniya in Wellaboda Pattu in the District of Galle, 
Southern Province which said Lot 27A, is bounded on the 
North by - Road (PS Road) and Part of Lot 27 in PPGa 1899, 
on the East : by Lots 26, 27 and 32 in PP Ga 1899, on the 
South by Lot 32 in PP Ga 1899, on the West : by Part of Lot 
27 in PP Ga 1899 and containing in extent One Acre (01A., 
0R., 0P) as per the said Plan No. 234D/2013 and registered 
in Volume/Folio LDO J 5/113 at the Elpitiya Land Registry.

Together with all and singular the immovable plant 
and machinery equipment fixtures fittings and services 
which are now or which may hereafter from time to time 
be affixed or permanently fastened to the said allotment 
of land more fully referred above including Electricity 
supply system together with the equipment, Water supply 
system equipment, Telecommunication equipment and Air 
conditioning equipment.

Part II

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked Lot 
A2 depicted in Plan No. 1937 dated 28.07.2008 made by 
Upali Akuretiya Licensed Surveyor of being a sub - division 
of the land called Lot A of Pashaulmanane together with 
the soil, trees, plantations everything else standing thereon 
situated in Madakumbura Village in Karandeniya within 
the Grama Niladhari Division of No. 41F Diyapitagallana 
within the Divisional Secretariat Limits of Karandeniya and 
Pradeshiya Sabha limits of Karandeniya in Wellaboda Pattu 
in the District of Galle, Southern Province which said Lot A2 
is bounded on the North : by Land claimed by Ilandardewa 
Sayaneris, on the East : by Road from Maha Edanda to 
Uragaha, on the South : by remaining portion of the same 
land, on the West : by land claimed by Kaluwahakuru 
Uangane and others containing in extent Ten decimal Two 
Five Perches (0A., 0R., 10.25P) as per the said Plan No. 
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1937 and registered in Volume/Folio J23/115 at the Elpitiya 
Land Registry.

Together with all and singular the immovable plant 
and machinery equipment fixtures fittings and services 
which are now or which may hereafter from time to time 
be affixed or permanently fastened to the said allotment 
of land morefully referred above including Electricity 
supply system together with the equipment, Water supply 
system equipment, Telecommunication equipment and Air 
conditioning equipment.

Part III

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked Lot 
43 depicted in Plans No. 36/2016 dated 19.02.2016 made by 
G. G. L. Pathmasiri Licensed Surveyor of the land called 
Nugetibukanda and Kurunduwattakele (morefully described 
as correctly Nugethaabukanda Kurunduwattakele in Grant 
No. Ga/P/10059, LL 33641 dated 10.03.1987) together with 
the soil, trees, plantations everything else standing thereon 
situated in Diyapitagallana within the Grama Niladhari 
Division No. 41-F Diyapitagallana within the Divisional 
Secreatariat Limits of Karandeniya and Pradeshiya Sabha 
Limits of Karandeniya in Wellaboda Pattu in the District of 
Galle, Southern Province which said Lot  43 is bounded on 
the North by : Lot 44 in PPga 1905, on the East by : Lot 50 
in PPGa 1905, on the South by : Lot 44 in PPGa 1905 and 
PS Road fro Magala to Atakohota, on the West : by Lots 42 
and 44 in PPGa 1905 and containing in extent One Acre and 
Thirty Four Decimal Eight Six Perches (01A., 0R., 34.86) 
as per the said plan No. 36/2016 and registered in Volume/
Folio LDO J 16/62 at the Elpitiya Land Registry.

Above said allotment is a resurvey of the following land ;

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked Lot 
43 depicted in Plan No. PPGa 1905 dated 26.07.1984 made 
by Surveyor General of the  land called Nugethaabukanda, 
Kurunduwattakele together with the soil, trees, plantations 
everything else standing thereon situated in Diyapitagallana 
within the Grama Niladari Division No. 41-F Diyapitagallana 
within the Divisional Secretariat Limits of Karandeniya and 
Pradeshiya Sabha Limits of Karandeniya in Wellaboda Pattu 
in the District of Galle, Southern Province which said Lot 43 
is bounded on the North by - Lot 44 in PPGa 1905, on the 
East : by Lot 50 in PPGa 1905, on the South : by Lot 44 in 
PPGa 1905 and VC Road, on the West : by Lots 42 and 44 
in PPGa 1905 and containing in extent One Acre and Thirty 
Four Decimal Eight Six Perches (01A., 0R., 34.86P) as per 
the said Plan No. 36/2016 and registered in Volume/Folio 
LDO 1/94 at the Elpitiya Land Registry.

Together with all and singular the immovable plant 
and machinery equipment fixtures fittings and services 
which are now or which may hereafter from time to time 
to be affixed or permanently fastened to the said allotment 
of land morefully referred above including Electricity 
supply system together with the equipment, water supply 
system equipment, Telecommunication equipment and Air 
conditioning equipment.

By order of the Board,

	 Secretary to the Board,
	 National Development Bank PLC.
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Amana Bank PLC (PB 3618 PQ)
akkaraipattu  branch

(Registered under Reference No. PB 3618 PQ a 
banking public company duly incorporated under 

the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007)

Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors 
of Amana Bank PLC under Section 04 of the 

Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) 
Act, No. 04 of 1990

It is hereby notified that under Section 8 of the Recovery 
of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 04 of 
1990 that at a meeting held on 18.06.2022 by the Board of 
Directors of Amana Bank PLC it was resolved specially and 
unanimously.

Whereas Adone Private limited as “Obligor” have 
made defualt in payments due on Primary Mortgage 
Bond No. 727 dated 03rd August, 2017 attested by A. 
R. Akthar, Notary Public of Ampara in favour of Amana 
Bank PLC bearing Registration No. PB 3618 PQ a 
company duly incorporated under the Companies Act No. 
07 of 2007 and having its registered office and principal 
place of business at No. 486 Galle Road, Colombo 03 in 
the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka and there 
is now due and owing to the Amana Bank PLC as at 30th 
April 2022 a sum of Rupees Twenty Million One Hundred 
and Twenty Three Thousand Two Hundred and Thirty 
Nine and Cents Twenty Five only (Rs.20,123,239.25) 
and a sum of Rupees Three Million Five Hundred and 
Nine Thousand One Hundred and Thirty Six and cents 
Thirty Six only (Rs. 3,509,136.36) and a sum of Rupees 
Six Hundred and Forty Six Thousand Two Hundred and 
Ninety and Cents Seventy Eight only (Rs. 646,290.78) 
and a sum of Rupees Five Million One Hundred and 
Ninety Six Thousand Two Hundred and Seventy  Seven 
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and Cents Sixty Four only (Rs.5,196,277.64) and a sum 
of Rupees One Hundred and Fifty Four Thousand Eight 
Hundred and Forty Five and Cents Seventy Eight Only 
(Rs.154,845.78) on the said Bond and the Board of 
Directors of Amana Bank PLC under the powers vested 
by the Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) 
Act, No. 04 of 1990, do hereby resolve that the properties 
morefully described in the Schedule hereto and mortgaged 
to said Amana Bank PLC by the said Mortgage Bond 
No. 727 to be Sold by Public Auction by Messrs. L. B. 
Senanayake Auctioneer and Courts Commissioner of  
No. 200, Hulftdorp Street, Colombo 12 for recovery of 
the said sum of Rupees Twenty Million One Hundred 
and Twenty  Three Thousand Two Hundred and Thirty 
Nine and Cents Twenty Five only (Rs.20,123,239.25) 
together with profit/makeup/rental/at the rate of 11.57% 
per annum from 01st May 2022 to date of sale together 
with costs of advertising any other costs and charges 
incurred less payments (if any) since received and a 
sum of Rupees Three Million Five Hundred and Nine 
Thousand One Hundred and Thirty Six and Cents Thirty 
Six only (Rs.3,509,136.36) together with profit./markup/
rental/at the rate of 11.57% per annum from 01st May 
2022 to date of sale together with costs of advertising any 
other costs and charges incurred less payments (if any) 
since received and a sum of Rupees Six Hundred and 
Forty Six Thousand Two Hundred and Ninety and Cents 
Seventy Eight only (Rs.646,290.78) together with costs 
of advertising any other costs and charges incurred less 
payments (if any) since received and a sum of Rupees 
Five Million One Hundred and Ninety Six Thousand Two 
Hundred and Seventy Seven and cents Sixty Four only 
(Rs.5,196,277.64) together with costs and advertising, 
any other costs and charges incurred less payments (if 
any) sinces received and a sum of Rupees One Hundred 
and Fifty Four Thousand Eight Hundred and Forty Five 
and cents Seventy Eight only (Rs.154,845.78) together 
with costs of advertising, any other costs and charges 
incurred less payments (if any) since received.

The Schedule 

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 33N2 being a divided portion of land marked 33N of 
the land called “Apothecariyawatte” Lot No. 33 in depicted  
Plan No. 1 together with building and everything else 
standing thereon bearing assessment No. 14 Inner fairline 
Road, situated at Kalubowila Grama Niladhari Division of 
Jayathilaka (GN. DIV 540B) and the Divisional Secretary’s 
Division of Dehiwala and within the Municipal Council 
Limits of Dehiwala Mount Lavinia in the Palle Pattu of 
Salpiti Korale in the District of Colombo in the Western 
Province and bounded on the North by Lot - 33K (Drain), 

on the South by inner Fairline Road on the East by Lot 330 
on the West by Lot 33NI Containing in extent Nine Decimal 
Seven Two Perches (0A., 0R., 9.72P) according to the said 
Plan No. 1872 and dated 29th November, 1954 made by  
I. W. W. Indatissa, Licensed Surveyor registered Volume 
Folio Dehi 80/82 at the Delkanda Land Registry.

Which said allotment of land marked Lot 33N2 depicted 
in Plan No. 1872 dated 29th November, 1954 made by I. 
W. W. Indatissa, Licensed Surveyor by a recent survey 
described as follows:

An allotment Land called “Apothecariyawatte” together 
with building and everything else standing thereon Plan No. 
503 dated 24th July, 2005 made by R. Nadesan, Licensed 
Surveyor marked Lot 4855 being a surveyor of the land 
depicted as Lot 33N2 in registered Plan No. 1 Dehiwala 
Registered in volume 32 folio 295 (Damaged) Volume 80 
Folio 81 (Last) bearing Assessment No. 14, Inner fairline 
Road, situated at Kalubowila Grama Niladhari Division of 
Jayathilaka (GN. Div. 540B) and the Divisional Secretary’s 
Division of Dehiwala and within the Municipal Council 
Limits of Dehiwala-Mount Lavinia in the Palle Pattu of 
Salpiti Korale in the District of Colombo in the Western 
Province and bounded on the North by Lot 33K (Drain), 
on the South by Inner Fairline Road, on the East by Lot 
330 (Assessement No. 12, Inner fairline Road), on the 
the West by Lot 33N1, (assessment No. 16, Inner fairline 
Road) Containing in extent Nine decimal Eight Six Perches  
(0A., 0R., 9.86P.) according to the said Plan No. 503.

Together with all that Road Reservation Twenty feet 
wide marked Lots B8 and B9 in the Plan No. 35 dated 07th 
August, 1935 made by B. Vellenhoven, Licensed Surveyor 
along the Southern boundary of the land and premises called 
“Apothecariyawatte” described above together with road 
reservation marked Lot 33P (in serial Plan No. 35, on the 
said land called “Apothecariyawatte” and which said Lot 
35P is bounded on the B9, on the North by Lot 33K, on the 
South by Lot B9, on the West by Lot 33G Containing in 
extent Six Perches (0A., 0R., 6P.) registered in Volume Folio 
76/42 at the Delkanda Land Registry.

It is also further resolved to authorise Mr. Rizah Ismail, 
Head of Remedial Management, Amana Bank PLC to sign 
the above Board Resolution at the time of publication.

By order of the Board of Directors,

	 Rizah Ismail,
	 Head - Remedial Management.
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national  development  bank  plc

Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors 
of the National Development Bank PLC under 
Section 4 of the Recovery of Loans by Banks 

(Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990 as amended

at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the National 
Development Bank PLC held on 21st September, 2021 
the following Resolution was specially and unanimously 
adopted:-

“Whereas Bamunu Arachchige Punya Chandana of 
Galle carrying on business in sole proprietorship under 
the name and style of “B. A. G. Traders” registered 
with the Registrar of Business Names under Certificate  
No. GA/1880 dated 11.08.1993 and having its principal 
place of business at Galle (Borrower) has made default 
in the payment on the Loans/facilities granted against the 
security of the property and premises morefully described 
in the Schedule hereto mortgaged and hypothecated by 
Mortgage Bond No. 1296 dated 09.04.2015 and Mortgage 
Bond No. 1536 dated 11.11.2016 both attested by (Ms) 
Bimali Kamalica Sooriyaarachchi of Galle, Notary 
Public and Mortgage Bond No. 357 dated 15.06.2017 
attested by (Ms.) H. K. Anusha Maduwanthi Kumari of 
Galle, Notary Public in favour of National Development 
Bank PLC (Bank).

And whereas the Borrower has mortgaged his freehold 
right title and interest to the Property and Premises 
described in the Schedule below under the said Mortgage 
Bond Nos. 1296, 1536 and 357.

And whereas a sum of Six Million Eight Hundred and 
Fifty-seven Thousand Fifty-four Rupees and Ninety-four 
cents (Rs. 6,857,054.94) has become due and owing on 
the said Bonds to the Bank as at 16th August, 2021.

The Board of Directors of the Bank acting under the 
powers vested in them under the Recovery of Loans by 
Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990 as amended 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as Principal Act) do 
hereby resolve that the Property and premises described 
in the Schedule below mortgaged to the Bank by the said 
Bond be sold by public auction by Mr. P. K. E. Senapathi, 
Licensed Auctioneer for the recovery of the said sum of 
Six Million Eight Hundred and Fifty-seven Thousand 
Fifty-four and Ninety-four cents (Rs. 6,857,054.94) or 
any portion thereof remaining unpaid at the time of sale 
and interest on the amount of Five Million Four Hundred 
and Seventy-eight Thousand Six Hundred and Twenty-

five Rupees and Twenty cents (Rs. 5,478,625.20) secured 
by the said Bond Nos. 1296, 1536 and 357 and due in the 
case of said Bond Nos. 1296, 1536 and 357 to the Bank 
at Thirty Percent (30%) per annum, all from 17th day of 
August, 2021 to the date of sale together with the cost of 
advertising selling and other charges incurred in terms of 
Section 13 of the Principal Act less any payments (if any) 
since received.”

The Schedule 

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot C depicted in Plan No. 133 dated 19.01.2003 made 
by S. A. Lokunarangoda, Licensed Surveyor being a Sub 
- division of Lot A 1a of Lot A of the contiguous land called 
“Lot 2, 3, 4, 5 of Madangahawatta alias Walagewatta alias 
Wallagewatta” “Lot A, B of Madangahawatta” “Lot A of Lot 
1, 2 of North portion of Madangahawatta” and “Lot B of 
North portion and Southern portion” together with the soil, 
trees, buildings and everything standing thereon situated 
at Dangedara North 97D Village within Dangedara Grama 
Niladari Division, Divisional Secretariat Division Four 
Gravets, Municipal Council Limits of Galle, Four Gravets 
of Galle, Galle District, Southern Province and which said 
Lot C is bounded on the North by Lot B, A10 and A1d of the 
same land, on the East by Lot A1l, A 1c and A1d of the same 
land, on the South by Southern half Portion of Lot A, on the 
West by Pokune Bode Watta and containing in extent within 
these boundaries One Rood Twenty-nine decimal Five 
Perches (0A., 1R., 29.5P.) as per Plan No. 133 and registered 
in Volume/Folio Q 112/82 at the Galle Land Registry.

Above said Lot C is a Sub - division of the following 
land:

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot A1a depicted in Plan No. 106 dated 10.02.2002 made 
by S. A. Lokunarangoda, Licensed Surveyor of Lot A of the 
contiguous land called “Lot 2, 3, 4, 5 of Madangahawatta 
alias Walagewatta alias Wallagewatta”, Lot A, B of 
Madangahawatta”, Lot A of Lot 1, 2 of North portion 
of Madangahawatta” and “Lot B of North portion and 
Southern Portion” together with the soil, trees, buildings 
and everything standing thereon situated at Dangedara 
Village, within Dangedara North - 97D Grama Niladari 
Division, Four Gravets Divisional Secretariat Division, 
Municipal Council Limits of Galle, Four Gravets of Galle, 
Galle District, Southern Province and which said Lot A1a is 
bounded on the North by Lot 1 of Madangahawatta alias 
Walagewatta, on the East by Lot A1b, A1c, A1d and A1e of the 
same land, on the South by Southern half portion of Lot A, 
on the West by Pokune Bode Watta and containing in extent 
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within these boundaries One Rood Thirty-nine decimal Five 
Perches (0A., 1R., 39.5P.) as per Plan No. 106 and registered 
in Volume/Folio A578/188 at the Galle Land Registry.

Together with the right of way and other rights over:

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot A 1d depicted in Plan No. 106 dated 10.02.2002 made 
by S. A. Lokunarangoda, Licensed Surveyor of Lot A of the 
contiguous land called “Lot 2, 3, 4, 5 of Madangahawatta 
alias Walagewatta alias Wallagewatta” Lot A, B of 
Madangahawatta” “Lot A of Lot 1, 2 of North portion of 
Madangahawatta” and “Lot B of North portion and Southern 
Portion” situated at Dangedara Village within Dangedara 
North-97D Grama Niladari Division, Divisional Secretariat 
Division of Four Gravets, Municipal Council Limits of 
Galle, Four Gravets of Galle, Galle District, Southern 
Province and which said Lot A1d is bounded on the North by 
Lot BA1c and A1d of the same land, on the East by Steel road, 
on the South by Lot A1a and A1c of the same land, on the West 
by Lot A1a of the same land and containing in extent within 
these boundaries Eleven decimal Three Perches (0A., 0R., 
11.3P.) as per Plan No. 106 and registered in Volume/Folio 
Q 112/83 at the Galle land Registry.

Together with all and singular the immovable plant 
and machinery equipment fixtures fittings and services 
which are now or which may hereafter from time to time 
be affixed or permanently fastened to the said allotment 
of land morefully refereed above including Electricity 
supply system together with the equipment, Water supply 
system equipment, Telecommunication equipment and Air 
conditioning equipment.

By Order of the Board,

	 Secretary to the Board,
	 National Development Bank PLC.

12-276

the dfcc bank  plc

Notice of Resolution passed by The DFCC Bank 
PLC under Section 4 of the Recovery of Loans by 

Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990

in terms of Section 8 of the Recovery of Loans by Banks 
(Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990 it is hereby notified 
that the following Resolution was unanimously passed on 

the 28th September, 2022 by the Board of Directors of 
DFCC Bank PLC.

Board Resolution

“Whereas Gamini Muhandiramlage and Wasala Mudali 
Muhandiramlage Kasun Kaushalya Muhandiram of Kandy 
have made default in payments due on Mortgage Bond No. 
4007 dated 23.09.2019 attested by C. P. Rajarathne, Notary 
Public in favour of the DFCC Bank PLC.

And whereas there is as at 30th April, 2022 due and owing 
from the said Gamini Muhandiramlage and Wasala Mudali 
Muhandiramlage Kasun Kaushalya Muhandiram to the 
DFCC Bank PLC on the aforesaid Mortgage Bond No. 4007 
a sum of Rupees Thirty-six Million Four Hundred and Eight 
Thousand Four Hundred and Eighteen and cents Thirty-one 
(Rs. 36,408,418.31) together with interest thereon from 01st 
May, 2022 to the date of sale on a sum of Rupees Twenty-
nine Million Six Hundred and Eight Thousand Four Hundred 
and Twenty-five and cents Eighty-one (Rs. 29,608,425.81) 
at an interest rate of Six Per centum (6%) per annum above 
the Average Weighted Prime Lending Rate (Variable Spot 
AWPR Quarter End), the dates of revision being the first 
business day in the months of January, April, July, and 
October each year and on a sum Rupees Six Million and 
Forty Thousand Six Hundred and Sixty-eight and cents 
Seven (Rs. 6,040,668.07) at an interest rate of Eight decimal 
Nine Three per centum (8.93%) per annum fixed.

And whereas the Board of Directors of the DFCC Bank 
PLC under the powers vested in them by the Recovery of 
Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990 do 
hereby resolve that the Land and Building described below 
mortgaged to DFCC Bank PLC by the aforesaid Mortgage 
Bond No. 4007 by Gamini Muhandiramlage be sold by 
Public Auction by P. K. E. Senapathi, Licensed Auctioneer 
for the recovery of the said sum of Rupees Thirty-six Million 
Four Hundred and Eight Thousand Four Hundred and 
Eighteen and cents Thirty-one (Rs. 36,408,418.31) together 
with interest thereon from 01st May, 2022 to the date of sale 
on a sum of Rupees Twenty-nine Million Six Hundred and 
Eight Thousand Four Hundred and Twenty-five and cents 
Eighty-one (Rs. 29,608,425.81) at an interest rate of Six 
per centum (6%) per annum above the Average Weighted 
Prime Lending Rate (Variable Spot AWPR Quarter End), the 
dates of revision being the first business day in the months 
of January, April, July and October each year and on a sum 
of Rupees Six Million and Forty Thousand Six Hundred and 
Sixty-eight and cents Seven (Rs. 6,040,668.07) at an interest 
rate of Eight decimal Nine Three per centum (8.93%) per 
annum fixed or any portion thereof remaining unpaid at the 
time of sale together with the cost of advertising and selling 
the said land and premises and all monies expended and 
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costs and other charges incurred by the DFCC Bank PLC 
in accordance with the covenants of the aforesaid Mortgage 
Bonds in terms of Section 13 of the Recovery of Loans by 
Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990.

description of the property mortgaged 
by mortgage bond no. 4007 

(1) All  that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 6 in Plan No. 2650 dated 04th January, 2016 made by 
P. Indrani Mallika, Licensed Surveyor from and out of all 
that land called “Mettapela” situated at Pitakanda within the 
Grama Niladhari Division of Pitakanda in the Divisional 
Secretariat Division of Gangawata Korale within the 
Municipal Council Limits of Kandy in the District of Kandy 
Central Province and which said Lot 6 in boundaries on the 
North by 10 feet wide road depicted on Lot 3 in said Plan 
No. 2650, East by Lot 7 in said Plan No. 2650, South by 
road to houses and on the West by Lot 5 in the said Plan No. 
2650 and containing in extent Ten Perches (0A., 0R., 10P.) 
or 0.0253 Hectares and together with trees, plantations and 
everything standing thereon.

Which said allotments of land is a part and parcel of the 
following land to wit:

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 3 in Plan No. 371A/2013 dated 18th December, 2013 
made by T. B. Attanayake, Licensed Surveyor from and out 
of all that land called “Mettapela” situated at George E De 
Silva Mawatha in Nuwara Dodamwela within the Grama 
Niladhari Division of Aniewatta West in the Divisional 
Secretariat Division of Gangawata Korale within the 
Municipal Council  Limits of Kandy in the District of Kandy 
Central Province and containing in extent Two Roods and 
Six decimal Seven One Five Perches (0A., 2R., 6.715P.) or 
0.2193 Hectares and bounded on the North by Ela, East by 
land belong to H. G. Hinni Appuhamy, South by Drain and 
Foot Path and on the West by 10 feet wide road depicted as 
Lot 4 together premises bearing Assessment No. 343/11 and 
everything standing thereon. Registered at the Kandy Land 
Registry.

 
(2) All that right of way in over and along all that divided 

and defined allotment of land marked Lot 2 (10 feet wide 
road) in Plan No. 371A/2013 dated 18th December, 2013 
made by T. B. Attanayake, Licensed Surveyor from and out 
of all that land called “Mettapela” situated at George E. De 
Silva Mawatha in Nuwara Dodamwela within the Grama 
Niladhari Division of Aniewatta West in the Divisional 
Secretariat Division of Gangawata Korale within the 
Municipal Council Limits of Kandy in the District of Kandy 
Central Province and containing in extent Naught decimal 

Eight Four Naught Perches (0A., 0R., 0.840P.) or 0.0021 
Hectares and bounded on the North by George E. De Silva 
Mawatha, East by Lot 1 and Ela, South by Lot 4 and on the 
West by land belongs to Wijesinghe and registered at the 
Kandy land Registry.

(3) All that right of way in over and along all that divided 
and defined allotment of land marked Lot 4 (10 feet wide 
road) in Plan No. 371A/2013 dated 18th December, 2013 
made by T. B. Attanayake, Licensed Surveyor from and out 
of all that land called “Mettapela” situated at George E. De 
Silva Mawatha in Nuwara Dodamwela within the Grama 
Niladhari Division of Aniewatta West in the Divisional 
Secretariat Division of Gangawata Korale within the 
Municipal Council Limits of Kandy in the District of Kandy 
Central Province and containing in extent Six decimal Three 
Nine Naught Perches (0A., 0R., 6.390P.) or 0.0161 Hectares 
and bounded on the North by Lot 2, East by Ela and Lot 
3, South by Lot 3 and on the West by Fernando’s land and 
presently Dediwala claimed by Martin and Registered at the 
Kandy Land Registry.

By Order of the Board,

	 Company Secretary,
	 DFCC Bank PLC.

12-207

the DFCC  bank  plc

Notice of Resolution passed by the DFCC Bank PLC 
under Section 4 of the Recovery of Loans by Banks 

(Special Provisions) Act No. 04 of 1990

In terms of Section 8 of the Recovery of Loans by Banks 
(Special Provisions) Act, No. 04 of 1990 it is hereby notified 
that the following Resolution was unanimously passed on 
the 28th September, 2022 by the Board of Directors of 
DFCC Bank PLC

Board Resolution

Whereas Lanka Focus (Private) Limited a Company duly 
incorporated in the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri 
Lanka under the Companies Act bearing Registration No. 
PV 74480 and having its registered office in Dummalasuriya 
(hereinafter referred to as the Company) has made defualt 
in payments due on Mortgage Bond No. 12839 dated 
31.03.2017, Mortgage Bond No. 10051 dated 05.11.2015, 
Mortgage Bond No. 13428 dated 19.07.2017 Mortgage 
Bond No. 20429 dated 29.07.2020 all attested by C. S. 
Wijesekara Notary Public in favour of the DFCC Bank PLC.
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And whereas there is as at 30th April 2022 due and 
owing from the said Lanka Focus (Private) Limited to 
the DFCC Bank PLC on the aforesaid Mortgage Bond 
Nos. 12839,10051,13428 and 20429 a sum of Rupees 
One Hundred Fifty Four Million One hundred Fifty One 
Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty and Cents Fourteen 
(Rs.154,151,730.14) together with interest thereon from 
01st May 2022 to the date of sale on a sum of Rupees Two 
Million Five Hundred Seventy One Thousand And Four 
Hundred Twenty Two (Rs.2,571,422) at an interest rate 
of Six Per Centum (6%) per Annum above the Weighted 
Avarage Prime Lending Rate (AWPR SPOT) which will 
be revised every month on the first business day of each 
month, on a sum of Rupees Nineteen Million Nine Hundred 
Ninety One Thousand and Eight Hundred Seventy Six 
(Rs.19,991,876) at an interest rate of Six Decimal Five per 
Centum (6.5%) per annum above the Weighted Average 
Prime Lending Rate (AWPR Spot) which will be revised 
every month on the first business day of each month on a 
sum of Rupees Sixteen Million Five Hundred Eighty Six 
Thousand and Two Hundred Twenty Seven and Cents 
Forty Five (Rs.16,586,227.45) at an interest rate of Three 
Per Centum (3%) per annum above the Weighted Average 
Prime Lending Rate (Awpr Spot) which will be revised 
every month on the first business day of each month, on a 
sum of Rupees Six Million Five Hundred Three, Thousand 
Eight Hundred Nineteen and Cents Ninety Seven (Rs. 
6,503,819.97) at an interest rate of Eight Decimal Nine Three 
Per Centum (8.93%) Per Annum on a sum of Rupees Sixteen 
Million Three Hundred Eleven thousand Five Hundred 
Forty One and Cents Ninety Five (Rs. 16.311,541.95) at an 
interest rate of Eight Decimal One One Per Centum (8.11%) 
per annum  and on a sum of Rupees Seventy Six Million 
Eight Hundred Thirty Four Thousand and Eight Hundred 
Thirty Four and Cents Forty Six (Rs.76,834,834.46) at an 
interest rate of Seven Per Centum (7%) per annum above 
the Weighted Average Prime Lending Rate (AWPR Spot) 
which will be revised every month.

And whereas the Board of Directors of the DFCC Bank 
PLC under the powers vested in them by the Recovery of 
Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act No. 04 of 1990 do 
hereby resolve that the Land and Building described below 
mortgaged to DFCC Bank PLC by the aforesaid Mortgage 
Bond Nos. 12,839,10051,13428 and 20429 by Abdul 
Hameed Mohammed Nazeer be sold by Public Auction by 
Thusith Karunaratne Licensed Auctioneer for the recovery 
of the said sum of Rupees one Hundred Fifty Four Million 
One Hundred Fifty One Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty 
and Cents Fourteen (Rs.154,151,730.14) together with 
interest thereon from 01st May, 2022 to the date of sale on 
a sum of Rupees Two Million Five Hundred Seventy One 
Thousand And Four Hundred Twenty two (Rs. 2,571,422) 

at an interest rate of Six per centum (6%) per annum above 
the Weighted Average Prime Lending Rate (AWPR SPOT) 
which will be revised every month on the first business day 
of each month, on a sum of Rupees Nineteen Million Nine 
Hundred Ninety one Thousand and Eight Hundred Seventy 
Six (Rs. 19,991,876) at an interest rate of Six decimal Five 
per centum (6.5%) per annum above the Weighted Average 
Prime Lending Rate (AWPR SPOT) which will be revised 
every month on the first business day of each month, on 
a sum of Rupees Sixteen Million Five Hundred Eighty 
six Thousand and Two Hundred Twenty seven and cents 
Forty five (Rs. 16,586,227.45) at an interest rate of Three 
per centum (3%) per annum above the Weighted Average 
Prime Lending Rate (AWPR SPOT) which will be revised 
every month on the first business day of each month, on a 
sum of Rupees Six Million Five Hundred Three Thousand 
Eight Hundred Nineteen and cents Ninety seven (Rs. 
6,503,819.97) at an interest rate of Eight decimal Nine Three 
per centum (8.93%) per annum, on a sum of Rupees Sixteen 
Million Three Hundred Eleven Thousand Five Hundred 
Forty one and cents Ninety five (Rs. 16,311,541.95) at an 
interest rate of Eight decimal One One per centum (8.11%) 
per annum and on a sum of Rupees Seventy six Million 
Eight Hundred Thirty four Thousand and Eight Hundred 
Thirty four and cents Forty six (Rs. 76,834,834.46) at an 
interest rate of Seven per centum (7%) per annum above 
the Weighted Average Prime Lending Rate (AWPR SPOT) 
which will be revised every month or any portion thereof 
remaining unpaid at the time of sale together with the cost 
of advertising and selling the said land and premises and all 
monies expended and costs and other charges incurred by 
the DFCC Bank PLC in accordance with the covenants of 
the aforesaid Mortgage Bonds in terms of Section 13 of the 
Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act No. 
04 of 1990.

Description of the Property Mortgaged by Mortgaged 
Bond No. 12839

All that divided and defined allotment of Land Marked 
Lot 01 depicted in Plan No. 4174 dated 15.07.2016 made 
by A. V. Liyanage Licensed Surveyor of the land called  
Kongahahena Now Watta situated at Yagamwela aforesaid 
within the Grama Niladhari Division of Yagamwela and the 
Divisional Secretary’s Division of Udubaddawa and which 
said Lot 01 is bounded on the North by Pradeshiya Sabha 
Road leading from Dummalasooriya to Yagamwela East by 
Lot 43 depicted in Plan No. FVP 2160 (TP 407316) South by 
road leading from main road to houses and Lot 43 depicted 
in Plan No. FVP 2160 (TP 407316) and West by Lot 41 in 
Plan No. FVP 2160 (TP 410739) and containing in extent 
One Acre Two Perches (01A., 0R., 02P) together with soil 
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trees plantation and everything standing thereon registered 
at Kuliyapitiya Land Registry. 

Which is a resurvey of the following land

All that divided and defined allotment of Land depicted 
in Plan No. 411281 of the land called Kongahahena, 
Now Watta situated at Yagamwela within the Grama 
Niladhari Division of Yagamwela and the Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Udubaddawa within the Pradeshiya 
Sabha limits of Udubaddawa in Yagampattu Korale of 
Katugampola Hathpattu within the land registration division 
of Kuliyapitiya in the District of Kurunegala North Western 
Province and which said land is bounded on the North by 
road reservation, East by land depicted in Plan No. 407316, 
South by land depicted in Plan No. 301678, West by land 
depicted in Plan No. 410739 and containing in exent One 
Acre Two Perches (A.01, R.0, P.02) together with soil, trees, 
plantation and everything standing thereon.

Description of the Property Mortgaged by Mortgage 
Bond No. 10051

1. All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 01 depicted in Plan No. 1177 dated 16.10.2015 made by 
J.A. Rohitha Jayalath Licensed Surveyor of the land called 
Kahatagamuluwatta situated at Yagamwela within the 
Grama Niladhari Division of Yaganwela and the Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Udubaddawa within the Pradeshiya 
Sabha limits of Udubaddawa in Yagampattu Korale of 
Katugampola Hathpattu within the land registration 
division of Kuliyapitiya in the District of Kurunegala North 
Western Province and which said Lot 01 is bounded on the 
North by Lot 02 depicted in Plan No. 2616, East by Lot 05 
depicted in Plan No. 2616 and Lot 2 depicted in Plan No. 
1408/2005, South by Pradeshiya Sabha Road Leading from 
Dummalasuriya to Ethungahakotuwa, West by Lot 02 in 
Plan No. 2616 and containing in extent Thirty Five Decimal 
Four Naught Perches (0A., 0R., 35.40P) together with soil 
trees, plantation and everything standing thereon.

The above land is formed by amalgamating following 
two lands.

(a) All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 01 depicted in Plan No. 1408/2005 dated 29.07.2005 
made by Irandatissa Kotambage Licensed Surveyor of the 
land called Kahatagahamulawatta situated at Yagamwela 
within the Grama  Niladhari Division of Yagamwela 
and the Divisional Secretary’s Division of Udubaddawa  
within the Pradeshiya Sabha Limits of Udubaddawa in 
Yagampattu Korale of Katugampola Hathpattu within the 
land registration division of Kuliyapitiya in the District of 

Kurunegala North Western Province and which said Lot 01 
is bounded on the North by Lot 02 depicted  in Plan No. 
2616, East by Lot 05 depicted in Plan No. 2616 and Lot 2 
depicted aforesaid Plan No. 1408/2005, South by Lots 2, 
3 and 4 depicted aforesaid Plan No. 1408/2005, West by 
Lot 02 in Plan No. 2616 and containing in extent Fifteen 
Decimal Six Perches (0A., 0R., 15.6P) together with soil 
trees, plantation and everything standing thereon registered 
at Kuliyapitiya Land Registry.

(b) All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 03 depicted in Plan No. 2616 dated 06.07.1999 made 
by H. B. Aberathna Licensed Surveyor of the land called 
Kahatagahamulawatta situated at Yaganwela within the 
Grama Niladhari Division of Yagamwela and the Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Udubaddawa within the Pradeshiya 
Sabha Limits of Udubaddawa in Yagampattu Korale of 
Katugampola Hathpattu within the land registration division 
of Kuliyapitiya in the District of Kurunegala North Western 
Province and which said Lot 03 is bounded on the North 
by Lot 02 and 04 depicted aforesaid plan, East by Lot 04 
depicted aforesaid Plan, South by Road, West by Lot 02 
depicted aforesaid Plan No. 2616 and containing in extent 
Nineteen Decimal Eight Zero Perches (0A., 0R., 19.80) 
together with soil trees plantation and everything standing 
thereon registered at Kuliyapitiya land registry.

According to the resurvey the above land depicted as Lot 
03 depicted in Plan No. 2616 is described as

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 01 depicted in Plan No. 1061 dated 09.04.2015 made by 
I. A. Rohitha Jayalath Licensed Surveyor of the land called 
Kahatagahamulawatta situated at Yaganwela aforesaid and 
which said Lot 01 bounded on North by Lots 02 and 04 
depicted in Plan No. 2616, East by Lot 04 depicted in Plan 
No. 2616, South by Road Leading from Dummalasooriya to, 
Etungahakotuwa Pradeshiya Sabha Road, West by Lot 02 in 
Plan No. 2616 and containing in extent Nineteen Decimal 
Eight Zero Perches( 0A., 0R., 19.80P) together with soil, 
trees, plantation and everything standing thereon.

2. All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 01 depicted in Plan No. 2616 dated 06.07.1999 
made by H. B. Aberathne Licensed Surveyor of the land 
called Kahatagahamulawatta situated at Yagamwela 
Garama Niladhari Division of Yagamwela and Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Udubaddawa within the Pradeshiya 
Sabha limits of Udubaddawa Yagampattu Korale of 
Katugampola Hathpattu within the land registration division 
of Kuliyapitiya in the District of Kurunegala North Western 
Province and which said Lot 01 is bounded on the North 
by land Lot J. A. R. Richard Peiris, East by Lot 02 depicted 
aforesaid Plan No. 2616, South by from Dummalasuriya to 
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Bowatta Main Road West by Road and containing in extent 
Twenty Two Perches (0A., 0R., 22P) together with soil, 
trees, plantation and everything standing thereon registered 
at Kuliyapitiya Land registry.

According to the resurvey the above land is described as 
follows :

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 01 depicted in Plan No. 1060 dated 09.04.2015 by                              
I. A. Rohitha Jayalath Licensed Surveyor of the land called 
Kahatagahamulawatta situated at Yagamwela aforesaid and 
which said Lot 01 bounded on North by Land of J. A. R. 
Richard Peiris, East by Lot 02 depicted in Plan No. 2616, 
South by form Dummalasuriya to Bowatta Main Road West 
by road and containing in extent Twenty two Perches (A.0, 
R.0, P.22) together with soil, trees, plantation and everything 
standing thereon.

Description of the Property Mortgaged 
by Mortgage Bond No. 13428 and 20429

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 05 depicted in Plan No. 1571 dated 25.10.1971 made 
by W. Ahangama Licensed Surveyor the land called 
Geekiyanagedara Estate situated at Ujekele, Welpotuwewa 
Geekiyanagedara Pahala Thalampola and Ihala Thalampola 
Villages within the Grama Niladhari Division of Thalampola 
and the Divisional Secretary's Division of Bingiriya within 
the Pradeshiya Sabha limits of Bingiriya in Baladara 
Korale of Devamedi Hatpattu and Kiniyama Korale of 
Katugampola Hatpattu within the land registration division 
of Kuliyapitiya in the District of Kurunegala North Western 
Province and which said Lot 05 is bounded on the North 
by road from Koswatta Kadigawa Road to Welpothuwewa 
and East by Andigedara Estate claimed by the heirs of the 
late H. L. de Mal and South by portion of Geekiyanagedara 
Estate claimed by L. C. Goonaratne and West by portion 
of Geekiyanagedara Estate claimed by L. C. Goonaratne 
and containing in extent Seventeen Acres Three Roods and 
Six Perches (A.17, R.03, P.06) together with soil, trees, 
plantation and everything standing thereon.

According to the resurvey the above land is described as 
follows :

All that divided and defined allotment of land depicted 
in Plan No. 5379 dated 03.07.2002 made by M. J. Gomez 
Licensed Surveyor the land called Geekiyanagedara Estate 
situated at Ujekele Welpotuwewa Geekiyanagedara Pahala 
Thalampola and Ihala Thalampola Villages foresaid and 
which said land is bounded on the North by Pradeshiya Sabha 
Road (Road leading  from Koswatta Kadigawa Road to 
Welpothuwewa) and East by State land Managed by Janatha 

hatton  national  bank  plc
batapola branch

Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Hatton National Bank PLC under Section 4 of the 
Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) 

Act, No. 04 of 1990

Beruwalage Kamal Nishantha 
Sole Proprietor -  B B Hardware.

at a meeting of the Board of Directors of Hatton National 
Bank PLC held on 27th October, 2022 it was resolved 
specially and unanimously:

Whereas Beruwalage Kamal Nishantha Sole Proprietor 
of B B Hardware as the obligor mortgaged and hypothecated 
property morefully described in the Schedule hereto by 
virtue of Mortgage Bond No. 2809 dated 22.07.2019 attested 
by N. P. Wickramarathne, Notary Public in favour of Hatton 
National Bank PLC as security for repayment of a Term 
Loan facility of Rs. 15,000,000.00 (Rupees Fifteen Million 
only) granted by Hatton National Bank PLC to Beruwalage 
Kamal Nishantha Sole Proprietor of B B Hardware.

And whereas the said Beruwalage Kamal Nishantha 
sole Proprietor of B B Hardware has made default in 
payment of the sums due to Hatton National Bank PLC 
on the said Term Loan facility and there is now due and 
owing to Hatton National Bank PLC, as at 21.08.2022 a 
sum of Rs. 13,672,253.70 (Rupees Thirteen Million Six 
Hundred and Seventy-two Thousand Two Hundred and 
Fifty-three and cents Seventy only) on the said Bond and 
the Board of Directors of Hatton National Bank PLC under 
the powers vested by the Recovery of Loans by Bank 
(Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990 as amended do 
hereby resolve to sell mortgaged property as described in 
the Schedule hereto and mortgaged to Hatton National Bank 

Estate Development Board and South by Land of K. U. 
Almeris Pradeshiya Sabha Road and State Land Managed by 
Janatha Estate Development Board and West by Pradeshiya 
Sabha Road and containing in extent Seventeen Acres Three 
Roods and Six Perches (17A., 03R, 06P) together with soil 
trees plantation and everything standing thereon.

By order of the Board,

	 Company Secretary,
	 DFCC Bank PLC.

12-208
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PLC by the said Bond No. 2809 be sold by public auction 
by J. W. E. Jayawardena, Licensed Auctioneer of all island 
for recovery of the said sum of Rs. 13,672,253.70 together 
with further interest at the rate of 12% p. a. from 22.08.2022 
on the capital outstanding of Rs. 13,125,000 to date of sale 
together with costs of advertising and other charges to be 
incurred less payments (if any) since received.

the schedule 

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
“Lot No. 6B of Mahawatta alias Magawatta” depicted in 
Plan No. 2173 dated 30.05.1987 made by D. G. Mendis, 
Licensed Surveyor, situated at Batapola within the Grama 
Niladari Division No. 75B Batapola Central, within the 
Pradeshiya Sabha Limits of Ambalangoda and Divisional 
Secretariat Division of Ambalangoda in the Wellaboda Pattu 
of Galle District Southern Province and which said Lot  
No. 6B is bounded on the,

North by Lot No. 6A of the same land; North east by Lot 
No. 7 of the same land; East by Lot No. 7 of the same land; 
South by Road and; South-west by Lot No. 5 of the same 
land and; West by Lot No. 5 of the same land.

Containing in extent Fifteen Perches (0A., 0R., 15.0P.) 
according to the aforesaid Plan No. 2173 together with the 
soil, Plantations and everything else standing thereon.

The aforesaid land according to a recent Plan of Survey 
is described as follows:

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
“Lot No. 1 depicted in Plan No. GA/9036 dated 31.12.2017 
made by T. B. S. Sangarandeniya, Licensed Surveyor of 
the Land called Mahawatta alias Magawatta” situated 
at Batapola within the Grama Niladari Division No. 75B 
Batapola Central, within the Pradeshiya Sabha Limits 
of Ambalangoda and Divisional Secretariat Division of 
Ambalangoda in the Wellaboda Pattu of Galle District 
Southern Province and which said Lot No. 1 is bounded on 
the,

North by Lot No. 6A of the same land, East by Lot No. 7 
of the same land, South by Road High Ways from Kahawa 
to Uduwila and West by Lot No. 5 of the same land.

Containing in extent Fifteen decimal Five Perches 
(0A., 0R., 15.50P.) or Zero Decimal Zero Three Nine Two 
Hectares (0.0392Ha.) together with the soil, Plantations and 
everything else standing thereon.

By order of the Board of Directors,

	 K. A. L. T. Ranaweera,
	 DGM (Legal)/Board Secretary.

12-267/1

hatton  national  bank  plc
ambalangoda branch

Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Hatton National Bank PLC under Section 4 of the 
Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) 

Act, No. 04 of 1990

Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage
Sole Proprietor of M/s B B Company.

at a meeting of the Board of Directors of Hatton National 
Bank PLC held on 27th October, 2022 it was resolved 
specially and unanimously:

Whereas Kinsley Prasantha Beruwalage carrying on business 
as a Sole Proprietor under name style and firm of M/s B 
B Company as the Obligor mortgaged and hypothecated 
property morefully described in the Schedule hereto by virtue 
of Mortgage Bond Nos. 2851 dated 19.09.2006 attested by 
Gamini David, Notary Public of Galle, 25 dated 31.01.2008 
attested by D. I. N. Thilakaratne, Notary Public of Colombo, 
3003 dated 25.09.2009 attested by Gamini David, Notary 
Public of Galle, 194 dated 23.12.2011 attested by D. I. 
N. Thilakaratne, Notary Public of Colombo, 458 dated 
27.03.2013, 810 dated 28.08.2014, 986 dated 09.03.2015, 
1171 dated 07.08.2015, 1887 dated 31.03.2017, 3039 dated 
17.03.2020 and 3145 dated 18.09.2020 all attested by N. P. 
Wickremarathne, Notary Public of Ambalangoda in favour 
of Hatton National Bank PLC as security for repayment of 
a Term Loan facility I of Rs. 60,000,000 granted by Hatton 
National Bank PLC to Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage and 
has made default the payment in a sum of Rs. 62,899,238.33 
(Rupees Sixty-two Million Eight Hundred and Ninety-nine 
Thousand Two Hundred and Thirty-eight and cents Thirty-
three only) as at 04th July, 2022.
 

Whereas Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage as the Obligor 
mortgaged and hypothecated property morefully described 
in the Schedule hereto by virtue of Mortgage Bond Nos. 
2851 dated 19.09.2006 attested by Gamini David, Notary 
Public of Galle, 25 dated 31.01.2008 attested by D. I. N. 
Thilakaratne, Notary Public of Colombo, 3003 dated 
25.09.2009 attested by Gamini David, Notary Public of 
Galle, 194 dated 23.12.2011 attested by D. I. N. Thilakaratne, 
Notary Public of Colombo, 458 dated 27.03.2013, 810 dated 
28.08.2014, 986 dated 09.03.2015, 1171 dated 07.08.2015, 
1887 dated 31.03.2017, 3039 dated 17.03.2020 and 3145 
dated 18.09.2020 all attested by N. P. Wickremarathne, 
Notary Public of Ambalangoda in favour of Hatton National 
Bank PLC as security for repayment of a Term Loan Facility 
II of Rs. 5,110,000 granted by Hatton National Bank PLC 
to Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage and has made default the 
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No. 1 of Hewagewatta, Lot No. 1 of Lot Nos. 2, 3 and 4 of 
Hewagewatta, Lot J of Lot Nos. 2, 3 and 4 of Hewagewatta, 
Lot K of Lot Nos. 2, 3 and 4 of Hewagewatta and Lot L 
of Lot Nos. 2, 3 and 4 of Hewagewatta together with soil 
trees buildings and everything else standing thereon and 
situated at Batapola in the Grama Niladhari Division No. 
75D, Batapola South in the Pradeshiya Sabha Limits and 
Divisional Secretariat Division of Ambalangoda in the 
Wellaboda Pattu of Galle in the District of Galle, Southern 
Province and which said Lot B is bounded on the.

North - East by Lot A of the same land; East by 
Rerservation for Road (Lot 0 divided out of Amalgamated 
Lot Nos. 2, 3 & 4 of Hewagewatta); South by Benwalalanga 
Kumbura and South-west by Nawahaulwatta alias 
Batapolawatta alias Meegahawatta and North - West by 
Kahawa - Batapola Main Road.

And Containing in extent Two Roods and Seventeen 
Perches (0A., 2R., 17.0P.) as per Plan No. 2526 dated 
12.07.1998 made by P. A. Rabin Chandrasiri Licensed 
Surveyor.

By order of the Board of Directors,

	 K. A. L. T. Ranaweera,
	 DGM (Legal)/Board Secretary.

12-267/2

payment in a sum of Rs. 5,284,009.39 (Rupees Five Million 
Two Hundred and Eighty-four Thousand and Nine and cents 
Thirty-nine only) as at 04th July, 2022.

Whereas Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage as the Obligor 
mortgaged and hypothecated property morefully described 
in the Schedule hereto by virtue of Mortgage Bond Nos. 
2851 dated 19.09.2006 attested by Gamini David, Notary 
Public of Galle, 25 dated 31.01.2008 attested by D. I. N. 
Thilakaratne, Notary Public of Colombo, 3003 dated 
25.09.2009 attested by Gamini David, Notary Public of 
Galle, 194 dated 23.12.2011 attested by D. I. N. Thilakaratne, 
Notary Public of Colombo, 458 dated 27.03.2013, 810 dated 
28.08.2014, 986 dated 09.03.2015, 1171 dated 07.08.2015, 
1887 dated 31.03.2017, 3039 dated 17.03.2020 and 3145 
dated 18.09.2020 all attested by N. P. Wickremarathne, 
Notary Public of Ambalangoda in favour of Hatton National 
Bank PLC as security for repayment of a Term Loan facility 
III of Rs. 8,795,000 granted by Hatton National Bank PLC 
to Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage and has made default the 
payment in a sum of Rs. 5,350,000 (Rupees Five Million 
Three Hundred and Fifty Thousand only) as at 04th July, 
2022.

And whereas the said Kingsley Prasantha Beruwalage 
has made default in payment of the sum due to Hatton 
National Bank PLC on the said Bonds and there is now due 
and owing to the Hatton National Bank PLC as at 04th July, 
2022 a sum of Rs. 62,899,238.33, Rs. 5,284,009.39 and Rs. 
5,350,000 totaling to Rs. 73,533,247.72 (Rupees Seventy-
three Million Five Hundred and Thirty-three Thousand 
Two Hundred and Forty-seven and cents Seventy-two only) 
on the said Bonds and the Board of Directors of Hatton 
National Bank PLC under the power vested by the Recovery 
of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 4 of 1990 
do hereby resolve to sell mortgaged property as described in 
the Schedule hereto and mortgaged to Hatton National Bank 
PLC by the said Bond Nos. 2851, 25, 3003, 194, 458, 810, 
986, 1171, 1887, 3039 and 3145 be sold by public auction 
by J. W. E. Jayawardena, Licensed Auctioneer of all island 
for recovery of the said sum of Rs. 62,899,238.33 together 
with further interest at the rate of AWPLR+3% p. a. on the 
capital outstanding of Rs. 60,000,000, Rs. 5,284,009.39 
together with further interest at the rate of AWPLR on the 
capital outstanding of Rs. 5,112,074.24 to date of sale and 
Rs. 5,350,000 together with costs of advertising and other 
charges to be incurred less payments (if any) since received.

the schedule above referred to 

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot B of the contiguous and amalgamated allotments of 
lands called 1A of Lot No. 1 of Hewagewatta Lot 1B of Lot 

hatton  national  bank  plc
Kalutara branch

Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of Hatton 
National Bank PLC under Section 4 of the Recovery of 
Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act, No. 04 of 1990

Focus Batteries Group of Companies (Private) Limited

at a meeting of the Board of Directors of Hatton National 
Bank PLC held on 27th October, 2022 it was resolved 
specially and unanimously:

Whereas Focus Batteries Group of Companies (Private) 
Limited as the Obligor  and Manampeli Mahapatabandi 
Ralalage Indupul Dhanuka Cooray Wanigarathna as the 
mortgagor mortgaged and hypothecated property by 
instrument of Mortgage No. TR277 dated 29.03.2018, 
attested by P. V. N. K. Perera, Notary Public of Colombo 
in favour of Hatton National Bank PLC as security for 
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repayment of the Term Loan granted by Hatton National 
Bank PLC to Focus Batteries Group of Companies 
(Private) Limited.

And whereas at the request of the said Manampeli 
Mahapatabandi Ralalage Indupul Dhanuka Cooray 
Wanigarathna is the virtual owner and person who is 
in control of the aforesaid Focus Batteries Group of 
Companies (Private) Limited in as much as aforesaid 
Manampeli Mahapatabandi Ralalage Indupul Dhanuka 
Cooray Wanigarathna as a Director of Focus Batteries 
Group of Companies (Private) Limited is in control and 
management of the said Company and accordingly, the 
aforesaid Manampeli Mahapatabandi Ralalage Indupul 
Dhanuka Cooray Wanigarathna is the actual beneficiary 
of the financial accommodation granted by the  Hatton 
National Bank PLC to Focus Batteries Group of 
Companies (Private) Limited.

And Whereas Focus Batteries Group of Companies 
(Private) Limited and Manampeli Mahapatabandi 
Ralalage Indupul Dhanuka Cooray Wanigarathna have 
made default in payment of the sum due to Hatton 
National Bank PLC and there is now due and owing 
to the Hatton National Bank PLC as at 11th January 
2022 a sum of Rs. 29,594,359.73 (Rupees Twenty 
Nine Million Five Hnudred and Ninety Four Thousand 
Three Hundred and Fifty Nine and Cents Seventy 
Three only) on the said instrument of Mortgage (TR 
277) dated 29.03.2018 and the Board of Directors of 
Hatton National Bank PLC under the power vested by 
the Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special provisions) 
Act No. 4 of 1990, do hereto and mortgaged to Hatton 
National Bank PLC by the said instrument of Mortgage 
(TR 277) dated 29.03.2018, and wheres subsequently the 
aforesaid allotments of Land Parcels bearing No. 150 
in Block No. 15 depicted in Cadastral Map 520210 was 
subdivided in to 09 allotments of land parcels bearing 
Nos. 151, 152, 153, 154, 155,156, 157, 158, 159, 160 
and out of which allotments of Land Parcels bearing 
Nos. 154, 155, 157, 158 & 159 have been released by 
the Cancellation of Mortgage. Whereas the allotments 
of Land Parcel bearing Nos. Lot 152, Lot 156 and Lot 
160 of the Title Certificates bearing Nos. 0042562628, 
00042562632 and 00042562636 respectively morefully 
described in the Schedule to be sold by L. B. Senanayake 
Licensed Auctioneer of Colombo for recovery of the said 
sum of Rs. 29,594,359.73 together with further interest 
at the rate of 9.67% p.a. on the capital outstanding of 
Rs. 23,600,000 from 11th January, 2022 to date of sale 
together with costs of advertising and other charges 
incurred less payments (if any) since received.

The Schedule above Referred to

1. All that divided and definded allotment of land parcel 
bearing No. 152 in Block No. 15 depicted in Cadastral Map 
No. 520210 situated at Lakshapathiya in Grama Niladari’s 
Division of Lakshapathiya South in the Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Moratuwa in the District of Colombo 
Western Province in the Democratic Socialist Republic of 
Sri Lanka and bounded

On the North by :De Mel Road;On the East by: Land 
Parcel bearing No. 36; On the Souh by : Land Parcel bearing 
No. 157; On the West by : Access to road to Parcel bearing 
No. 153

And containing in extent 0A. 0R. 06.40P and registered 
under Title Registration Act, No. 21 of 1998

2. All that divided and defined allotment of land Parcel 
bearing No. 156 in Block No. 15 depicted in Cadastral Map 
No. 520210 situated at Lakshapathiya in Grama Niladari’s 
Division of Lakshapathiya South in the Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Moratuwa in the District of Colombo 
Western Province in the Democratic Socialist Republic of 
Sri Lanka and bounded.

On the North by : Land Parcel bearing No. 155; On the 
East by : Access to road to Parcel bearing No. 153; On the 
South by : Land Parcel bearing No. 160; On the West by : 
Land Parcel bearing Nos. 43 & 52.

And containing in extent 0A : 0R: 07.04P. and registered 
under Title Registration Act, No. 21 of 1998.

3. All that divided and defined allotment of land Parcel 
bearing No. 160 in Block No. 15 depicted in Cadastral Map 
No. 520210 situated at Lakshapathiya in Grama Niladari’s 
Division of Lakshapathiya South in the Divisional 
Secretary’s Division of Moratuwa in the District of Colombo 
Western Province in the Democratic Socialist Republic of 
Sri Lanka and bounded

On the North by : Land Parcel bearing No. 156; On the 
East by	 : Access to road to Parcel bearing Nos. 153 & 159; 
On the South by	 : Land Parcel bearing Nos. 54 & 55; On 
the West by : Land Parcel bearing Nos. 52, 53 and 54.

And containing in extent 0A : 0R: 08.22p and registered 
under Title Registration Act No. 21 of 1998.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

	 K. A. L. T. Ranaweera,
	 DGM (Legal)/Board Secretary.

12-267/3
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Hatton National Bank PLC
Sooriyawewa branch

Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Hatton National Bank PLC under Section 4 of the 

Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special Provisions) Act 
No. 04 of 1990

S D S Constructions & Suppliers (Pvt) Ltd.

AT a meeting of the Board of Directors of Hatton National 
Bank PLC held on 27th October, 2022 it was resolved 
specially and unanimously.

Whereas S D S Constructions & Suppliers (Pvt.) 
Ltd as the Obligor and Pallewela Gamage Sayuru as 
the Mortgagor mortgaged and hypothecated property 
morefully described in the Schedule hereto by virtue of 
Mortgage Bond No. 16840 dated 16.11.2018 attested by 
H. A. Amarasena, Notary Public of Ambalantota, in favour 
of Hatton National Bank PLC as security for repayment 
of a Development Loan of Rs. 6,710,000 granted by 
Hatton National Bank PLC to S D S Constructions & 
Suppliers (Pvt.) LTD.

And whereas the said S D S Constructions & Suppliers 
(Pvt.) LTD has made default in payment of the sum due 
to Hatton National Bank PLC on the said Bonds and on 
the said Development Loan Facility of Rs. 6,710,000 
and there is now due and owing to Hatton National Bank 
PLC as at 01st August, 2022 a sum of Rs. 7,616,460.78 
(Rupees Seven Million Six Hundred and Sixteen 
Thousand Four Hundred and Sixty and Cents Seventy 
Eight only) on the said Bond and the Board of Directors 
of Hatton National Bank PLC under the power vested 
by the Recovery of Loans by Banks (Special provisions) 
Act, No. 4 of 1990 as amended do hereby resolve to 
sell mortgaged properties as described in the Schedule 
hereto and mortgaged to Hatton National Bank PLC 
by the said Bond No. 16840 be sold by public auction 
by J. W. E. Jayawardena Licensed Auctioneer of all 
island for recovery of the said sum of Rs. 7,616,460.78 
together with further interest at the rate of 14.5% p. a. 
on the capital outstanding of Rs. 6,116,874.40 to date of 

sale together with costs of advertising and other charges 
incurred less payments (if any) since received.

The Schedule above Referred to

All that divided and defined allotment of land marked 
Lot 3 depicted in Plan No. 3846 dated 10.07.1994 prepared 
by C. S. Jayawardena, Licensed Surveyor of the land called 
Palugahahena situated at Sooriyawewa in Grama Niladhari 
Division of Sooriyawewa within the Pradeshiya Sabha 
Limits of Sooriyawewa in Magam Pattu in Divisional 
Secretariat Division of Sooriyawewa of the District of 
Hambantota Southern Province and which said Lot 3 is 
bounded on the North by : Lots 1 and 2 of the said Plan 
No. 3846, East by Lot 6258, South by Lot 6195, West by 
Lot 6193 and containing in extent Fifteen Decimal Naught 
Two Perches (0A., 0R., 15.02P.) and together with the 
buildings Plantations and everything else standing thereon 
and registered in Volume/Folio J 03/47 at the Land Registry 
Hambantota.

The above land has been described in the recent Plan of 
Survey as follows :

All that allotment of land marked Lot 3A depicted in Plan 
No. 7060 dated 15.08.2018 prepared by L. K. Gunasekara 
Licensed Surveyor of the land called Palugahahena 
situated at Sooriyawewa in Grama Niladhari Division 
of Sooriyawewa within the Pradeshiya Sabha Limits of 
Sooriyawewa in Magam Pattu in Divisional Secretariat 
Division of Sooriyawewa of the District of Hambantota 
Southern Province and which said Lot 3A is bounded on the 
North by Lots 1 and 2 in Plan No. 3846, East by Pradeshiya 
Sabha Road, South by Lot 6195 in F T P 4, West by Lot 
6193 in F T P 4 and containing in extent Fifteen Decimal 
Naught Two Perches (0A. 0R. 15.02P.) alias 0.0380 Hectare 
and together with the buildings Plantations and everything 
else standing thereon.

By Order of the Board of Directors.

	 K. A. L. T. Ranaweera,
	 DGM (Legal)/Board Secretary.

12-267/4
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